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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (THE “BOARD”)
Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wang Xihua

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William

Mr. Liao Zhe

Independent Non-executive Directors
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. Wong Kui Tong

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES
Mr. Chan Yan Tak
Mr. Wong Kui Tong

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman)
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon

NOMINATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman)
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Leung Man Loon

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman)
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR
Elite Partners CPA Limited
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
Hang Seng Bank Limited

Chong Hing Bank Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

THE CAYMAN ISLANDS PRINCIPAL SHARE
REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER OFFICE

SMP Partners (Cayman) Limited

Royal Bank House — 3rd Floor,

24 Shedden Road

P.O. Box 1586

Grand Cayman KY1-1110, Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman

KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower,

148 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER AGENT

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 22, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

STOCK CODE
932

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

www.shunten.com.hk

(the contents of which do not form part of this report)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
$4 755 Ik 22

HIGHLIGHTS RS
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=T—HILEE
2018 2017
S SR LA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Operations E 2o
Revenue g 264,451 220,853
Gross profit Ecvi 181,148 157,121
EBITDA (Note 1) EBITDA (fff5¥1) (120,430) 21,192
Adjusted EBITDA (Note 2) KIHEEBITDA (Bff5:2) (8,639) 21,192
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: DU AR REAR AR A (s 48), He A
Owners of the Company N/NEIE: XN (139,217) 12,746
Non-controlling interests FEHe Bt (5,531) (923)
(144,748) 11,823
(Restated)
(% 5)
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to EN/NGIE: ZEPN AR RTive
owners of the Company (548 B A
(expressed in HK cents) (Note 3) (AL (BFF5E3)
Basic HA (6.6) 0.6
Diluted T (6.6) 0.6
Notes: F5E
1. EBITDA represents (loss)/earnings before finance costs, taxation, depreciation and 1. EBITDA#G fUBR Al & A ~ BUIH ~ 785 KR8 i (5
amortisation. 18) B -
2. Adjusted EBITDA represents EBITDA before (i) equity-settled share-based payments of 2. A HEEBITD ATE 11BR (1) LA A4S AR 0y S0 5 2 B

approximately HK$29.3 million (2017: Nil); (ii) one-off transaction costs arising from the
issuance of convertible bonds of HK$15.0 million (2017: Nil); (iii) fair value change of
contingent consideration payables of HK$9.3 million (2017: Nil); (iv) fair value change
of promissory notes payable of HK$0.4 million (2017: Nil); and (v) fair value change of
convertible bonds of HK$57.8 million (2017: Nil).

3. The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of calculating the (loss)/
earnings per share for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 have been adjusted for the

effect of the Company’s share subdivision which became effective on 5 December 2017.

£ #929,300,0009 50 ( —F—-LAF ) 5 (i) AT IR
A %5 2 — WM 38 5 LA 15,000,000 76 (% — L
A 4E) 5 () SR IE A A0 2 A SF-{E 52 859,300,000
WIn (T —HAF ) 5 v)EADR LI A A
B 81400,0008 70 ( —F—-L4E © ME) 5 K(v) Al i
F 2 NS 57,800,00086 70 (& —LAF © E) 2

fil Z EBITDA

3. MR ERE R —LER R = = —
H kAR BE A A (R 1R 280 1 10 5 288 M i T35 3L
CAA R R —F B4+ 2 A T H A A IF

A5 BUEAT I o

As at 31 March

W=A=+—H
2018 2017
R )4 e s
HK$°000 HK$°000
T THETT

Financial position BB AR

Total assets G AR 769,778 266,084
Shareholders’ equity JRAHE 7 114,791 212,044
Net assets value per share (HKS$) B G v (s ) 0.05 0.10%

ko After adjustment of Share Subdivision
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS
i *&ﬁ% Hgﬁ*’l’

SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size

As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2018:
e Shares outstanding 2,123,002,150 shares
*  Market capitalisation HK$2,441,452,473
*  Closing share price HK$1.15

KEY DATES

e Latest time for lodging transfer documents for
registration in order to qualify for attending
and voting at 2018 annual general meeting

4,000 shares

4:30 pm, 3 September 2018

*  Closure of register for 2018 annual general
meeting

4 —7 September 2018

e 2018 annual general meeting 7 September 2018

INVESTOR RELATION CONTACT

Address Unit A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 3700 7300

Fax : (852) 3700 7301

E-mail ir@shunten.com.hk

Website www.shunten.com.hk

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of name
or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in writing to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax 1 (852) 2810 8185
E-mail is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website http://www tricoris.com

Ji% 1y & B
HE A 4,000/
RBEE-Z— /\F=H=+—HILMBFEERELSH :

o EEATIREK 2,123,002,150/1%
. A 2,441,452,4735C
o YiiifE 1.15 #t
HEAM
o THEBRHE ZZ— \NFREE “E-)\ELAZH
KEWHE - BRE M2 T4 130 7
kAW
o BITEVERGREE KRG TE—NE
PR HAMHELH
o TR NERHEFKE “F—)\ESLALA
&ﬁ%%%%ﬂ
ik FilsTraE 14898
B ERE12MAE
TE (852) 3700 7300
[N (852) 3700 7301
EEH ir@shunten.com.hk
g4k www.shunten.com.hk
JB 3R A )

ilﬂ T 3 P £ ‘ﬁ&ﬁﬁ‘ﬁ] 191 G

~ L B OB L~ R RRR - FER
IEI!ID"F :
FUEB AR AT
251 R
25 RAE A 1835%
ARIFL22
it (852) 2980 1333
HH (852) 2810 8185
Gogi is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
484k http://www.tricoris.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
B8

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as “RM Group Holdings
Limited”) (the “Company”), together with its subsidiaries, (the “Group”), I would
like to announce the annual results of the Group for the financial year ended 31
March 2018 (“FY2017/18”).

The Group is principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan, as well as the provision of online advertising agency business,
online payment business, e-commerce promotion business and game distribution
business. Taking into account the best interests of the Group and the shareholders
as a whole, the Group changed the English name of the Company from “RM Group
Holdings Limited” to “Shunten International (Holdings) Limited” and replaced
D i A R B T wiith LR IR PR (FE RO A PR T as the dual
foreign name in Chinese of the Company on 1 February 2018. We believe that the
change of company name will better reflect the Group’s diversified development
extended from health and beauty supplements and products, along with the fact
that it is no longer engaged in one single line of health and beauty supplements and
products business. Such change of company name can promote and strengthen the

Company’s corporate image while embracing the new era.

PERFORMANCE FOR THE YEAR

The total revenue of the Group for FY2017/18 reached HK$264.5 million,
representing an increase of 19.7% over the previous financial year ended 31 March
2017 (“FY2016/17”). In addition to a turnover of HK$250.8 million generated
from the core health and beauty supplements and products business, the Group
recorded a turnover of HK$13.7 million generated from the newly acquired online
advertising business, online payment business and other businesses during the
year. The net profits attributable to owners of the Company decreased from profit
of HK$12.7 million in FY2016/17 to a loss of approximately HK$139.2 million
for the year. This was attributable to the ongoing development of business, under
which the Group’s new acquisition brought a substantial increase in one-off legal
and professional fees, while the newly acquired business during the year was still
at running-in period and incurred temporary losses; the net fair value loss and
transaction costs on convertible bonds issued during the year; and the expenses of

equity-settled share-based payments of share options granted during the year.

The Group’s overall gross profit margin for FY2017/18 decreased by 2.6% to
68.5% (2017: 71.1%). The gross profit margin would have remained at the same
level (approximately 70.8%) if the amortisation amount of intangible assets of
HK$6.0 million arising from the acquisition of online advertising agency business

and e-commerce promotion business were excluded.

6 Annual Report 2017/2018 4§k

BB

AN A G 120 % () A RN W) (R [
B SR M PE A BRA A L) (TARAF ) > B
A (GAE [ ARLH ) WES ([HF]) G ([#F
HEl) o m BN EMRAERRE _F - F=
HZ4—H IR BUF (T =% —b— )\ B4
BE 1) B A AE SRR o

AW EEARE - PR LB R - i
JEE ~ B By B OR A L R 35 A4 i B 2
A PR AR R AR - AR LA BT
TR 41 JE S0 I BB AT 26755 o IS5 AR AR B
A R AR A - R = F— N —H >
ARALE T A A B A R B [RM Group Holdings
Limited /¥ 2% % [ Shunten International (Holdings)
Limited ] » Sif A [ U B B¢ (422 1B0) A FR A 7 J B
£ 100 8 2 4 T 42 PR A B ) B AR ) 22 v S
AN o FAMAR(E BT 2 ) 44 R R G b
WA A2 [ R (R i 2 35 25 4l i S L T R 2 25T
BERE » HORFEAE 3 B — (R e T 8 25l i S8 i 3
W o T HERE KT A R FEIR S - A AT
e

AERE R B
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264,500,000 70 » B E _—F—LF=H =+—
H 1k JG TR B ([ B — N — LI B4R B )
HENN19.7% o BRAZ PR B 35 78 4l iy T8 i 26055
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TG o WY A SETS A BRI o AN AR A BT
JEE AR — UM T RN B2 T ORI BN - T A
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RAE 5 WA 5 RO AR INFZ 2 WEIROHE 2 D) R RE 45
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

PROSPECTS

While facing a market full of challenges in 2017, the Group were still able to

strengthen our position as a leading market player and developed our business
steadily. Looking forward, apart from continuing to develop our existing health
and beauty supplements business and consolidating our position as a market
leader, we will also adopt more aggressive strategies to strengthen our shares in
business sectors such as the online payment services, online advertising agency,
e-commerce promotion platform and game distribution platform (including online
and offline). We will also develop more diversified information, expand both
promotion and sales platforms and tap into new markets. Through collaboration
with more business partners, we will enrich different income sources and establish
access to and expand global business opportunities, with a view to establish and

consolidate our long-term competitiveness in the “Internet Plus” retail sector.

In preparation for the new era and new opportunities in this ever-changing market,
we will continue to leverage on our innovative products and services with an aim
to develop the Internet Plus retail sector that is closely knitted with the ecological
chain of consumers, communities and people’s living, so as to make life more
convenient and pleasant. Meanwhile, as our honourable mission, the Group will
participate in philanthropic causes proactively and strive to undertake corporate

social responsibility.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Employees are the prime assets for corporate growth. On behalf of the Board, 1
would like to thank our employees and the management team for their dedication
to excellence in performing their work diligently, strong teamwork and valuable
contributions. I would also like to thank our shareholders and stakeholders for their

unwavering trust and steadfast support.
By order of the Board

Chan Yan Tak
Chairman
Hong Kong

27 June 2018
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i L0 T

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong
Kong, the PRC and Taiwan and the newly acquired online businesses during the
year. Due to dynamic and keen competitive business environment of the retail
sector in Hong Kong over the last two years, in order to maintain sustainable
development, the Group actively expanded the sales and marketing channels of
products, which increase the market share and enlarge existing core business. For
the purpose of continuous business development and strengthening our “Internet
Plus” connectivity strategy, the Group innovatively promoted interaction among
merchants, customers and consumers through proactive mergers and acquisitions,
business consolidation and restructuring over the past year. In April 2017, the
Group entered the Hong Kong and PRC online information and advertising
business by participating in the operation of gd.qq.com in Hong Kong through its
subsidiary, Tenfok Asia. Furthermore, the Group has commenced operation of its
WeChat cross-border payment business through the acquisition of N Dimension
Limited (“N Dimension”) in September 2017. The Group believes that apart from
the positive impact on the Company’s future financial performance, the aforesaid

new business will also bring new opportunities to the Group.

The Group recorded a revenue of approximately HK$264.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$220.9 million), representing an increase of
approximately HK$43.6 million or 19.7% over the corresponding period of last
year. In addition to the core health and beauty supplements and products business
with a turnover of HK$250.8 million, the Group has recorded a turnover of
HK$13.7 million from the newly acquired online advertising agency business,

online payment businesses and other businesses during the year.

The gross profit margin of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018 was
approximately 68.5% (2017: 71.1%), representing a decrease of approximately
2.6% over the corresponding period of last year. If excluding the amount of
HKS$6.0 million in relation to the amortization of intangible assets arising from
acquisition of online advertising agency business and e-commerce promotion
business, the gross profit margin was maintained at the same level of approximately
70.8%.

Owing to the continuous business development, the Group has incurred a
significant increase in one-off legal and professional fees mainly in relation to the
newly acquired businesses during the year, which are still at running-in period and
incurred temporary losses. Together with the net fair value loss and transaction
costs on convertible bonds issued during the year, and the expenses of equity-
settled share-based payment for share options granted during the year, the Group
incurred a loss attributable to owners of the Company of approximately HK$139.2
million for the year ended 31 March 2018 as compared to the profit of HK$12.7

million of the same period in 2017.

8 Annual Report 2017/2018 4§k
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment
Revenue of Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment
As at 31 March 2018, the Group sold and distributed 33 (2017: 38) health
supplements and 8 (2017: 9) beauty supplements and products under its proprietary
brands; 53 (2017: 49) health supplements and 1 (2017: 6) beauty supplement and
product under the distribution facilitator’s private label brands; and 14 (2017: 20)

health supplements under trading of goods.

The following table sets forth the breakdown of revenue by product categories for
the two years ended 31 March 2018:

o BELJE W g L T

PR A B2 36 25l fh B i 43

TR 16 JE FE 257l i T i i 57 B W s
MoF— /) FZH=+—H » REBEE 58
33 (R — AR 385K BLA i MR 12 2 i e 83Kk
(ZF L4 - 95K T A SR SE 254 o B 5 53
AR 4930 o S5 B Z 5 LA (g
FE i B3 (2 —LAF 630 48R A K
il S5 A o S A K14k (T F B4 0 2000
TR R P R L

TREFIEE —F - /EZ = HIRwE 4
JRE i FEE U R 23 R Wi 2 WA

For the year ended 31 March
BEZA=Z1T—HILEE

2018 2017
—F )\ 4 SE LA
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HK$’000 revenue
Al BB A A5 A 2
T#e [Epidid THT AT
Categories LS|
Health supplements LR AR i 213,658 85.2% 179,844 81.4%
Beauty supplements and products S B E 28,371 11.3% 26,481 12.0%
Others HoAth 8,768 3.5% 14,528 6.6%
Total HEE 250,797 100.0% 220,853 100.0%

The Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment recorded a revenue
of approximately HK$250.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017:
HK$220.9 million), representing an increase of approximately HK$29.9 million or
13.5% over the last year.

The overall increase in revenue was due to an increase in sales of health
supplements, of which HK$17.3 million was resulted from the expansion of the
product variety of private label health supplements, which was further promoted by
the engagement of a brand ambassador in Hong Kong. Benefited from increased
utilisation of digital marketing platform and building product popularity within
the health supplement market, the revenue attributable to health supplements
increased by approximately HK$33.9 million or 18.9% to HK$213.7 million
(2017: HK$179.8 million).

WE-F - /FEZHA=+—HILFE  REKLE
At B i 43 0 R WA AR 2 0 429,900,000 95 7T
F £9250,800,0009 70 ( = —-L4F 220,900,000
WoT) o A LIS IR13.5% ©

WA B T e 7 OR (B B o
17,300,000 5 7 J U5 7 F 58 f L OR (8 28 5 1Y
s 5T R A ST % L TR B Kl A A s o —
e B R R - 158 P B BT B
B {8 D 56 8 m e e R fe 7 i T 4 T E N 4
BE o PR EE i I A 0 2% 15 0 £933,900,000 5 T %
213,700,000 # JC ( — % — L 4F : 179,800,000 #5
JG) > HIR18.9% -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JF /& B B (35 5% ) 4 PR 23 % 9



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i L0 T

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group’s top 4 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed to
approximately HK$90.0 million or 34.0% of the Group’s total revenue.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group’s top 4 best-selling products were
Royal Medic No.1 Chinese Cs-4, RM Broken Ganoderma Spore, Melty Enzyme
and Health Proof Junior Milk CA+DHA PF, which in aggregate contributed to
approximately HK$78.6 million or 35.6% of the Group’s total revenue.

Revenue by sales and distribution channels

The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Health and Beauty
Supplements and Products segment’s revenue by distribution channels for the two
years ended 31 March 2018:

BE-E - NE=ZA=+—HILEE  REBD
DU G B8 2 o TR 2 A 5 A 5 R T A Cs-4 o~
B B RE G TR M I R R R L 9 A
WhE5 > T VY W 8 EE L A LA AR 4 AR A A
90,000,000 7G5%34.0% °

BE-E—-ELFE=A=+—HILFEE  REED
7S] AWy 5 i o ) 0 o B A 8 B T AR B Cs-4 - )
B B RE G TR T I R R R L R A
W E5 > T VY WG 8 2 A LA AR 4 AR A A
78,600,000 765%35.6% °

Wik (126 B R 4t B R AE #1 5)
NREIEE T NEZA = H R m A
JBE 52 19 2 2 ) 7 AR A % 5 24 i B it 2 MR
E B T

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZHZ=A—HIEGE

2018 2017
)\ ZE LA
% of total % of total
HK$°000 revenue HKS$ 000 revenue
(L e
T HArk T HAal
Shelves in the distribution A B ACHEE Gl 1
facilitator’s stores e 134,017 53.4% 125,419 56.8%
SDCs located in the distribution T BEACERTE 4 09
facilitator’s stores 5 RIS AL 90,663 36.2% 68,095 30.8%
Other distribution channels (Note 1) oAt 2 B A (i 5E1) 9,291 3.7% 16,140 7.3%
Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo T T e 15,608 6.2% 10,131 4.6%
Others (Note 2) ot (B 3E2) 1,218 0.5% 1,068 0.5%
Total HEk 250,797 100.0% 220,853 100.0%
Note 1: “Other distribution channels” includes a distribution facilitator in Taiwan and the PRC, the BEGEL = [ HAh /BRI | AL G & 8 K B 2 A S A -
Wisdom Club, wholesalers, and Royal Medic Chinese Medicine Clinics. BER G HUEERE S EE s ch ey o
Note 2: “Others” mainly represents service income. Fiak2 © [ HAl ) EZ L IRB A -
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As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 18 (2017: 17) Royal Medic SDCs and 30
(2017: 20) Health Proof SDCs in the distribution facilitator’s stores in Hong Kong.

Revenue by geographical locations

Over 99.0% of the existing revenue for the two years ended 31 March 2018 was
contributed by the Hong Kong market, with very limited contribution from both the
PRC and Taiwan markets.

Owing to the economic slowdown in Taiwan, the operations of the health and
beauty supplements business line in Taiwan was experiencing challenge in the past
few years. The Group tried different approaches to improve its performance but
was still not satisfactory and sustained losses. The Company is of the view that
the resources of the Group could be better allocated for other existing or potential

businesses and decided to close down the operation in Taiwan during the year.

It is estimated that an one-off expense of approximately HK$1.3 million will be
incurred as a result of the cessation of business in Taiwan and there will be no

material adverse impact on the financial and operational position of the Group.

W oE—EZA =+ —H > AL
B 7 T B O R 18R (B4 17 il 22
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3 A A R T AE BRI T T PR o AR Bl
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o PR W i L0 T

Results of Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment
The following table sets forth the breakdown of the Health and Beauty
Supplements and Products segment’s gross profit and gross profit margin by

operating segments for the two years ended 31 March 2018:

1R Je FE2 1 by B 7 i A1 B SR AR

TREFIBE -F - NE=ZA = HIEmEE

JBE 82 5688 4 TR ) G AR A B SR AR i B

H BRI AT

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZHZ=A—HIEGE

iR

2018
)\ T
HK$°000 % HK$°000 %
T [Epidid T A4
Health supplements PR A iy

Proprietary brands B 80,269 75.4% 76,308 74.9%
Private label brands EES) 65,529 83.3% 51,328 83.7%
Trading of goods HmEE 11,679 40.9 % 7,428 44.6%
157,477 73.7 % 135,064 75.1%

Beauty supplements and products LA S
Proprietary brands HUA AR 17,533 61.9% 18,425 70.2%
Private label brands EELTT 26 74.3% 106 48.4%
17,559 61.9% 18,531 70.0%
Others HoAth 740 8.4% 3,526 24.3%
Total sy 175,776 70.1% 157,121 71.1%

Owing to the increase in the segment turnover, the gross profit of the Health and

Beauty Supplements and Products segment for the year ended 31 March 2018

was approximately HK$175.8 million (2017: HK$157.1 million), representing an

increase of approximately 11.9% over last year. The gross profit margin of the

Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment for the year ended 31 March

2018 was marginally decreased to approximately 70.1% (2017: 71.1%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The segment’s selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$5.7 million or 13.0% to HK$49.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2018
(2017: HK$43.9 million). The selling and distribution expenses increased in
line with the increase in segment turnover during the year. The said increase in
expenses was also due to additional resources that has been employed by the Group
to conduct digital marketing through bloggers and KOLs (key opinion leaders) in
addition to the traditional marketing media, so as to boarden the customer base. The
administrative expenses of this segment also increased primarily due to the inflated
rental expenses of special designated counter and increase in headcounts. The
segment’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$12.9 million
or 15.6% to HK$95.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$82.7

million).

As a result, the segment profits decreased slightly by HK$0.1 million to
approximately HK$30.5 million, representing a decrease of approximately 0.3%
over last year (2017: HK$30.6 million).

Online Advertising Agency segment

The Group introduced a new operating segment of online advertising agency
business following the successful completion of the acquisition of Star Root
Limited on 13 April 2017. The management considers that such acquisition will
enable the Group to partner with and access to online information platform in
Hong Kong and the PRC, which expands the sales and advertising channels for
the Group’s products, provides an additional income and cash flow stream for the

Group and further diversifies the Group’s overall business.

During the period from 14 April 2017 to 31 March 2018, the online advertising
agency business segment recorded a post-acquisition revenue and operating loss of
approximately HK$9.4 million and HK$7.7 million (including the amortization of

intangible asset of HK$5.8 million arising from acquisition) respectively.

Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com successfully built the news media connecting
Hong Kong and Mainland China with a focus on features that cater to the needs
of Mainland users for entertainment, lifestyle and fashion information in Hong
Kong. The portal provides online and offline information platforms that cover
entertainment, food, tourism, beauty, fashion, parent-child interaction, pets and

E-sports, so as to extend the time users spend on their terminal devices.

o BELJE W g L T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o PR W i L0 T

We have strengthened our content curation capability and recommendation
algorithm, leveraging on a team of experienced and trend-sensitive website editors,
reporters and graphic designers. We have also successfully optimized the former
hard-advertising content using soft articles that have better readability and sense
of taste, thus to offer more personalized information flow services and to enhance
user stickiness. As a result, our readership in terms of monthly reading volume

increased significantly from 1.0 million views to 2.2 million views.

Regarding to expanding online advertising revenue, we used data analysis to
further strengthen our ability to target customers through our advertising platform,
thus enabling our advertisers to achieve greater investment return and better
advertising effectiveness. Catering to the needs of advertisers, we launched special
offers through the Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com community and invited
Mainland readers to participate in large events held by Hong Kong companies,
similar events will be held more frequently in order to attract customers. In
addition, addressing the market demand of Hong Kong customers for frequently
visiting the Facebook platform, we converted article text from simplified Chinese
to traditional Chinese so as to localize content and to increase the number of views

and customer base.

Online Payment Business segment

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group introduced a new operating
segment of online payment business following the successful completion of the
acquisition of Empire Access Limited (“Empire Access”) on 21 September 2017.
The management considers that such acquisition introduced the Group into the
mobile payment industry which will provide an additional income and cash flows

stream to the Group and further diversify the Group’s overall business.

N Dimension, a subsidiary of Empire Access, is one of the authorised WeChat
payment service providers in Hong Kong. It provides peripheral software and
hardware solutions support, as well as identifies and approaches potential
merchants in Hong Kong for adopting the WeChat Pay cross-border electronic fund
transfer system, which ultimated facilitate the PRC customers to settle purchase

payments with merchants via WeChat Pay in Hong Kong.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

During the period from 22 September 2017 to 31 March 2018, the online payment
business segment recorded a post-acquisition revenue and operating loss of
approximately HK$1.8 million and HK$3.9 million respectively. Our revenue
in March 2018 recorded an increase of over 5.5 times as compared with that in

October 2017, reflecting the huge market potential.

Online payment service serves as an important platform for our Internet
e-commerce business. We strengthened our dominance in the field of mobile
payment (in terms of the number of active accounts) and further enhanced our
penetration in commercial transactions. The total number of merchants we
engaged has a desirable growth from 782 at the time of acquisition to currently
2,686. We deepened the relationship with major channel partners and empowered
an increasing number of small merchants with technologies to improve their

operational efficiency.

Others

Acquisition of E-commerce Promotion Business

The Group completed the acquisition of Soul Marketing Group Limited
(“Soul Marketing”) in December 2017. With an aim to connect our integrated
e-commerce and strategies, Soul Marketing is committed to establish itself as
an e-commerce promotion supplier covering the PRC, Hong Kong, Taiwan
and Southeast Asia. Inspired by its original concepts, it successfully provided
customers with cross-country advertising platforms and helped them to integrate
product resources of all information flows, thus reducing their costs of promotion

and sales through one-stop online retail solutions.

Acquisition of Game Distribution Platform

The Group completed the acquisition of JAHGames Hong Kong Limited
(“IAHGames”) in February 2018. IAHGames is a publisher and distributor of
video games and offers video game developers a single point of access to bring
video games from around the world to gamers in Greater China and Southeast Asia.
IAHGames has been in the business of distribution of online and console games for
around 10 years and has successfully operated famous video game and is going to

set up online game distribution platform.

o BELJE W g L T

MoF—LENLA -+ HE T EZH
= H WM B L SR S A kAT W AR i
5 J K88 548 43 I 491,800,000 7T % 3,900,0007
JC o M T — AE= AR IR L4
A W R RS S > BTG E R TE S -

B3 1 S AT RROFS 2 FRAM 00 I A R T ) T
B o FRAME [ T AE B B ST SR Ay SEUE b A (i
TERIRE BT > Wi — BT TAEWERL S E
WHBER - RMBH AP 8E BA5 AR R
1% o F I A T IR (4 7 82 11T 184 T = BLIRF 12,6861 ©
FATINGE T B B E A EB L BAR 3R
HAMTRAETE 2/ N > DR T HEEROR o

At

e 7 I S SR

ACAE F R =& — R AR T S B v T 3 R
BEEA RN A ([T G5 ) o Rl a
T B > I A SR W IR A R S
A~ G LR OR SR T R A R R -
WA S I P AR PR R R R
B BEEF AR S E b ER -
%5 B S A - R — o BB
fERTT 5 o

W IHHE L BEATF B

A F A = — VA T 58 IR I IAHGames
Hong Kong Limited ([ TAHGames J) - IAHGames
S AU ISKBEAT B SR T - o A S 5 B % T 4
PEBE—HE ARG A BRARRERE 15k 5 | A K b 22 TR
a5 o IAHGames € 5 48 1 4381 J 3= 46 70 5%
SETRH) AR o RS RN 44 SRR > S A
MM BT -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JNA /& 58 B (515 ) A PR 2 ¥ 15



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Equity-settled share-based payments

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group recognised a total expense
of HK$29.3 million (2017: Nil) in relation to the share options granted by the
Company.

Loss for the year
As a result of the foregoing factors, the Group’s loss amounted to approximately
HK$144.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: profit of HK$11.8
million). The Group’s loss attributable to the owners of the Company amounted to
approximately HK$139.2 million for the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017: profit
of HK$12.7 million).

Disclaimer

Save for Royal Medic No.l Chinese Cs-4, none of the Group’s products is
registered under the Pharmacy and Poison Ordinance (Chapter 138 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws of
Hong Kong). Any claim made by those products has not been subject to evaluation
for such registration. Those products are not intended to diagnose, treat or prevent

any disease.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2018, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$158.9 million (2017: HK$110.2 million) and the current ratio
(current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was 2.1 times as at
31 March 2018 (2017: 4.1 times). The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total
borrowings divided by total equity, was approximately 207.1% as at 31 March
2018 (2017: 14.9%). The increase in gearing ratio was primarily due to the
convertible bonds issued in October 2017. In view of the Group’s current level
of cash and bank balances, funds generated internally from operations and the
unutilised banking facilities available, the Board is confident that the Group will
have sufficient resources to meet its financial needs for its operations. As at 31
March 2018, the Group had unutilised general banking facilities of approximately
HK$6.2 million (2017: HK$5.9 million). On 12 October 2017, the Group
completed the placing of the convertible bonds in the aggregate principal amount
of HK$265.0 million. The net proceeds from the placing of the convertible bonds
are approximately HK$250.0 million and intended to be applied in any potential
acquisition by the Company relating to (i) its principal business or (ii) any online or
e-commerce technology business including but not limited to the acquisition under
the acquisition agreement dated 30 June 2017 in relation to the WeChat cross-

border payment business and (iii) for general working capital of the Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximizing the return
to the shareholders through the optimization of the debt and equity balance. The
management reviews the capital structure by considering the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues as
well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt as it sees fit and
appropriate. The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.

The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the period of review.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had 260 employees (2017: 169). For the
year ended 31 March 2018, staff costs including directors’ remuneration was
approximately HK$116.4 million (2017: HK$61.2 million).

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s Directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operation of the Group. In addition, the Company has
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors and eligible participants,
particular of which are set out in note 36 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. The Group regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s Directors and senior
management, by reference to, among other things, market level of salaries paid by
comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Group’s Directors and

the performance of the Group.

OUTLOOK

Health and Beauty Supplements and Products segment

Hong Kong Market

In order to recruit new generation customers and to increase market share in
today’s digital world, the Group will continue to allocate more resources from the
traditional marketing platform to digital marketing. In addition, more online live
events that can attract interactive communications will also be engaged to advertise

and promote our products.
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The quality management accreditation for the existing food factory such
as 1SO22000 and HACCP has been obtained in March 2018. Nevertheless,
completion date of the Chinese medicine factory is delayed to the end of 2018,
since the Group would like to achieve a higher standard in product quality for its

customers, but not just upgrading the factory to full production.

Non-Hong Kong markets

It has been over a year since the introduction of a strategic partner to develop the
PRC market. Though effort has been made, the performance is still not satisfactory
and the Group is rethinking the next step for the development in this market. For the
Southeast Asia regions, various applications in registration and licensing are still in

progress.

Collaboration with CUCAMed Company Limited

The laboratory collaborated with CUCAMed Company Limited (“CUCAMed”) in
Hong Kong to research and develop new Chinese medicines and health products
has commenced operation in September 2017. During the year ended 31 March
2018, no new product under the “LEGEND” brand was launched. A new product
that planned to be launched in early 2018 was rescheduled to late 2018.

Online Business segments

An era of internet and mobile commerce has come for the global economy, in
order to grasp the opportunities in this market, the Group has always been in
earnest pursuit of various business opportunities for developing and diversifying
our business. Looking ahead to 2018, the Group will continue to strengthen the
operation of gd.qq.com in Hong Kong Station, WeChat cross-border payment
business in Hong Kong, the e-commerce promotion platform run by Soul
Marketing and the IAHGames games distribution platform (online and offline), so

as to increase our market penetration and revenue.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Online Advertising Agency segment

At its initial period, Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com mainly comprises six
business modules, i.e. entertainment, property and finance, sports, tourism, pets
and education. Since the launch, the Hong Kong Station has been rapidly expanded
to 10 business modules, with the addition of health, fashion, infant care and
E-sports. The Group will continue to invest resources to enrich the website content,
and aim to expand the website into 30 business modules, thus to broaden user facets

and increase user volume, which ultimately increase revenue from advertising.

The Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com launched a series of activities to encourage
merchants conducting media-rich interaction with the help of entertainment tools,
and to attract catering industry customers to place advertisement through award
credibility such as the Hong Kong Food Awards. In addition, we also introduced
WeChat payment service to our customers, and opened an official account which
is linked to advertising packages of Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com in an effort
to expand advertiser base and revenue streams. Moreover, Hong Kong Station of
gd.qq.com organized sales activities in Hong Kong and Mainland China for its
customers in retail and real estate markets, helping them leverage upon celebrity

effect in promotion.

The Group expects that the monthly view rates of Hong Kong Station of gd.qq.com
will continue to increase, which will help to attract more advertising clients outside
Hong Kong and explore the market in the Southeast Asia, thereby further boosting

the increase of our advertising revenues.

Online Payment Business segment

As announced by the Company on 21 September 2017, the Group has completed
the acquisition of 70% interest in N Dimension which is principally engaged
in the WeChat cross-border payment business in Hong Kong. In view of rapid
growth of mobile commerce, the rising popularity of mobile payment among the
PRC population, the stable number of PRC tourists visiting Hong Kong and the
stable amount of their consumption expenditure, the Group believes that there
will be potential growth in WeChat cross-border payment service. Subsequent to
the completion of the acquisition, the Group endeavors to continue growing this
new business by way of expanding its sales efforts, forming collaboration with
other market players or further acquisition(s) of suitable target company(ies) that

complement the Group’s direction of development.
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The Group is confident of the business prospect of WeChat cross-border payment
business in Hong Kong. The Group will continue to explore a more profound
cooperation with Tencent in the future, such as participating in WeChat cross-
border payment business in Southeast Asia, WeChat Pay’s “Hong Kong Wallet”,
and the like. Capitalising on the brand awareness, we will be able to enhance our

competitiveness.

We focused on optimisation of “Integrated Payment Solution Package” products,
a product that can manage different payment channels for merchants. It provides
various value-added services which can assist merchants’ smart bill acquiring
hardware, store management software, financial services, supply chain and other
value-added services. It can also help to extend business model, increase revenue,
expand the Southeast Asia market and grow the vertical value-added business

model.

At the same time, we actively developed the extended online payment services
and launched mini programs to connect users with numerous online and offline
services, including retail, e-commerce, lifestyle services, livelihood and games.
The objective is to encourage users to share and connect with others in daily life,
promote interaction with partners within the ecosystem, and develop innovative

“Payment Plus” products to better extend business models and increase revenue.

Others

For Soul Marketing of e-commerce promotion platform and IAHGames game
distribution platform (including online and offline), we will implement our smart
retail solutions to promote cross-selling of offline retailers through our technical
services. We will continue to improve the life quality of consumers through our
innovative products and services, seize opportunities and develop ourselves into a

healthy and growing Internet Plus ecosystem.

With the increasing popularity and penetration of smartphones and computer
games, IAHGames will distribute 45 new games through agents, including famous
games, and will continue to sell the existing licensed games in 2018. Through
distributing more popular mainstream games, increasing distribution of innovative
new games and establishing online selling platform, we will expand the sales
channels, increase the market share in game distribution platform and build
ourselves as the first choice among all game distribution agents in Hong Kong

market.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in notes 31, 32 and 33 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report, there was no other material acquisition and
disposal of subsidiaries, associated companies and joint ventures during the year
ended 31 March 2018.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Save as disclosed in note 24 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report, the Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March
2018.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 34 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2018.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and cash balances that
are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“US$”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). In order to
manage and minimize the foreign currency risk, the management will continue to
manage and monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measure

are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had secured bank loans of approximately HK$28.1
million (2017: HK$30.6 million). The banking facilities are secured by the Group’s
leasehold land and buildings, having carrying amount of approximately HK$41.8
million as at 31 March 2018 (2017: HK$43.2 million).
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BUSINESS OBJECTIVES AND USE OF PROCEEDS 23 H # & i 5 3k J8 il i&
Comparison of Business Objectives with Actual Business Progress  3£75 [ 12 Bl 77 B 356 554 e 1Y Lb g

An analysis comparing the business objectives as stated in the placing prospectus ~ AAF H# A —F— =4 JLH =+ HH L HE=AE
of the Company dated 30 September 2013 (the “Prospectus”) with the Group’s  ([Fe B &FE |) ol 8 H S BA B g — % — T
actual business progress for the period from 1 April 2015 onwards is set out as  4F Pt 5 — F JH 37 [ B (B SE 03 8 19 EL s o0 W 91

below:

W

Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015

onwards as stated in the Prospectus

Be A BT T — TR DY — H B Y
EBHE

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2018

HEZR-N\EZA=ZT—HWREEGER

Expansion of distribution network
Set up about 2-11 new SDCs

Employ more promoters

WA 55445
S22 1 IR B A

B EZ s H

The Group continues to identify suitable stores of the distribution facilitator
to set up SDCs, 2 Royal Medic SDCs and 11 Health Proof SDCs were set
up during the year ended 31 March 2018.

The Group had 48 SDCs including 18 Royal Medic SDCs and 30 Health
Proof SDCs as at 31 March 2018.

The Group continues to employ promoters and employed 96 promoters as at
31 March 2018 (As at 31 March 2017: 93).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B S i 43

Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015

onwards as stated in the Prospectus (continued)

Wil B R RT3 T — AR DY — HE B Y
S0 H AR (80

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2018

HECR-N\EZA=ZT—HWEBEE TR

Collaboration with CUCAMed to develop products
Launch more new health supplements under the brand of
“LEGEND”

Engaging brand ambassadors to promote the products

Strengthen the Group’s branding and marketing strategies

through various media and channels
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No new product under “LEGEND” brand was launched during the year.

During the year, no brand ambassador was engaged to promote the products
under “LEGEND” brand.

The Group continues to promote its products launched under “LEGEND”
through various media and channels, such as digital and printed media in

Hong Kong.
The laboratory collaborated with CUCAMed in Hong Kong to research

and develop new Chinese medicines and health products has commenced

operation in September 2017.
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Business objectives for the period from 1 April 2015

onwards as stated in the Prospectus (continued)

B BRL T TR DY — H B Y
S0 H AR ()

Actual business progress up to 31 March 2018

HECR-N\EZA=ZT—HWRBEGER

Expanding overseas markets

Engaging brand ambassadors in Taiwan

Recruiting more promoters and strengthen the Group’s
branding and marketing strategies through various media

and channels in Taiwan

Continue to explore the opportunities in other overseas

markets

i e A} T
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After the expiry of the contract of a brand ambassador in Taiwan, the Group
began to promote the Group’s products in Taiwan using the same brand

ambassadors as used in Hong Kong.

The Group has contracted a non-exclusive distributor with extensive
network in drug chain stores in Taiwan and simultaneously started its
e-commerce sales network in April 2017. However, the performance was
not satisfactory and still sustained losses. The Group decided to close down

the operation in Taiwan during the year.

For the Southeast Asia regions, various applications in registration and

licensing are still in progress.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The planned use of proceeds as stated in the Prospectus were based on the best
estimation of future market conditions and development made by the Group at the
time of preparing the Prospectus while the proceeds were applied in accordance
with the actual development of the market. During the period from 1 April 2017 to

31 March 2018, the net proceeds from issuance of new shares of the Company by

o T

=R

(G

R0 5 9 8 AR 2 P o T 1 0
O3 L 0 R S R 0 B8 R 0 R P
SRR 735 0 RE R R < 13
“E— LM —AE - E—AEZH A
SOOI » A ] LA 0 5 87 9 4 40 19 0

way of placing had been applied as follows: TR AELWT
Planned use of proceeds Actual use of proceeds
PR e g PR BB A&
Change in Change in
use of use of
proceeds proceeds Total
during during amount
As stated the year the year Useof 11 October 1 April utilized
in the ended ended proceeds 2013 to 2017 to up to
Prospectus 31 March 31 March after 31 March 31 March 31 March
Total 2017 2018 change 2017 2018 2018
wE wE
“FbE ZFNAE HE
ZAZ4—H ZA=Z+—H SRS 2R ZR0E
IR JIR:; 4 ILEE EWmEM FAT—-HE NA-HE ZHA=1+—H
MR RS0E O RASUE B 2t Z20\E CEiEE
aE ey MRgm g ZA=+—H ZA=Z+—H Hem
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T T
Expansion of distribution network 1 £ 7 #484% 5,950 = = 5,950 5,225 725 5,950
Collaboration with CUCAMed to 5ok i B34 4
develop products AIEB B S 47,600 (25,000 (13,285) 9,315 8,370 945 9,315
Expanding overseas markets RN 41,650 (25,000) (13,196) 3,454 2,773 681 3,454
Enhancing the Group’s marketing i1 7 4 [B] 76 & s
and promotion activities in Y 5 T e B
Hong Kong 13,090 - - 13,090 13,090 - 13,090
Acquisition of Star Root Limited i #§Star Root Limited - 50,000 - 50,000 5,000 45,000 50,000
Acquisition of Giant Bloom i 5
Holdings Limited HIRAH - - 26,481 26,481 - 26,481 26,481
General working capital — G g 10,710 - - 10,710 10,710 - 10,710
119,000 - - 119,000 45,168 73,832 119,000
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CHANGE IN USE OF PROCEEDS AND USE OF
PROCEEDS

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 9 January 2017
and 18 April 2017. As at 31 March 2018, the Company utilised HK$45.0 million
out of the unutilised proceeds as part of the consideration for the acquisition of
100% equity interest of Star Root Limited, for the purpose of product development

and expansion of overseas market.

References are made to the announcements of the Company dated 31 August
2017, 7 September 2017, 11 September 2017 and 13 September 2017. As at 31
March 2018, the Company utilised HK$26.5 million out of the unutilised proceeds
as part for the consideration for the acquisition of 100% equity interest of Giant
Bloom Holdings Limited, for the purpose of product development and expansion of

overseas market.

Convertible Bonds

On 12 October 2017, the Group completed the placing of the convertible bonds in
the aggregate principal amount of HK$265.0 million. The net proceeds from the
placing of the convertible bonds are approximately HK$250.0 million and intended
to be applied in any potential acquisitions by the Company relating to (i) its
principal business or (ii) any online or e-commerce technology business including
but not limited to the acquisition under the acquisition agreement dated 30 June
2017 in relation to the WeChat cross-border payment business and (iii) for general

working capital of the Company.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of the
possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered that the

most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The health supplement industry in Hong Kong generally believes that changes in
regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and control of food and
health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal ingredients may
be proposed and implemented by the authorities concerned in the coming years.
Significant effect may impact on the future development of health supplements
as well as the food industry. If the Group fails to keep up and comply with these

changes, such factors would affect the Group’s success.
The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its

interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Prolonged economic downturn

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth or a
recession may affect consumer preferences and spending which in turn could have
a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operational results and financial

conditions.

In response to these challenges, the Group will closely monitor the changing
economic conditions and also actively implement effective measures to control the
administration and production costs. The Group will also continue to roll out more
new products and open up more distribution channels, and diversify its business to

improve the Group’s overall performance.

Failure to introduce successful new products

Owing to the rapid changing nature of the health and beauty supplements and
products markets in Hong Kong, if the Group fails to anticipate market trends
and develop new products to respond to such trends in a timely manner, it will
adversely affect its business in the long term. In addition to the Group’s own
product development and collaboration with external research partners, such as
with CUCAMed to promote and sell products developed by CUCAMed under
the brand “LEGEND?”, the Group is also actively looking for opportunities to
collaborate with different reputable universities to conduct researches for the
purpose of developing new products. Besides researches, the Group will also
continue to place strong emphasis on a multifaceted market strategy through

utilizing various media and channels to promote its brands and products.

Macro-economic condition, PRC tourist spending and payment
habits

The health of the Group’s WeChat cross-border payment business relies
significantly on the number of PRC tourists visiting Hong Kong and their ensuing
spending habit using WeChat Pay as the payment gateway. Should there be any
adverse change in macro-economic condition, the number of PRC tourists visiting
Hong Kong or their spending or a change in habit using WeChat Pay, the Group’s
business may be adversely affected. In addition, regulatory or other changes in
the PRC such as a major outbreak of disease that affects the number of inbound
PRC tourists to Hong Kong will have similar adverse impact. However, the Group
believes that this online payment business is still at a start-up stage with growth

potential so the Group will closely monitor the development in this business sector.
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Competition

At present, there are various WeChat Pay service providers and agents operating
in Hong Kong. With number of available merchant shops in Hong Kong being a
relatively stable figure, there is intense competition among these service providers
and agents. Should these service providers and agents actively engage in price
competition, the Group may be forced to follow suit so that its business, operational
results and financial conditions may accordingly be adversely affected. However,
the Group believes that this online payment business is still at a start-up stage with
growth potential so the Group will closely monitor the development in this business

sector.

Operational risk

The Group’s online payment business is heavily dependent on the stable
operation of its IT systems including system software, processing systems,
telecommunications networks, cloud servers as well as systems provided by third
parties. Such mission critical services are susceptible to risks attributable to system
outage, data loss or breach in security. Should such a situation occur, payments
made to the merchant shops may not be properly processed and may expose the
Group to liability to third parties. The Group will closely monitor such risks, and
periodically consider and implement measures such as system/software updates,

redundancy, and subcontracting to suitable and competent third party vendors.

Industry and technological changes

The Group’s online advertising agency and online payment businesses are
characterised by rapid technological changes, frequent and numerous product
introductions and enhancements, continually evolving industry security standards
and rapidly changing customers’ requirements. The success of the Group in these
business segments depends on a large extent upon the Group’s continued ability to
offer its online advertising agency and payment businesses within this environment
and to meet changing market requirements, including conformity with applicable

standards.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”), aged 49, is the chairman of the Board, and the
chief executive officer of the Company as well as a director of most subsidiaries of
the Company. Mr. Chan joined the Group in 2003 and was appointed as a director
of the Company (“Director”) on 5 December 2011. Mr. Chan is responsible
for the overall management and strategic development of the Group. Mr. Chan
possesses over 14 years of experience in the health food and pharmaceutical trading
businesses with extensive experience in product development, materials sourcing,
branding-building, advertising, marketing and retail networking. Mr. Chan has
acted as the honorary president of the Federation of Beauty Industry (H.K.). He
has been a member of the Association of Hong Kong and Kowloon Practitioners
of Chinese Medicine Limited since 2004 and was then appointed as the advisor of
the abovementioned association in 2008. Mr. Chan is currently a director of Yan
Oi Tong and a founding member of Affectionate World Charitable Foundation
Limited (A [F 1% 2435 3L 445 FR/A ) since May 2017, both are registered non-
profit making charitable organization.

Mr. Chan is currently a director of and holds entirely interests in Able Island Group
Limited (“Able Island”), the controlling shareholder of the Company, details of
which are disclosed in the Report of the Director under this report. Mr. Chan is the
brother-in-law of Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, a former director and the current

chief financial officer of the Group.
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Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 54, is an executive Director and compliance
officer of the Company. He joined the Group since July 2014 acting as a director
of a subsidiary of the Group and was appointed as an executive Director and
the compliance officer of the Company on 20 January 2016. Mr. Lee has been
primarily responsible for overseeing the corporate strategy and legal matters of the
Group. Mr. Lee was employed by the Group from 1 March 2013 to 1 November
2013, responsible for business development. Mr. Lee was a director of Wisdom
Come Medical Group Limited (“Wisdom Come”), a subsidiary of the Group from
2010 till 2012. Mr. Lee was also subscriber and nominee shareholder of Wisdom
Come and subscriber of Hong Kong and Macau Chinese Medicine Innovative
Institute Co., Ltd. (formerly named “M2C Natural Health Limited”), another
subsidiary of the Group, and transferred his shares in these two companies to
the Group on 1 November 2005 and 19 May 2006, respectively. Mr. Lee has
been a solicitor in practice in Hong Kong since August 2000. Mr. Lee graduated
from The Chinese University of Hong Kong with a bachelor degree in business
administration in 1986, and later also graduated from the Manchester Metropolitan
University in the United Kingdom with a bachelor degree in laws in 1999. After
obtaining the Postgraduate Certificate in Laws issued by University of Hong Kong,
he was admitted as a solicitor in Hong Kong in August 2000. Before practising as a
solicitor, Mr. Lee was employed with senior management positions in various retail
enterprises in Hong Kong. From 1995 till 1997 he was employed as a director and
deputy general manager of Chinese Arts & Crafts (H.K.) Limited, a retail group of
companies in Hong Kong. He is currently the sole proprietor of Sidney Lee & Co.,
Solicitors, a law firm established in Hong Kong since July 2008, which provided
legal services to the Group till 19 January 2016. Mr. Lee has been an elected
member of the Central and Western District Council since 2006 with his current
term of office ending on 31 December 2019. Mr. Lee has been providing voluntary
services to the public on an ongoing basis and was appointed by the government as

a member of various advisory boards.
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Mr. Wang Xihua, aged 51, is an executive Director of the Company. He joined the
Group on 24 October 2016. Mr. Wang has over 20 years of commercial experience
in business development and enterprise management in the People’s Republic of
China (“PRC”) and 5 years of teaching experience in the chemical engineering
profession. Mr. Wang graduated from the Faculty of Chemical Engineering
at 207 B E (Wuhan Institute of Iron and Steel, currently called Wuhan
University of Science and Technology”) in 1989. In addition, Mr. Wang completed
a graduate program in business administration from the Guanghua School of
Management of Peking University in 2003. Mr. Wang is primarily responsible for
exploring investment opportunities to expand the business of the Group. Mr. Wang
was an executive director and non-executive director of Elife Holdings Limited
(former name: Sino Resources Group Limited) (“Elife Holdings”) (Stock Code:
223) shares of the company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange from
11 March 2013 to 31 January 2014 and 1 February 2014 to 22 September 2015
respectively. Mr. Wang is currently the managing director of SRG Capital Limited,
a company in which Elife Holdings holds less than 10% equity interest. Mr. Wang
was an executive director of Fortis Mining (Hong Kong) Limited from 1 February
2014 to 23 May 2015, a Hong Kong subsidiary of Kazakhstan Potash Corporation
Limited, a company listed in the Australian Securities Exchange Limited (ASX
code: KPC).

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William, aged 45, is an executive Director of the Company.
He joined the Company on 1 July 2017. He has solid commercial experience in
international and China business development and merge and acquisition before
joining the Company. Mr. Lai has a Certificate in google android application
development awarded by Unisoft Education Centre in 2011. Mr. Lai is primarily
responsible for the online advertising agency business, e-commerce promotion

business and game distribution business of the Group.

Mr. Liao Zhe, aged 31, is an executive Director of the Company. He joined
the Group on 10 October 2017. Mr. Liao has several years of marketing and
brands strategy experience. Prior to joining the Group, he was responsible for
managing Tencent games in Tencent Holdings Limited and WeChat payment in
Caifutong Payment Technology Co., Ltd. Mr. Liao was awarded a DFI-Diploma in
Communication Design in 2010, a joint programme organized by Design Factory
International, College of Communication Arts and Interactive Media and Beijing
Normal University, Zhuhai (Jt5% Rl K ELER 40 #8). Mr. Liao is primarily
responsible for the online and WeChat cross-border payment business and the

relevant projects of the Group.

*  For identification purpose only
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, aged 55, is an independent non-executive Director
and a member of each of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. She joined the Company on 15 April 2016. Ms. Szeto
is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a solicitor of the Supreme Court of
England and Wales. Ms. Szeto holds a Bachelor of Laws Degree from Oxford
Brookes University and a Master of Science Degree in Criminal Justice Policy
from The London School of Economics and Political Science. She is currently an
independent non-executive director of Shaw Brothers Holdings Limited (Stock
Code: 0953). Ms. Szeto was a former chairman, non-executive director and
member of audit committee of Larry Jewelry International Company Limited
(Stock Code: 8351) from 3 October 2016 to 12 January 2018, and was an executive
director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code: 1106), from 19 March 2015
to 4 July 2016. All three companies are listed on the main board or the GEM of the
Stock Exchange. Ms. Szeto was also the Head of Legal Department of New World
Development Company Limited (Stock Code: 0017) from 20 March 1998 to 31
July 2002.

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 32, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of audit committee, a member of nomination committee and
remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 24 October
2016 and was appointed as the chairman of audit committee on 6 December
2016. Mr. Leung is currently a Director of Global Business Development at
TMF Group, a leading global services provider of high-value business services
to clients operating and investing globally. Before joining TMF Group, he served
as the financial controller of an international investment management company
focusing on the market of the Greater China. Mr. Leung has worked for different
international audit firms including KPMG and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the
past seven years from October 2008. Mr. Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of
Commerce (Accounting and Finance) from Monash University in Australia in 2008

and has been a member of the CPA Australia since 2011.

32 Annual Report 2017/2018 4 it

WL IEHATE S

AR Lt o 5558 BB BT ESE KA
NRIZHREEG  REATEGRHMNE RGN
B oo B R NEN A TR AIMAALNF o A
8 2 B A s L SE R AT S T R T T e v 1k
e A Fill o Bk Lo R A AR A R S T R B ik B
2 B R A SR RS ER B T S R AR T
B o Bl 3R IRE 5 AR PG Do P T A PR /] (AR
9% 0 0953) XML IERATH S o AfE L LR ZF
—ANET+A=ZAFE_F - NE A+ 0 A
A A PR A (B A5 - 8351) AT 0% ~ 3
WATEENBFERZEGNE > WG R _F—TF
ZATILH BEZF AL A I H AT B i
PEA B B (R OCHE - 1106) Z HATEDS - 3%
= F A 22 IF E AR EKGEM BT - JfE L
ETHRER—ANNE=ZA A EZFTF L
A =4 — R Bt Sas R A RA A (g 5% -
0017) ZEBIBI 45 -

BEWA: > 3258 > BB FEPATESE - AL
G =R oA T =R PN E 11 E=Rgi
B oo it —E—NETA U HIMAALRF
Wik E—NETZANHERTABFEER
& FRE o R EBIRF A TMF Group 2 BRZEHS 45 g
W B W A BRAE ST G R A (P 2 RS 2
HERE o T AR R EE S o 75 ATMF
Group Z A > 1% B AT — K & i i K #E T 5 1)
Bl PR R BN F 2 A RS - QRO E R E
JNAET A BAGG o R R [R B F  oR Es r R
B B R ICE AT R R L AT o R
T\ AT A WA R 8 5 A A B 75 e B (o
TR AT ) BR A e ) T — — AR G W ST
NGETE -



BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

3 S e A DU R A

Mr. Tam Kin Yip, aged 44, is an independent non-executive Director, the
chairman of nomination committee and remuneration committee and a member
of audit committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 7 March 2017.
Mr. Tam is a practicing Barrister-At-Law in Hong Kong and has over 15 years’
experience in litigation. Mr. Tam served as independent non-executive director of
Zhi Cheng Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 8130), from 16 February 2012 to 3 July
2015, Zhuoxin International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Gold Tat Group
International Limited) (Stock Code: 8266), from 3 March 2015 to 1 March 2016,
shares of these two companies listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange, China
Solar Energy Holdings Limited (Stock Code: 155) from 21 October 2014 to 15
May 2015, shares of this company listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Leung Man Loon, aged 40, is an independent non-executive Director and
a member of each of audit committee, nomination committee and remuneration
committee of the Company. He joined the Company on 11 September 2017. He is
currently working in BOC Group Life Assurance Company Limited. Mr. Leung
has extensive experience focusing in Life insurance and banking industries. Mr.
Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Finance Services from Edinburgh
Napier University in United Kingdom. Mr. Leung has been a Certified Financial
PlannerCM (CFPCM) since 2010 and designated a Fellow, Life Management

Institute from Life Office Management Association since 2006.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cheng Tze Kit Larry, aged 62, is the chief investment officer of the Group.
Mr. Cheng joined the Group in March 2018. Mr. Cheng has over 26 years of
experience in real estate development and financial mergers and acquisitions
in Hong Kong, Canada and the PRC. He holds a Bachelor of Science (Hons) in
Engineering and a Master of Business Administration. Mr. Cheng is a Chartered
Engineer of United Kingdom. Mr. Cheng was served as an executive director,
non-executive director and chief investment officer of several Hong Kong listed

companies.
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Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony, aged 57, is the chief financial officer of the Group.
Mr. Lim joined the Group as treasurer in August 2014. He was executive Director
of the Company from 1 January 2016 to 31 August 2017. On 31 May 2016, he
was appointed as chief financial officer and he is primarily responsible for the
overall accounting, tax, finance and treasury functions of the Group. Mr. Lim has
over 20 years of experience in financial and management accounting. He was
awarded a professional diploma in management accountancy from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University (previously known as Hong Kong Polytechnic) in 1985
and he obtained his master degree in business administration from Heriot-Watt
University, United Kingdom in 1999. Mr. Lim is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He is also a member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants and of the Chartered Institute of Management
Accountants. Mr. Lim is the brother-in-law of Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the chairman of

the Board, the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive Director.

Mr. Yan Tat Ming, aged 54, is the chief production officer of the Group. Mr.
Yan joined the Group in January 2012. He is primarily responsible for the
production and quality assurance functions of the Group. Mr. Yan has more than
16 years of experience in the pharmaceutical industry. He is experienced in the
areas of production and quality assurance and familiar with production with GMP
standard. Mr. Yan obtained his bachelor’s degree in pharmacy from Robert Gordon
Institute of Technology, Aberdeen, United Kingdom in 1991. He is registered as a
pharmaceutical chemist and is a member of the Royal Pharmaceutical Society of
Great Britain since 1992. He is also admitted as a pharmacist in accordance to the
Pharmacy and Poisons Ordinance (Chapter 138, the Laws of Hong Kong) in 1992.
Mr. Yan was elected as the committee member and deputy secretary-general of the
Hong Kong Chinese Prepared Medicine Traders Association in 2004 and 2006,

respectively.

Ms. Wong Chui Lan, aged 46, is the general manager of the Group. Ms. Wong is
responsible for sales department including the supervision of the sales promoter
team of the Group and also acts as the person-in-charge of the customer services
and member club functions of the Group. She joined the Group in 2004 as a senior
manager and was subsequently promoted to the deputy general manager in 2010,
sales controller in 2011 and general manager in 2016. Ms. Wong possesses more
than 12 years of working experience in the retail marketing specialising in selling

and distribution of PCM health supplements and beauty supplements and products.
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Mr. Chui Pak Shing, aged 50, is the chief strategy officer of the Group. Mr.
Chui joined the Group in December 2015. Mr. Chui was the company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company from 25 January 2016 to 6
December 2016. Mr. Chui has over 20 years of working experience in accounting
and financial management, company secretarial work and served as executive
director and financial controller of several Hong Kong listed companies in various
industries, before joining the Company. Mr. Chui holds a Bachelor Degree in
Commerce from University of Wollongong, Australia and a Master Degree in
Business Administration from University of Portsmouth, the United Kingdom. He
is a fellow of CPA Australia and of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public

Accountants.

Mr. Wong Kui Tong, aged 37, is the company secretary and authorised
representative of the Company. Mr. Wong joined the Company in December
2016. Mr. Wong has over 15 years of experience in accounting and financial
management. Mr. Wong is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and he is also
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators and
The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Prior to joining the Company,
Mr. Wong held the position of Finance Manager and Company Secretary in China
Lumena New Materials Corp. (Stock Code: 67) from 2009 and 2010 to 2016
respectively and worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers from 2004 to 2009. Mr. Wong
obtained a Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy degree and a Master of Corporate

Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, aged 54, is the compliance officer of the Company.
Please refer to the paragraph headed “Executive Directors” in this section for his

further details.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR
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The directors of the Company (the “Director(s)”) herein present their report and
the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively, the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2018.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group are principally engaged in the formulating, marketing, sale and
distribution of health and beauty supplements and products in Hong Kong, the
PRC and Taiwan, as well as the provision of online advertising agency business,
online payment business, e-commerce promotion business and game distribution
business. There was no significant change in nature of the Group’s principal

activities during the year.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis
of the Group’s performance during the year as required by the Schedule 5 to
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622), including a discussion of
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group and indication of likely
future development of the Group’s business, the material factors underlying its
results and financial position are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” from
pages 6 to 7 and “Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 8 to 28,
particulars of important events affecting the Company that have occurred since
the end of the financial year ended 31 March 2018, if any, can also be found
in the abovementioned sections and the “Notes to the Consolidated Financial
Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is discussed throughout this
Annual Report including the “Chairman’s Statement” of this Annual Report, all
these sections form part of this report of the Directors.

CHANGE OF COMPANY NAME, CHANGE OF
STOCK SHORT NAME AND ADOPTION OF NEW
COMPANY LOGO

The English name of the Company has been changed from “RM Group Holdings
Limited” to “Shunten International (Holdings) Limited” and “JIFifi# 5 B (¥ %)
B2 5] has been adopted to replace “fHl 85 4 [H 4 1 A BR /2 F]” as the dual
foreign name of the Company in Chinese with effect from 9 January 2018 in order

to reflect the Group’s business diversification and expansion development.

The stock short name for trading in the Shares on the Stock Exchange has also been
changed from “RM GROUP” to “SHUNTEN INTL” in English and from “ffl 8%
to “NEHE B FEHEAL in Chinese with effect from 9 a.m. on 6 February 2018. The
stock code of the Company remains unchanged as “932”.

#
B S |
% to R

The logo of the Company has been changed from ” with effect from

1 February 2018.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2018 are set out in

note 38 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the results and the state of affairs of the Group
are set out in the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report on
pages 82 to 223.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended
31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For Attendance of 2018 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 4 September
2018 to Friday, 7 September 2018 (both dates inclusive), for the purpose of
determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (“Shareholders”) to
attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday,
7 September 2018 (the “2018 AGM”), during which no transfer of shares of the
Company will be effected. In order to qualify for attendance of the 2018 AGM,
all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant share certificates of
the Company must be lodged with the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, at Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 3 September 2018.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past 5
financial years is set out on page 224 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group in this
annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 15 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 29 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Particulars of share options of the Company (the “Share Option™) and details of
movements in the Share Options during the year are set out in note 36 to the audited
consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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SHARE SUBDIVISION

An ordinary resolution of the subdivision of each issued share of par value
HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the Company into four (4) shares of par value
HK$0.0025 each in the share capital of the Company (the “Shares(s)”) has been
approved by the Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held on 4 December 2017, accordingly, the issued share capital of the Company
was increased by 1,585,800,000 Shares from 528,600,000 Shares to 2,114,400,000
Shares on 5 December 2017 (the “Share Subdivision”), details of the Share
Subdivision may refer to the announcements of the Company dated 27 October
2017, 3 November 2017, 6 November 2017, 8 November 2017 and 4 December
2017 and the circular of the Company on 10 November 2017 and the note 29(b)(ii)
to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report. After the
completion of the Share Subdivision took on 5 December 2017, 36,800,000 share
options outstanding under the share option scheme adopted on 11 October 2013 has
been adjusted to 147,200,000 share options outstanding and the exercise price of
HK$6.80 per Shares has been adjusted to the exercise price of HK$1.70 per Share
on the same date effect, details of which may refer to the announcement of the
Company on 4 December 2017 and the note 36 to the audited consolidated financial

statement in this annual report.

PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company have been successfully placed the convertible bonds in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$265.0 million (the “Convertible Bonds”) by the placing
agent to six placees which took place on 12 October 2017. The Convertible Bonds
are convertible into (i) 56,989,247 new shares of par value HK$0.01 each in
the share capital of the Company at the conversion price of HK$4.65 per Share
(the “Price Before First Anniversary”) if all the Convertible Bonds are being
converted into new Shares within the first anniversary of the date of their issuance;
or (i) 66,250,000 new Shares at the conversion price of HK$4.00 per Share (the
“Price After First Anniversary”) if all the Convertible Bonds are being converted
into new Shares after the first anniversary of the date of their issuance and before
the maturity date, details of which may refer to the announcement of the Company
dated 24 April 2017, 9 May 2017, 31 May 2017, 30 June 2017, 31 July 2017, 22
September 2017, 25 September 2017 and 12 October 2017.
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Subsequently, the Share Subdivision took effective on 5 December 2017, the
Price Before First Anniversary of HK$4.65 per Share (subject to adjustment) and
the Price After First Anniversary of HK$4.00 per Share (subject to adjustment)
has been adjusted in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Convertible
Bonds to HK$1.1625 (the “Adjusted Price Before First Anniversary”) per
Share and HK$1.00 (the “Adjusted Price After First Anniversary”) per
Share respectively, both also with effect on 5 December 2017. Accordingly,
the number of new Shares issuable upon full conversion under the Convertible
Bonds at the Adjusted Price Before First Anniversary and the Adjusted Price
After First Anniversary are 227,956,988 new Shares and 265,000,000 new Shares
respectively. On 22 March 2018, the Company allotted and issued 8,602,150
new ordinary Shares as a result of the conversion of amount of HK$10,000,000
under Convertible Bonds at the Adjusted Price Before First of Anniversary of
HK$4.65 per new Share. As the date of the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
date of this report, the outstanding amount of the Convertible Bonds amounted
HK$255,000,000.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2018 (2017:
Nil).

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

No equity-linked agreement was entered into during the year, save for the
Convertible Bonds disclosed above, the Share Options (defined below) which were
under the section of “SHARE OPTION SCHEME” and others, if any, disclosed in
this report.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
year are set out in the audited consolidated statement of changes in equity on page
86 and note 29(a) to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual
report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2018, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of Cayman Islands’
legislation, amounted to approximately HK$101.4 million (2017: HK$180.1

million).

PARTICULARS
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2018 are set

OF BANK AND OTHER

out in note 23 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wang Xihua

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William (appointed on 1 July 2017)
Mr. Liao Zhe* (appointed on 10 October 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon* (appointed on 11 September 2017)

Former Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Mau Tai (retired on 5 April 2017)

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (retired on 31 August 2017)

Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak* (appointed on 11 September 2017 and
then resigned on 13 February 2018)

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (resigned on 4 May 2018)

* He was retired in the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 4 December
2017 and was re-elected by the Shareholders on the same meeting.

The biographical details of the current Directors are set out on pages 29 to 35 of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS ROTATION

Messrs. Chan Yan Tak and Wang Xihua, being executive Directors, and Ms.
Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, being independent non-executive Director, have entered
into service agreements with the Company for a term of three years from the
respective dates of their appointment or re-election in annual general meeting of
the Company, subject to retirement by rotation from the Board at the conclusion
of the 2018 AGM and then, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election as
Director by the Shareholders in the 2018 AGM in accordance with article 84(1) of
our Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles of Association”) and the Listing

Rules.
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RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS BY THE
SHAREHOLDERS IN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING

Messrs. So Kevin Hoi Chak and Leung Man Loon have been appointed as the
Directors by the Board both with effect on 11 September 2017 and Mr. Liao Zhe
has been appointed as the Directors by the Board on 10 October 2017. All of them
were then retired from the Board at the conclusion of the extraordinary general
meeting of the Company on 4 December 2017 (“2017 EGM”) and were re-
appointed as the Director by the Shareholders in the 2017 EGM in accordance with
article 83(3) of the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

RESIGNATIONS OF DIRECTORS

Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired from his position as an executive Director with effect
from 5 April 2017. Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (“Mr. Lim”) retired as an executive
Director after conclusion of the annual general meeting of the Company held on 31
August 2017 (the “2017 AGM”) in accordance with the Articles of Association, he
then did not offer himself for re-election at the 2017 AGM. On the same date, he
also ceased to be a member of the remuneration committee of the Company. Mr. So
Kevin Hoi Chak tendered his resignation as an executive Director with effect from
13 February 2018. Mr. Wong Ping Yiu tendered his resignation as an executive
Director with effect from 4 May 2018.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company has received written confirmations of independence from all four
independent non-executive Directors, Ms. Szeto Wing Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung
Winson Kwan Yau, Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon respectively
for the year ended 31 March 2018 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and
the nomination committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current
independent non-executive Directors to be independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of
the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS
WITH THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENT

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest
emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively, are set out in
note 9 to 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.

Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are set out
under paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section headed “Board

Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENT

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the executive
Director and independent non-executive Director for a term of three years from
the respective dates of appointment or re-election in the annual general meeting
of the Company, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to retirement
by rotation from the Board and re-election at the annual general meeting of the

Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

No Director being proposed for re-election at the 2018 AGM has a service contract
with the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year

without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during

the year.
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DIRECTORS® INTERESTS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, the interests of the Directors in the shares, underlying shares
and debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”)) which
(1) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Personal Corporate  under equity issued
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Mr. Chan Yan Tak (“Mr. Chan”) B LS A ([ BRAAE ]) 733,568,000 733,568,000 34.55%
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney LRy e 1,000,000 6,000,000 7,000,000 0.33%
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu BRI (R = F— )\

(resigned on 4 May 2018) H A HEAT) 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.19%
Mr. Wang Xihua FHELAE 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.19%
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William bR 4,000,000 4,000,000 0.19%
Mr. Liao Zhe BUs e 20,000,000 20,000,000 0.94%
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER L 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau PRI 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%
Mr. Tam Kin Yip FEERE 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%
Mr. Leung Man Loon BIHERE 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%

This represents the shares of the Company held by Able Island Group Limited (“Able
Island”), a company is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Chan and he is the sole
director of Able Island, therefore, he is deemed to be interested in 733,568,000 Shares under
the SFO.

This represents interests in Share Options held by the relevant Directors as a beneficial owner
to subscribe for the relevant underlying shares granted by the Company under the Share
Option Scheme, where the validity period is from 30 October 2017 until 29 October 2019
(both days inclusive) at the adjusted exercise price of HK$1.70 per option and the option
will be vested on 30 October 2018. The number of outstanding share option and the exercise
price has been adjusted due to the Share Subdivision, details of which may refer to the above
section “SHARE SUBDIVISION” and the note 36 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report.

The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of the Shares in issue as
at 31 March 2018 (i.e. 2,123,002,150 Shares).
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Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under section headed
“DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below,
as at 31 March 2018, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company
had any interest or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures
of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (i) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2018, the number of outstanding Share Option granted by the
Company under the share option scheme adopted on 24 September 2013 (“Share
Option Scheme”) for the Directors to subscribe the shares of the Company, as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code is set out the sections head “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTION” and

in the note 36 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year ended 31 March 2018
was the Company, its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies
a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors, their spouse and children
under the age of 18, to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 35 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this
annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION”,
if any, in this report, no Director or any entities connected with the Director had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements
or contract of significance to the business of the Group to which the Company, or
any of its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party

during the year.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS
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As at 31 March 2018, according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the

BTE - NEZA = H s REAR B S
B3 B Wk 15 336 10k BT A 47 M i B > LA A
I (AL R EEATE BBRAN) IR AL 7 ik
73 B AR Bl B o A AR 2 B R R S XV
F8 575 2 e 33 R0 A ) R M 52 BT DA AR
I7 B B G 191 565 336 T BR TS AN 2 W) B 45 47 6 T

Company were as follows:

Long positions in the shares of the Company

AL B ey Z B9

il MEDITREALFKRERIT

Approximate
percentage of interest
in the Company’s

Names of shareholder Capacity Nature of interest Number of Shares Total issued share capital®
iAo w]
CRATIRA
A RE A R 2
B LS H g Rz PR ety 8 B sk [Epig A
Able Island! Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 733,568,000 733,568,000 34.55%
f2E - ZEDN 3 i
Tong Sui Lun Franco Beneficial owner Convertible instruments?® 111,827,956* 111,827,956 5.27%
#: 3ty JEEEE 2PN AR T HS
Altair Asia Investments Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary Shares 12,624,000*
(“Altair Asia”) 2 HiHEA A 3
Convertible instruments?® 98,924,732+ 111,548,732 5.25%
AR T A
Ardon Maroon Fund Management Interested of controlled Ordinary Shares 12,624,000*
Limited (“Ardon Maroon”)? corporation 3 A
Z RN R ERE A Convertible instruments® 98,924,732* 111,548,732 5.25%

AR T HS

The entire issued share capital of Able Island is beneficially and wholly owned by Mr. Chan.

The entire issued share capital of Altair Asia is currently held by Ardon Maroon.
Accordingly, Ardon Maroon be deemed to be interested in the Shares in which Altair Asia is
interested under the SFO.

The convertible instruments referred to the Convertible Bonds issued by the Company on 12
October 2017, the outstanding Convertible Bonds amounted to HK$255,000,000 as the date
of the year ended 31 March 2018 and the date of this report, details of which may refer to the
above section of “PLACING OF CONVERTIBLE BONDS” of this annual report on page
38.

The number of Shares held by the respective Shareholders have been adjusted due to the
Share Subdivision took effect on 5 December 2017, details of which may refer to the above
section of “SHARE SUBDIVISION”.

The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the Company
in issue as at 31 March 2018 (ie. 2,123,002,150).

Able Island 1 2 8 O 34T A t BRSEAE H i 2 B
ﬁ 3

Altair Asialty 2 £ #5177 B 4 Bl B Ardon Maroon
oo L MRIETE S BB > Ardon Maroont
WAL T Altair AsiaffE A RESS 1 B 03 vh HE A R4S o

A TREEAARR T —LE+A+ A
TR S s RBRE_F— /4E=H =+ —
Aok 4 B A B> A AT AT 0 5 B
255,000,000 7T » HFEAR AT 2 B AR A 38 5 [ e
AR RS | -

HRAREA BB EECER —F—LFE+ AR
F AR 28080 JB (47 A T T LA B HCREAR AT 22 B B3
[ AR AR & ) — i o

HAWWESMBEAR AR —F— /NE=H=1T—H
£ 3847 B 48 85 (B[ 2,123,002,150 A% ) A H 97 % (tn
H) o
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2018, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors were not aware of any business
or interest of the Directors, the controlling Shareholder and their respective close
associates that compete or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the
business of the Group and any other conflict of interest which any such person has

or may have with the Group.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The controlling shareholders, namely Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able Island,
entered into a deed of non-competition dated 24 September 2013 (“Deed of Non-
Competition”) in favour of the Company (for itself and as trustee for each of its
subsidiaries). For details of the deed of non-competition, please refer to the section
headed “Non-Competition Undertakings” in the prospectus of the Company dated
30 September 2013. Each of the controlling shareholders has confirmed that none
of them is engaged in, or interested in any business (other than the Group) which,
directly or indirectly, competes or may compete with the business of the Group
during the financial year. The independent non-executive Directors have also
reviewed the status of compliance and the written confirmation from each of the

controlling shareholders.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, during the year and up to the date of this annual report,
there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the Company’s issued shares

as required under the Listing Rules.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
and the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, which would
oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to the existing
Shareholders.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM PLACING

Details of the net proceeds from the Company’s issue of new Shares at the time
of its listing on the GEM of the Stock Exchange on 11 October 2013 and the
movement during the year are set out in the “MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION
AND ANALYSIS” from pages 8 to 28 in this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s
five largest customers accounted for approximately 54.6% (2017: 64.0%) of the
total sales and the aggregate sales attributable to the largest customer included

therein accounted for approximately 50.7% (2017: 56.8%) of the total sales.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 60.2% (2017: 45.1%)
of the total purchases and the aggregate purchases attributable to the largest
supplier included therein accounted for approximately 21.7% (2017: 16.1%) of the

total purchases.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor
those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.
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CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, amended from time to time. All the
Directors have confirmed they have complied with the required standard set out
in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2018. Employees of the
Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information,

have been requested to comply with provisions of the Model Code.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable donations amounting to approximately
HK$95,000.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year, there were no transactions which need to be disclosed as
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction in accordance with the

requirements of the Listing Rules.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group are set out in note 35 to the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified against
all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their duties.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

STAFF

As at 31 March 2018, the Group had approximately 260 employees. Salaries
of employee and directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and bonus
are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance, medical cover, subsidized educational and training programmes as well

as the Share Option Scheme.
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PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in form of contributions to Hong

Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare fund
respectively. Details of which are set out in note 14 to the audited consolidated

financial statement in this annual report.

CHANGE OF PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
HONG KONG

The Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong has been changed to Unit
A, 12/F., Guangdong Investment Tower, 148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong
with effect from 23 February 2018.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules
and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group. The
Board review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements in a regular basis. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and

relevant operation units from time to time.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, to the best of the Company’s
knowledge, the Company has complied with the requirements under the
memorandum of association and articles of association of the Company, the
Listing Rules, the SFO, Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands
and other law applicable to the Company. Details of the Company’s compliance
with the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate
Governance Report contained in the Listing Rules are provided in the “Corporate

Governance Report” from pages 51 to 72 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to safeguard
the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the requirements of
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status, race
discrimination and occupational safety through established internal policies and/or

procedures.
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EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE

Details of a significant event occurring after the reporting date are set out in note 41

to the audited consolidated financial statement in this annual report.

AUDITOR

In consideration of the independence of the auditor of the Company and
maintaining a good corporate governance practice under the requirements of the
Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that the auditor of Company should be
considered for rotation from the Company after they have provided several years of
services to the Company. Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath
(HK)”), together with one of its preceding merged firms CCIF CPA Limited, has
been engaged as auditors of the Group for 7 years, the Board has therefore agreed
and approved the change on the Company’s auditor for the year ended 31 March
2018. In this connection, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) has been
appointed by the Board as the auditor of the Company in place of Crowe Horwath
(HK) as the auditor of the Company with effect on 16 March 2018. The financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 were audited by Elite Partners,
they hold office until the conclusion of the 2018 AGM and a resolution of the re-
appointment of Elite Partners as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year
by the Shareholders would be proposed in the 2018 AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Chan Yan Tak
Chairman
Hong Kong, 27 June 2018
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the Corporate Governance
Code (amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in the Appendix 14 of
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). Throughout the year ended
31 March 2018, the Company has complied with the Code provisions as set out in
the Code the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rule except the deviation from the Code
provision A.2.1, which stipulate that the roles of chairman of the board of directors
of the Company (“Board”) and chief executive officer of the Company should be
separated. Detail of the deviation is elaborated below under the paragraph headed

“Chairman and Chief Executive Officer”.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association and articles
of association of the Company (“Articles of Association”), the Companies Law
(2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the Securities and Future Ordinance and

the Listing Rules as well as other law applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties in
accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) approach to the continuous professional
development of directors of the Company (“Directors”) and senior management of
the Companys; (iii) policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory
requirements; and (iv) the compliance with the Code and disclosure in this report,
are adequate and appropriate for the Company in light of its current corporate
strategy. The Company did and will review of its corporate governance duties in
light of the changing legal and regulatory requirements as well as the Code from

time to time.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine (9) Directors, all with professional
backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and oversight of the
Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. The current composition of
the Board comprises the following Directors together with the Directors resigned

during the year:

Current Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yan Tak (Chairman and chief executive officer)
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney

Mr. Wang Xihua

Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William (appointed on 1 July 2017)
Mr. Liao Zhe” (appointed on 10 October 2017)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Mr. Tam Kin Yip

Mr. Leung Man Loon" (appointed on 11 September 2017)

Former Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. Wong Mau Tai (retired on 5 April 2017)

Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (retired on 31 August 2017)

Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak” (appointed on 11 September 2017 and
then resigned on 13 February 2018)

Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (resigned on 4 May 2018)

He was retired in the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 4 December
2017 and was re-elected by the Shareholders on the same meeting.

The composition, experiences, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on the
Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company to ensure
that the Board retains a core of members with longstanding and deep knowledge
of the Group alongside new Directors who bring fresh perspectives and diverse

experiences to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the current Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report. A list of Directors identifying their
roles, functions and titles is available on the websites of the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.shunten.com.hk).

Save as Mr. Chan Yan Tak, the chairman of the Board, is the brother-in-law of Mr.
Lim Ming Shing, Tony, a former executive Director and the current chief financial
officer of the Group, and other information disclosed in this annual report, if any,
there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant relationship

between the Board members.

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of each of
annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall be subject
to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at least once every
three year under the Listing Rules. The Directors to retire in every year shall be
those who have been the longest in office since their last re-elections in the annual
general meeting of the Company. Any Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy
to the Board during the year is subject to re-election by the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders™) at the first general meeting of the Company after
his/her appointment by the Board in accordance with the Listing Rules and the

Articles of Association.

Messrs. Chan Yan Tak and Wang Xihua, being executive Directors, and Ms.
Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia, being independent non-executive Director, have been
the longest in office among the Directors since their last re-elections by the
Shareholders, they are subject to retirement by rotation from the Board at the
annual general meeting of the Company to be held on Friday, 7 September 2018
(the “2018 AGM?”) in accordance with the Articles of Association and the Listing
Rules.

Messrs. So Kevin Hoi Chak and Leung Man Loon were appointed as the Directors
by the Board both on 11 September 2017 and Mr. Liao Zhe was appointed as the
Director by the Board on 10 October 2017. All of them were then retired from the
Board at the conclusion of the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on
4 December 2017 (“2017 EGM”) and were then re-appointed as the Director by the
Shareholders in the 2017 EGM in accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of

Association and the Listing Rules.
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For independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for more
than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting and the papers
to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include the reasons why
the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be re-elected under the

Listing Rules.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the Directors
for a term of three years, respectively. Their terms of office are also subject to
(1) retirement by rotation from the Board at least once every three years at the
conclusion of annual general meeting; (2) at least one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of each annual
general meeting; and (3) Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
during the year shall hold office until the conclusion of the first general meeting of
the Company and then be re-appointed by the Shareholders at the same meeting in

accordance with the Articles of Association and/or the Listing Rules.

Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company’s business to the senior management of the Company and the
delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised and periodically reviewed
by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions, arrangements and/or contracts entered into by the senior management
of the Company and the Group. The Board focuses its attention on matters affecting
the Company’s overall strategic policies, corporate governance, finances and the
Shareholders, including financial statements, dividend policy, significant changes
in accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts, strategies
for future growth, major financing arrangements and major investments, corporate
governance functions, risk management system, treasury policies and fare
structures. The Board has the full support of its senior management to discharge its

responsibilities.
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman of the Board and chief
executive officer should be separate and should not be performed by the same
individual. Mr. Chan Yan Tak is the chairman of the Board and the chief executive

officer of the Company.

Mr. Chan currently provides leadership to the Board in terms of establishing
policies, strategies, business directions and development and ensures that the Board

discharges its responsibilities.

Mr. Chan has been responsible for the overall management and strategic
development of the Group since 2005. He is also responsible for formulating,
approving, organising and implementing the Group’s strategy. His expert
knowledges in the areas of development and retail marketing of health and beauty
supplement products has assisted the Group to grow substantially over the past ten
years. The Board therefore agreed that it is beneficial to and in the best interest of
the Company and the Shareholders as the whole for Mr. Chan to continue with his

roles as the chairman of the Board and chief executive officer of the Company.

Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in Board meetings
and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of strategies and
policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board committee of the Company
comprising all independent non-executive Directors will be formed to advise the
independent Shareholders on those connected transactions to be approved by the
independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
also members of various Board Committees and devote sufficient amount of time

and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction programme
for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and understanding
of the key areas of business operations and practices of the Group as well as the
general and specific responsibilities and duties of Directors under the Articles
of Association, the Companies Law (2016 Revision) of the Cayman Islands, the
Listing Rules and relevant applicable regulatory requirements in Cayman Islands

and Hong Kong.
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An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group structure,
Board procedures, business management and operation of the Company, duties
under the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance, as well as the
essence of corporate governance and the trends in these areas, were therefore
arranged for Messrs. Lai Wei Lam, William, Liao Zhe and So Kelvin Hoi Chak
as executive Directors who joined the Board on 1 July 2017, 10 October 2017
and 11 September 2017, respectively, and Mr. Leung Man Loon as independent

non-executive Director, who joined the Board on 11 September 2017.

Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary regularly circulates information and materials related to
roles, functions and duties of listed company directors, business research and
development, updated rules and regulations, economic, environmental and social
topics to all the Directors: namely, Mr. Chan Yan Tak, Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney,
Mr. Wang Xihua, Mr. Lai Wei Lam William, Mr. Liao Zhe, Ms. Szeto Wai Ling,
Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man
Loon, being all current Directors, as well as the former Directors, namely, Mr.
Wong Mau Tai, Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony and Mr. So Kelvin Hoi Chak retired/
resigned during the year. Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned on 4 May 2018. All
Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses provided by external

bodies at the Company’s expense.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for regular review by the nomination committee of the Company. The
training records of the Directors were reviewed by the nomination committee of the

Company in June 2018.

Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meets at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant information
of the Company and may take independent professional advice at the Company’s

expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days before the
meeting. For other Board and committees of the Board (“Board Committee(s)”)

meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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The draft agenda for Board and Board Committees meetings is prepared by
the company secretary and approved by the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees. Directors are advised to inform the chairman of the Board and Board
Committees or the company secretary not less than one week before the relevant
Board and Board Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda
of the meeting. The agenda together with Board and Board Committees papers are
sent at least three days before the intended date of the Board and Board Committees
meeting. To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors and Committee
members are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the

company secretary when required.

The chairman of the Board has encouraged all Directors to make full and active
contributions to the Board’s affairs and takes the lead to ensure that the Board
acts in the best interest of the Company and the Shareholder as a whole. He
has promoted a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective
contribution of independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive
relations between executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors.
Accordingly, the Board operates in a functional manner with clearly defined

objectives, strategies and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests of the
Company and have particular regard to the interest of the Shareholders as a whole.
Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent of their
interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract or other proposal to be
considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless specifically permitted by the
Articles of Association, a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract, transaction,
arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any of his/her close

associates is materially interested.

Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by the
company secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the development of
the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also prepared
for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that the Directors and member of
the Board Committees are supplied with all the requested information in a timely

and appropriate manner.
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Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings

The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as well
as the annual general meeting of the Company during the year ended 31 March
2018 is as follows:

Ef SliRCE T
WE-E - UEZA =+ —HIRERE » KRN
A 2 = o ok S A ) IR RO AT R & 22 A A R
I

Attendance/Number
of meetings during
the Directors’ tenure of office

R RS A O

Extraordinary Annual
general meeting  general meeting Board
&N JBe AR K W
Number of Meeting(s) Rk B 2 1 29
Executive Directors HiTEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak [k JEL i 5 A 0/2 1/1 28/29
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney e A 2/2 1/1 29/29
Mr. Wang Xihua FGH#EEA 2/2 /1 28/29
Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William' HR AR S 2/2 1/1 22/22
Mr. Liao Zhe? B et 0/2 N/AA T ] 715
Independent Non-executive Directors WL IEBTESF
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER L+ 2/2 /1 29/29
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau ek LS 0/2 1/1 29/29
Mr. Tam Kin Yip A{d A 02 /1 29/29
Mr. Leung Man Loon? eSS 0/2 N/ARN 16/16
Former Directors HEES
Executive Director BATHEHE
Mr. Wong Mau Tai? BB AR A N/AA# N/AA 3 N/AS# F
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony® REG R A N/AAS 7 11 11/11
Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak® i3 RE VRl 2/2 N/AA 7 12/12
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu’ TR AT 2/2 1/1 29/29
Notes: B 5E
1. Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William was appointed on 1 July 2017. 1. MR —F—LFE L — HEEE -
2. Mr. Liao Zhe was appointed on 10 October 2017. 2. B —F— LT H T BERAE -
3. Mr. Leung Man Loon was appointed on 11 September 2017. 3. PR ER —F LA T R -
4. Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired on 5 April 2017. 4. R HR A BN A B HEAT -
5. Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony retired on 31 August 2017. 5. Mg AR —F— LA =T — BRI -
6. Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak was appointed on 11 September 2017 and then resigned on 6. WL AN —F—LFENA T HERE R
13 February 2018. F—/MEZH T = HEHE -

7. Mr. Wong Ping Yiu resigned on 4 May 2018. 7. BT A R — AR T H Y H BT o
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Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing their
duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance record at the
Board meetings and Board committees meetings for the year ended 31 March 2018,
which was reviewed by the nomination committee of the Company in June 2018,

demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board committees meetings are currently prepared by
the company secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and
Board committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Director(s) and members of Board committees or dissenting views expressed (if
any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the Board and Board

committees for their comment within a reasonable time after the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmation of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2018 in
accordance with rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The nomination committee of the
Company has assessed their independence and concluded that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules

and continues to consider each of them to be independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensures that he/she can give
sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make contribution
to the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. The chairman of the Board held a meeting

with the non-executive Directors during the year.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all
Directors have agreed to confirm/update their Commitments to the Company in
a timely manner and confirm his/her other directorships, major appointments and

interests to the Company twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc.. The Company has
conducted an annual review of the Company’s Directors’ and Officers’ liability
insurance policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and other
relevant factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against other similar

policies purchase by other companies.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the required standard of dealings the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in the Appendix 10 of Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions in the securities of the Company. Upon the Company’s
specific enquiry, each Director has confirmed that they have fully complied with
the Model Code under the Listing Rules, and there is no event of non-compliance.
Employees of the Company, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished
inside information of the Company, have been requested to comply with the

provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY

All Directors have access to the advice and services of the company secretary,
who is responsible for ensuring that the Board procedures are followed and for
facilitating information flows and communications among the Directors as well
as with the Shareholders and management. Mr. Wong Kui Tong is currently the
company secretary of the Company. Please refer to the section “BIOGRAPHICAL
DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT” for details of Mr.
Wong’s professional qualifications.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board committees, namely, the audit committee, the remuneration
committee and the nomination committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Each of these Board committees is governed by its respective
terms of reference (amended from time to time) which are available on the
websites of both the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.

Audit Committee

The audit committee has been established by the Board, it comprise a minimum
of three members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive Director
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
majority of the audit committee members is currently independent non-executive
Directors. The audit committee is currently chaired by an independent non-
executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

The audit committee consists of four (4) members, they are all independent non-
executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (chairman), Ms. Szeto
Wai Ling, Virginia, Mr. Tam Kin Yip and Mr. Leung Man Loon. None of the
members of the audit committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing

external auditor.
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Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the audit committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if any) in
respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control system and risk

management system of the Company.

Work Performed by Audit Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the audit committee held five (5)

meetings. The attendance of each member at meetings is as follows:
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Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members tenure

of office

Wk,

Name of members BB ik B B 1 1 e R U B

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) RIS () 5/5

Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia FAEER Lt 5/5

Mr. Tam Kin Yip FRESE A 5/5
Mr. Leung Man Loon BESCHESAE

(appointed on 11 September 2017) (R ZFE—LAFIA T—HEZE(T) 3/3

In accordance with its terms of reference, the audit committee performed, inter alia,
the following work during the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date of this
report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial statements
and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final dividend (if any)
and the draft results announcements of the Company, including any changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental areas; compliance
with accounting and auditing standards; and compliance with the listing
requirements on the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to

financial reporting prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the evaluation
of the internal control system and the risk management system of the
Group and the relevant report prior to recommending them to the Board for

approval.

WE T NFE=A=+HILFEREEAR
HHE S R R - FREEGYET
CEErP 3 48) AR AR -

1. fEm#EF g R R LS e
R~ A v R A ) K AL S
RRRBEER I RN - R
B (AT ) DLR R AR - LA & st
BUOR KA G AL (T3 8 5 T 2O B g
S E R AR ERD 5 LA RSy b B
9 L T REAE B A R B B R A RE o

2. TEI T IR A R DU AR e
TR e R A B AT A S I A
P2 2 150 T JE B A B AR AT 2 A DL RO R

4o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M /& B8 ¥ (3 5% ) 4 R 2w 61



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

o SR

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the

Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the changes, re-appointment and

remuneration of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, qualifications
and experience of the staff of the Group’s accounting and financial reporting

function and their training programmes and budget.

Remuneration Committee

The remuneration committee has been established by the Board, it is currently
chaired by an independent non-executive Director and comprising a majority of
independent non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules.

The remuneration committee consists of four (4) members, they are all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman), Ms. Szeto Wai

Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man Loon.

Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
the Directors and senior management of the Group; review performance based
remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
The remuneration committee also administers and makes recommendation to the
Board with respect to the share option scheme adopted by the Company. When the
remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such Director will

abstain from voting.
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Work Performed by Remuneration Committee

During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the remuneration committee held

nine (9) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

e FEalch e

FZ R &P AT L AE
BWE T FEZA =+ H LR BEE > H
ZHEERITILOWEE -« £ 8E B

mE

Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members' tenure
of office
i
Name of members BB ik B B AR PO
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) RS () 9/9
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER Lt 9/9
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RS 919

Mr. Leung Man Loon RS
(appointed on 11 September 2017) (R —F—AAF LA — HH#EZE(T) 6/6

In accordance with its terms of reference, the remuneration committee performed,

inter alia, the following work during the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the

date of this report:

1.

reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management.

reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.

reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with
reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management and/or other matters.

reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service

agreement.

considered, approved and recommended the salary package of newly

appointed Director and senior management of the Company.

reviewed, approved and recommended the payment to the Directors, if any,

in relation to the retirement and resignation of the Directors.

revised, approved and recommended the grant of share option to the

Directors.
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Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31 March 2018 are set
out in note 9 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
In addition, pursuant to the Code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the
senior management of the Group by bands for the year ended 31 March 2018 is set

out below:

BE F -/ EZH =+ — A ILAF SR
175 81 A A A R A8 S A% A B T R B 59 o Ut
Gh o RIESFRIGCBAS - BE EFE—NEZA
=t —HIRERE > B o 2 A SR e A B
& 2 AERE S S an R

Number of individuals

Remuneration to the senior management by bands i BB PR 2 55 T A N
HK$1 to HK$500,000 135 76 2.500,000% 70 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7C % 1,500,000 G 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001%5 7€ 22,000,000 G 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000 7T 1
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,001 7T %2 3,000,000%5 ¢ 1

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee has been established by the Board, it is currently
chaired by an independent non-executive Director and comprises a majority of
independent non-executive Directors in compliance with Rules A5.1 and A5.2

under the Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules.

The nomination committee consists of four (4) members, they are all independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Tam Kin Yip (chairman), Ms. Szeto Wai

Ling, Virginia, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau and Mr. Leung Man Loon.

Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the nomination committee is to make recommendations
to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board and to assess the independence of the independent non-executive

Directors.

The Company adopted a board diversity policy, amend from time to time,
(“Diversity Policy”) since 2013 which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of Board members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection
of candidates be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service, the summary of which are set
out below:

(a)  With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.
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(b)  In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered
from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service.

(c)  All Board appointments did and will be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Work Performed by Nomination Committee
During the financial year ended 31 March 2018, the nomination committee held
four (4) meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:

(b)

(c)
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Attendance/
No. of meetings during
the members' tenure
of office
R
Name of members A B B AR PR U
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Chairman) AR A () 4/4
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEE Lt 4/4
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau P e 4/4

Mr. Leung Man Loon PR
(appointed on 11 September 2017) (R ZZFE—LAF L +— HEZE) 2/2

In accordance with its terms of reference, the nomination committee performed the
following, inter alia, work during the year ended 31 March 2018 and up to the date
of this report:

1. reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the nomination
of Directors.

2. assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

3. sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to become

Board members.

4. approved and recommended to the Board the appointments, resignations and
the retirements in Directors.

5. identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors in the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Listing Rules.

6. reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board and
analysis the diversity of the Board with reference with the Board Diversity
Policy.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018. The accounts
are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of the Group’s
loss and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing the accounts for the
year ended 31 March 2018, the Directors have selected appropriate accounting
policies and, apart from those new and amended accounting policies as disclosed
in the notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2018, have applied them
consistently with previous financial periods. Judgments and estimates have been
made that are prudent and reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of the external

auditor are set out on pages 73 to 81 of this annual report.

Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management,
(the “System”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and to
minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses. The
Group’s internal control framework covers (i) the setting of objectives, budgets
and targets; (ii) the establishment of regular reporting of financial information, in
particular, the tracking of deviations between actual performances and budgets/
targets; (iii) the delegation of authority; (iv) the establishment of clear lines of

accountability; and (v) review and evaluation of the Systems.

On behalf of the Board, the audit committee has reviewed the report prepared by
external independent professional firm in respect of the adequacy and effectiveness
of the System of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2018, including the
reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations,
compliance with applicable laws and regulations, effectiveness of risk management
functions and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience,
training programmes of the Company’s accounting and financial reporting function
and budget. This is achieved primarily through approving the scope of the annual
internal audit plan, reviewing the findings of internal audit work, the annual and
interim financial statements, and the nature, scope of work, and report of the
external independent professional firm. Base on the results of the annual review
by the audit committee, the Board considered that the Systems are effective and
adequate. There is no significant change in the nature and extent of risks and
the Company’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the external

environment since the last annual review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management and
internal controls. An external audit has been conducted to carry out the internal
audit functions to ensure proper compliance with the internal control systems and
risk management system to identify the potential risks which may arise in the
operation and financial of the Group’s business for implementation of appropriate
measures and policies on a continuing basis. The scope of review and the audit
programme of external audit company, which are formulated based on a risk
assessment approach and focuses on areas with relatively higher perceived risks,
are approved by the audit committee at the end of the preceding financial year
in conjunction with the management. The external audit company executes their
functions based on a yearly plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These
reports are submitted to the management, the Board and the audit committee for
review on a regular basis. Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on

an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy
(the “Disclosure Policy”) for the Company since 2013 for monitoring inside
information to ensure compliance with the Listing Rules and the Securities and

Futures Ordinance.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures
for handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to ensure
that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in
equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The inside information should remain confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information
is efficiently and consistently made. Disclosure must be made in a manner that the
public can have an equal, timely and effective access to the information available
through the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to meet
with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their questions about the
Group and its business. The chairman of the Board, and each Board Committee’s
chairman or his alternate did and would attend annual general meetings of the

Company along with the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ questions.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to vote. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general meeting

can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting.

The Company did and will send the notice of the annual general meeting to
Shareholders at least 20 clear business days before the annual general meeting. The
Company did and would send meeting notice to Shareholders not less than 10 clear

business days before any extraordinary general meetings of the Company.

Shareholders are invited to ask questions related to the business of the Company.
Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the Board has proposed
general mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of the

Company.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting will
be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together with annual
report and posted on the websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and
the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All resolutions be passed by way of
a poll conducted and verified by the Company’s branch share registrar, Tricor
Investor Services Limited, as an independent scrutineer. The poll results of each
of the proposed resolutions to the Board be published on the Stock Exchange
(www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s websites (www.shunten.com.hk) shortly
after annual general meeting and extraordinary general meeting of the Company
held.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for making enquiries to the Board

Shareholders should direct their questions about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely, Tricor

Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address Level 22, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
Telephone (852) 2980 1333
Fax © o (852) 28108185
E-mail is-enquiries @hk.tricorglobal.com
Website http://www.tricoris.com
Attention Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and members of the investor community are welcome to send their

enquiries to the Board and the company secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address Unit A, 12/F.,
Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central,
Hong Kong

Telephone (852) 3700 7300

Fax : (852) 3700 7301

E-mail ir@shunten.com.hk

Website www.shunten.com.hk

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the

extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the secretary of the Company (the “Requisition”) to
require an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called by the Board

for the transaction of any business specified in the Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the secretary of the
Company at the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered office of

the Company in Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address: Unit A, 12/F.,

Guangdong Investment Tower,

148 Connaught Road Central,

Hong Kong
Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Address:  Cricket Square Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681 Grand Cayman
KY1-1111 Cayman Island

Attention: Board of Director/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s consideration
at the general meetings can send their proposals to the company secretary at the

principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship programme
to enable Shareholders and investors to better understand the Group’s business,
the Company has established various channels of communication with the

Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and future

directions of the Company with the directors at the annual general meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation to
the results announcements, at which the chairman of the Board and/or the
executive Directors are available to answer questions regarding the Group’s

operational and financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as announcements
and circulars issued by the Company to enable the Shareholders and the
investor community to have timely access to updated information about the

Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ communication policy since 2013

and has reviewed and reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association of
the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the

Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

In consideration of the independence of the auditor of the Company and
maintaining a good corporate governance practice under the requirements of the
Listing Rules, the Board is of the view that the auditor of Company should be
considered for rotation from the Company after they have provided several years of
services to the Company. Crowe Horwath (HK) CPA Limited (“Crowe Horwath
(HK)”), together with one of its preceding merged firms CCIF CPA Limited, has
been engaged as auditors of the Group for 7 years, the Board has therefore agreed
and approved the change on the Company’s auditor for the year ended 31 March
2018. In this connection, Elite Partners CPA Limited (“Elite Partners”) has been
appointed by the Board as the auditor of the Company in place of the resignation of
Crowe Horwath (HK) as the auditor of the Company with effect on 16 March 2018.
The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018 were audited by Elite
Partners, they hold office until the conclusion of the 2018 AGM and a resolution of
the re-appointment of Elite Partners as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming
year by the Shareholders would be proposed in the 2018 AGM.

In order to maintain Elite Partners’s independence and objectivity and the
effectiveness of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the
audit committee reviewed all audit services to be provided by Elite Partners and
discusses with Elite Partners the nature and scope of their audit and reporting

obligations.

The audit committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Elite Partners

to provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, audit services fees payable to auditors
amounted to HK$900,000 (2017: HK$990,000). Non-audit services fee payable to
auditors during the year amounted to HK$64,000 (2017: HK$10,000).
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

elite
< partners

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, “the
Group”) set out on pages 82 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 March 2018, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant

accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2018, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the
Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

[3A 4 % i = 0H

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were  BH§H AT 37 B R R IETRAM A SL2EHI B > R A ¥R
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the — HJ%F & MR BR A F ot i by EE A FIH - FLLH
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the — JHJEFE A B LM 455 MBS R S B R
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 4T EHY o TR A € H S Lo I IH IR BB 1Y &

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters

RE RS

5 e

How the matter was addressed in our audit

A T i o B

Impairment of trade receivables

JRE WA K S Ok L

Refer to Note 2(j)(i) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(iv) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 19 “Trade and
other receivables” to the consolidated financial statements.
Z MBI EME26G)O EEEFHEE ]~ Hiksiv)
[ BASE e G BB 5 19 T REMSCRR B A R ISR IE | -

As at 31 March 2018, gross trade receivables of the Group
amounted to HK$56,379,000, which accounted for 7% of
the Group’s total assets. The provision for impairment of
trade receivables amounted to HK$162,000, all of which was
attributable to customers located in Hong Kong.
REE—/E=ZA=1T—H BEENERRREES
56,379,000% 7C > fi  H 4 HUE E BEHT% o BENUR FE
575 162,00046 7T - HHARTIE B HUEIIET -

Management performed periodic credit monitoring, which
included the review of customers’ credit worthiness, collection
of outstanding balances and individual credit terms. If there
is indicator that the receivables are impaired, management
would make specific provision against individual balances
with reference to the recoverable amount. The estimation and
judgement involved in the determination of the recoverable
amounts of trade receivables.

EEEEYETE R GEEE G RME - al
BRI ] BLANE A & 5 A5 R o A B SR R
FRIEATAE AR Y T RE > A5 SHRE I 22 TR T ig [ <5 B 0 1) 46
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:

SHEPE — BB AR AT > RIMEET LIRS

e Understood and validated the credit control procedures performed
by management, including its procedures on periodic review
on aged receivables and assessment on recoverability of these
receivables;

AR 0 S A B R AT 005 T S AR T - R L S R B
308 U R A L I A 2% S5 R IO I T Wi [ R PR T

e Tested on a sample basis, the accuracy of ageing profile on trade
receivables by checking to the underlying sales invoices; and
ERARE AR B B > DU IR R ORI IR 2
T 5 &

e Tested subsequent settlement of trade receivables balances.

Where settlement had not been received subsequent to the year
end for those unprovided aged receivables beyond the credit
period as at year end, we obtained management’s assessment on
the recoverability of these debts and corroborated explanations
with historical settlement pattern and underlying correspondence
with the relevant customers.
TR HE RS SRR 45 H R AT IH I - BIREFELHE
R ) G B 00 94 A B A2 D WSS E AR AR AR AT R AT 3
FRAM AT T A B ) % S U5 T [ SR BT AR R AL o AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

RE e
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[39 o4 2 wt o JH (4)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A 5 Ao B %

Business combinations

B/ 2egid

Refer to Note 2(d) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(xii) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 31 “Business
combinations” to the consolidated financial statements.

i S ARG MBS WER I RE2(0) [ B G RHECR | - BFEES(xii)
[BRSE e b | R B3 T B &0 -

During the year, the Group completed four business acquisitions
resulting in goodwill recognised at the date of acquisition
totaling HK$177,496,000, which represented the excess of the
consideration paid over the Group’s share of the fair value of
the identifiable net assets, including the intangible assets, of the
acquired businesses.

AR AR ST R S E B O - O IO H IR
1 P A5 3645 177,496,000% 7T > M1 ELAPAREBL IR 4R @
JEE A T S 25 T sk T TR M (L O ) B R I
Z 725 -

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following
procedures:

SHERZB AT FIH > MR SIRF

*  Reviewed the sale and purchase agreements and evaluated the
accounting treatment for the acquisitions with reference to the
terms set out in the sale and purchase agreements;
el B Ttk B 2 B B T R O A R R B
%

*  Obtained and reviewed the valuation assessment prepared by the
Independent professional valuers engaged by the management
and on which the management’s assessment of the fair values of
the assets and liabilities acquired was based;

BT T o ) AL T 2 WA ST S A 1 A Y S 3 ST A
JIT S T B AR A T (BN T AR B A (BLRT A

*  Assessed the Independent professional valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued and
considered their objectivity and independence;

ST 0 S S A (0 0 R AR R A A U T
BERN G - 75 B BB
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

e

[39 o 2wt o I (4)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

T 2 - o i B % S I

Business combinations (Continued)

B OF (A

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired
in these transactions were assessed by the management where
the assessments involved significant judgement and estimates
made by the management, particularly in relation to the
projection of future performance of the businesses acquired.
AR A5 22 5 v BT MO T I R B R AP o
JEREAG > 1A BT U B B 1 A T A ST
O e FEL ST S SR T AR B S ) B B A st
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Discussed with the Independent professional valuers on the
valuation methodologies adopted in assessing the fair values of
the assets and liabilities acquired, including intangible assets,
and challenged the assumptions and critical judgements which
impacted the valuation by comparing these assumptions and
critical judgements with market data, our past experience of
similar transactions and the Group’s business plan supporting the
business combination;

SHLARY 7. S Sl L P g i Al T M (LA TR
JEE ) 9 2 ST IS BT BR Y B0 A0S 7 0+ S 2 A AR st T o e )
BT S5 e RIS B R e R R
Fr 3B & OF 1Y SEBS B0 A U - 30 A L P % 5 B I
I B 2 e R

Evaluated the valuation methodologies adopted by the
Independent professional valuers with reference to industry
standards and the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards; and

Z AT ERE R BT ERHERI R BUE - 7700 7 S
fili i 5% B A (BT 7% 5

Assessed the disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
in respect of the business combination in accordance with the
requirements of the prevailing accounting standards.
WRIEBAT G Rt ERIRRE - FF AR & B IRR Pt 2685 &
Rk
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

RE e

3 3 A L B e
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A w Ao B O

Goodwill impairment assessment

PR B A

Refer to Note 2(h) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(viii) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 17 “Goodwill”
to the consolidated financial statements.

T2 ARG BRI s 2(h) [ EZEGFTEOR ]~ ks (viii)
[ B e st | B EE L7 TR 2] -

The Group has recognised goodwill arising from business
acquisitions. The goodwill is subject to annual impairment
assessment which involves the estimation of the recoverable
amount. The estimation is complex and is dependent on
assumptions about the future events. Specifically, significant
judgement is required in relation to the appropriate use of
discount rates, terminal values and the resulting forecast cash
flows in determining the value in use.

A T e R S5 A A R TR o R AT AR R
FEAG > T AR AT R o MR BEAERY o AT
A B R SR TE A RS INT 5E o FRRI > ZE A T (R (RIS
T E PG B~ e SR (B T T A5 Y T B i A o o
KHE -

In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following
procedures:

SHERZB A R HIH > MR SRR

*  Assessed the Independent professional valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued and
considered their objectivity and independence;

FTA 8 S TSN B R R RS R B FT REA T Y
BOERGE - 75 L B B A

*  Obtained, understood and evaluated managements’ valuation
methodologies for value in use calculations;

PEAT ~ LA SIS A7 B w0 PR (LA A (7 825

e Challenged the key assumptions used in determining the
recoverable amounts of the cash generating units. This included
a comparison of the assumptions with externally derived data
including external hospitality industry reports; and
L 7 AE B < i A BT B W] i Il 4 R I BT R B0 AR
B o BLAE A% S AR A B AN B AT B (LA A R T 2E
) B

* Considered the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements about the methodologies used
and the key assumptions applied.

5 I8 A B R v st P (8 vk T I ) R RGRAE
Y Bl 2 A
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Key audit matters

CE SR
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

FRAM A G Ao B O

Valuation of convertible bonds

] 0 A A

Refer to Note 2(p) “Significant Accounting Policies”, Note
5(x) “Critical Accounting Estimates” and Note 25 “Convertible
bonds” to the consolidated financial statements.

7 2 MR B R s 2(p) [ BB G FTEOR | - MEaES(x)
[ BASE e G R B 25 [ AT it 55 | -

During the year, the Company issued 6% per annum unsecured
convertible bonds with a principal amount of approximately
HK$265,000,000 which will mature on their second anniversary
following the issue of convertible bonds (“Convertible Bonds™)
to six independent third parties.

N> BAAMANLBIE N BITASEER
265,000,000 75 K 4F 5 £ 6% 30 16 17 HE 4T AT 45 I A 5 4% 515
AR BT S AT SRR 5 ([ AT R R ) -

Management decided to designate the Convertible Bonds as a
whole as at financial liabilities as at fair value through profit
or loss on initial recognition. In subsequent periods, such
Convertible Bonds are measured at fair values with changes in
fair values being recognised in profit or loss.

I T R S TR B 5 8 5 2 I 0 A R R AR A )
PEESIR G AR A B o RLAR I > A B AT i
IR AP - AP EBB)ME G D -

The fair value of the Convertible Bonds was HK$310,510,000
as at 31 March 2018, with fair value loss for the year ended
31 March 2018 recorded in the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of HK$57,764,000.
REFE—/FEZA=ZT—H > WTHRRESZ AT A
310,510,000 # T » H o &R 45 1R 4 K At 4 v i 4R R
HERE _FE - NFEZA 20— HIMEEZ A FHEEE
57,764,000 7T ©

The convertible bonds are classified under Level 3 for fair value
hierarchy which are dependent on certain key assumptions that
required significant management judgement.

A SRR 5 o HE A B 2 B8 = A > IR A T
R A o TR 2 R B AR o
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In response to this key audit matter, we performed the following

procedures:

SPEE PSSR IE » RMCET IR

e Assessed the Independent professional valuers’ qualifications,
experience and expertise in the assets being valued and
considered their objectivity and independence;

ST S S (I A IR AR R BT A U T
S o 075 R B B S

¢ Obtained and reviewed the valuation assessment prepared by the
Independent professional valuers and on which the assessment of
the management of the fair value of the Convertible Bonds was
based;
WA S [P 8 7. 260 S A (L o A S o A7 LG Al T 46 e £ %
92~ EL I P R R A i (B A 5

¢ Discussed with the Independent professional valuers on the
valuation methodologies adopted in assessing the fair value of
the Convertible Bonds, including on initial recognition, date
of conversion and as at the year ended date, and challenged
the assumptions and critical judgements which impacted
the valuation by comparing these assumptions and critical
judgements with market data, our past experience of similar
transactions and the Group’s business profile supporting the
acquisitions; and
BEL ) 7. B (L Rl o i W A T 40 BB 0 A T R
0 B A7 4% A 21 (B IR i 5% T 09 Al (B D 35 > S @
B 50 % 5] S ) B L v 5 R - TR A KHAA B B A 1 AL
Feo SRAR P SCRRZ AR WO 0 S5 ML DU LR s A (E
114 7% 55 M1 % B B S ) 4 L BB 5 T

¢ Considered the appropriateness of the disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements about the methodologies used

and the key assumptions applied.
5 8 Ao e B S R o i T 8 P O i % B R P T AR A o
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INFORMATION OTHER THAN THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND AUDITOR’S REPORT THEREON

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information
comprises all the information included in the annual report, other than the

consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be

materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have

nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued
by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging their

responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement

and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATFMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on
our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Yip Kai Yin, with Practising Certificate number PO5131.

Elite Partners CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

27 June 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

f 1 1R A B LAt 4 vl WAL i

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E=H =+ —H (L4 B

2018 2017
RN\ S S
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
W 5E T#x T
REVENUE W2k 6 264,451 220,853
Cost of revenue WA g A (83,303) (63,732)
GROSS PROFIT EcYill 181,148 157,121
Other revenue and other net loss HoA S 75 e HoA 548 7 48 7 565 209
Selling and distribution expenses SR R o35 BH 3 (49,566) (43,873)
Administrative expenses ATELBH X (168,864) (97,041)
Equity-settled share-based payments DI JRARE 45 58 DA e A3 S Ah 2 B 5 (29,290) -
Fair value change of contingent Bl IR A ACAE N (S B
consideration payables 24 (9,264) _
Fair value change of promissory notes payable A 7K 5t ZZ45 /3 F-{H 58 ) 26 (447) -
Fair value change of convertible bonds RIS AT 25 (57,764) -
(LOSS)/PROFIT FROM OPERATIONS g (EE) B (133,482) 16,416
Finance costs il A 8(c) (8,574) (776)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION KB HT (s 18) Al 8 (142,056) 15,640
Taxation BiIE 11 (2,692) (3,817)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR FENEE ) HF (144,748) 11,823
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/ HoAts 2ewi ez, (1)
(LOSS)
Item that may be reclassified A pER R SRR ZHA
subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation of RS HMER SE TS I 5 BRI A T 50 7 3
financial statements of foreign operations 670 (504)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS)/ N AT (B ),
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (144,078) 11,319
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

f B 1R A B LAt 4 vl WAL i

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ & — /\4E=H =+ —H L4

2018 2017
S
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
B GE T#L Tt
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: VLR AL A AR (5 18) @R
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE7 XS DN (139,217) 12,746
Non-controlling interests FEVRE ML HE £ (5,531) (923)
(144,748) 11,823
Total comprehensive (loss)/income attributable to: DL T A -1 AL 21 (548 ) Wk 48% -
Owners of the Company EN/NEIE7 XS DN (138,797) 12,208
Non-controlling interests FEVE IO RE £ (5,281) (889)
(144,078) 11,319
(Restated)
(R&&E5)
(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to A FIHER N A AE 9 F3: it
owners of the Company for the year (B18), /B F (5B dsAl)
(expressed in HK cents per share)
- basic — R 13(a) (6.6) 0.6
— diluted — Y 13(b) (6.6) 0.6
The notes on pages 89 to 223 form an integral part of these financial statements. 89T B 223 L MY I 51 B A< BA TS #R F2 19— B oy o
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A B B 5 IR DL R

As at 31 March 2018 A —%F—/UE=H =+—H

2018 2017
ZER )\ HF e S e S
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
g T Tt

Non-current assets i By A
Property, plant and equipment W ~ W Kt 15 121,672 54,314
Intangible assets AT & 16 206,166 2,752
Prepayments and deposits TEAT B S 4 19 2,932 707
Goodwill T 17 177,496 -
508,266 57,773

Current assets i
Inventories yeyiy 18 22,091 27,183
Trade and other receivables JHE AT Bk B At R s s TR 19 80,000 70,146
Cash and cash equivalents W4 K B4 215 ) 20 158,913 110,218
Tax recoverable T Wi [ o T 508 764
261,512 208,311
Current liabilities £ A

Trade and other payables JRE AR B B A JRE AT T 21 34,026 16,632
Contingent consideration payables R IEAT A 24 59,169 -
Promissory notes payable JREATT 7 0, 4% 26 1,491 =
Bank borrowings BRATIEEK 23 28,119 30,565
Tax payable JEAT BT 327 2,129
Provisions gt 27 1,007 1,345
124,139 50,671

Non-current liabilities | =y
Contingent consideration payables SR MEAT A 24 118,350 -
Promissory notes payable JREAS 7 56, 5% 26 9,087 -
Other borrowings HoAh 53K 23 5,500 =
Convertible bonds CEYidEes 25 310,510 =
Amounts due to non-controlling interests F'Eﬁ JE F2E I ME 75 3K B 22 1,242 1,200
Deferred tax liabilities IRAERLTE B & 28 34,215 589
478,904 1,789
Net assets B R 166,735 213,624
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i W IR DL R

As at 31 March 2018 j* & — /\4f=H =+—H

2018 2017
“R )\ S e
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
BESE T#e Tt
EQUITY RERS

Equity attributable to owners of the Company EN/NCIET DN AN
Share capital A 29(b) 5,308 5,286
Reserves fe#Atg 109,483 206,758
114,791 212,044
Non-controlling interests T A A 51,944 1,580
TOTAL EQUITY W25 4 %1 166,735 213,624

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 223 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 27 June 2018 and are signed on
its behalf by:

Chan Yan Tak
Director

e

The notes on pages 89 to 223 form an integral part of these financial statements.

F82E A3 E M A A M BRI —F — 4
ANHZ T L HZ R E S G A T >
THEREREE

Lai Wei Lam, William
HE AR

Director

#HH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

A b3 S B
LR WE AR 5

LIFS

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

Atributable to owners of the Company

AT VeSS
Retained
PRC Share  earnings/ Non-
Share Share Merger  stafutory ~ Translation option  (accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium reserve reserve Teserve Teserve losses) Total interests Equity
ity HEkE fiEneEAl/ ik
ik G [l KUBE  RRERE  (RER) it e REEE
HES'000  HES'000  HESOM0  HESON0  HES'000  HKS000  HESON  HKSO0  HES'000  HKS'000
Tt fEx  fE fE fw T Tl fEE FE T#n
(note 29 (note 29 (note 29 (note 29 (note 29
(©)) (c)i) (0)iv) (©) (c)ivi)
Mo (REw (R (K (B
(o)) (o) O 0! (o)
At] Apil 2016 RoF-REmA-H 5163 15416 (10) m (519) 6,864 41.69% 179,380 - 179380
Changes in equity for 2017; CE-LERGRE
Profitoss) for the year R/ (R e = = = e e 12746 12746 3) 11823
Other comprehensive (1oss)income; KA (Bl /i
Exchange differences on translation BEaE
offinancialstatements of g e
foreign operations Erizs - - = = (53) = = (539) U (504
Total comprehensiveincome for the year ERAEGLH - s s s (%) e 12746 12208 o) 13
Disposal of partial nterest in a subsiciary i~ BAAN R
withoutlosing control Rk EARELTL
(10ke3) AR - - - (308 ¥ - T $l 2469 330
Transaction costs attributable to the disposal HE-MHEATHMER
of partial inteest na subsidry (e 3) Felbic s ok () = = = = = = (347 () = ()
Sharesissed under share option scheme RARRRE R
(note 29(b))) (k9w 13 3,468 - - - (3419) - 20,7 - 20,17
Share options lapsed e 5 5 5 5 S (3:445) 3445 = = =
At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 9t ey =
ZE-LEmA-R 5,280 148,884 (10) 46 (692) - S8114 104 1,580 1364
Changes in equity for 2018: - \EERES:
Loss forthe year ERER - - - - - - (1an () 530 (14748)
Other compehensive income: JlbzmlE -
Exchange differences on translation HanaLy
of financial statements of BN
foreign operations EfER = - - - il - - a0 250 670
Totalcomprehensive los forthe year ERAEERSH - - 5 = ] - ) (28 (144078)
Equiy-setled share-based paymens DR BRI R R 2T - - - 5 = 2990 = 2990 = 929
Non-controlling nterests arising on LEANE RS
business combinations (note 31) (Wea1) - - - = = = = = 55,645 55,045
Sharesisted upon conversion o REGTREEA R
convertible bonds (note 29(b)ii)) (Jk2000) i) n 1228 - - - - - 12254 - 12254
At31 March 2018 RF-NE=A=1-H 5308 161,116 (10) 46 ()] 2.9 (BL103) 114791 51,94 166,735

The notes on pages 89 to 223 form an integral part of these financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

o Bl R

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % —&— /\4FE=H =+ —H IL4F

2018 2017
&)\ 4R R LA
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
i Tt THTT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES FiS -
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRBL AT (E5i8) i A (142,056) 15,640
Adjustments for: AR & PR
Finance costs il R A 3(c) 8,574 716
Write-down of inventories o F & 18(b) 9,773 4,961
Reversal of write-down of inventories SO AT & 13 ] 18(b) (4,557) (2,012)
Depreciation on property, plant and W2~ WRIE R T
equipment 15 6,950 4,633
Amortisation of intangible assets ST Y i 6 16 6,102 143
Impairment loss of trade receivables JRE A HE U e 18 19(b) - 23
Bank interest income SRATRLE A 7 (21) (43)
Net loss on disposal of property, e - WS
plant and equipment R R AE 7 169 230
Fair value change of convertible bonds IR SR A TEEE) 25 57,764 -
Fair value change of contingent AR EATH A A THE 5 )
consideration payables 24 9,264 -
Fair value change of promissory JREAS 7R 50, B 41 /ST 3 )
notes payable 26 447 -
Equity-settled share-based payments DA RRHE 65 55 LU 003 S A 2 Bl =2 8(a) 29,290 -
Transaction costs arising from AT IR S5
the issuance of convertible bonds JEE A 2 38 5 AR 25 15,026 -
Provisions for goods return IREHHE 27 609 932
(2,666) 25,283
Changes in working capital HEE )
Increase in inventories EEHIm (124) (9,823)
Increase in trade and other receivables JRRE WA S R e A JRE WAk T 3 o (12,601) (13,918)
(Decrease)/increase in trade and JRE A B B HCA RS
other payables (b)), #8 (403) 647
Increase in amounts due to non-controlling JREAST J i TR 2 s JEL 38 o
interests 42 =
Utilisation of provisions for goods return BB 27 (947) (1,158)
CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED (IR, /K 588 R B 4
FROM OPERATIONS (16,699) 1,031
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded [BREE T IEEY ) 680 3,930
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid CHAE B (5,578) (879)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax refunded [RREL T e S 7 -
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid O 4 b o A 3 T AR (190) (519)
Net cash (used in)/generated (), 2K B 588 355 B 4 T
from operating activities (21,780) 3,563
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

o Bl e E R

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE
2018 2017
TR )4 R LA
Note HK$’000 HK$’000
i Tt TFHIT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BEES)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment MR ~ W Bkt 15 (5,452) (4,798)
Proceeds from sale of property, SHEYZE - B KA
plant and equipment IREE s 351 2
Purchase of intangible assets s B T 16 = (2,200)
Bank interest received E SR T A 7 21 43
Withdrawal of bank deposits with maturity PEICEN I H Z 0% =0 H
greater than three months AIERITAE 3R - 10,156
Deposits paid for potential acquisition TR A 4 - (5,000)
Net cash outflow from business combinations, 2454 2 B &0 H 4 »
net of cash acquired FOBR TS 4 31 (115,861) =
Net cash outflow from acquisition of assets 75 4 ST T 2 WD A e 2
through acquisition of subsidiaries B4 i T 4R 32 (61,000) =
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING JRIF A 47 ) Y B e v A
ACTIVITIES (181,941) (1,797)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il 4% T
Repayment of bank borrowings TR ERAT 15 B (7,813) (30,209)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings HTERT ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ 15HIA 5,367 25,513
Proceeds from other borrowings HoAth A 3T A5 3K 5,500 -
Interest paid EATFLE (1,283) (776)
Proceeds from shares issued under share *Eﬁ?ﬁﬁ%ﬂﬁ% FTE AT
option scheme B 5 3K E 29(b)(i) - 20,172
Proceeds from partial disposal of equity interest 543 H B — [ B J&§ 28 =) A 2.
in a subsidiary, net of transaction costs BT EIE > FOBRAC 5 A 33 - 2,753
Proceeds from assignment of shareholder’s loan ¢ 5% B & G T IF P22 A ME 25 (1)
to a non-controlling interest JRES e 33 — 1,200
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds, BEAT A AR M S T A R H
net of transaction costs R3S LA 249,974 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM 2 il B P B < R A
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 251,745 18,653
NET INCREASE IN CASH Bl T Bl AU g
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 48,024 20,419
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [iFE 2 535 88l (1Y) 5 2 671 (522)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AR B 4 % B A S
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 110,218 90,321
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS R BL & R Bl Y
AT END OF YEAR 20(a) 158,913 110,218

The notes on pages 89 to 223 form an integral part
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (formerly known as “RM Group
Holdings Limited”) (the “Company”) was incorporated and domiciled in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability on 5 December 2011. The address of its registered
office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman,
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The Company has established a principal place
of business in Hong Kong at Unit A, 12/F, Guangdong Investment Tower,
148 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong and has been registered as a non-
Hong Kong company under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance on 5
April 2012. The Company’s issued shares have been listed on the GEM of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since
11 October 2013. On 20 November 2015, the listing of the shares of the
Company has been transferred from the GEM to the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (the “Transfer of Listing”).

Pursuant to a special resolution passed by the shareholders of the Company
on 5 January 2018, the Company’s name was changed from “RM Group
Holdings Limited” to “Shunten International (Holdings) Limited” with
effect from 9 January 2018.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products
in Hong Kong, Taiwan and the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”),
provision of online advertising agency business, online payment business,

e-commerce promotion business and game distribution business.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE

2,

90

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all
applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”),
which collective term includes all applicable individual Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), accounting principles
generally accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. These financial statements
also comply with the applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). Significant accounting policies

adopted by the Group are disclosed below.

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs which
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the Group. Note 3 provides information on any
changes in accounting policies resulting from the initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
Group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in these
financial statements.

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2018 comprise the Company and its subsidiaries.

Items included in the financial statements of each entity in the
Group are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (the “functional currency”).
These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
(“HK$”), rounded to the nearest thousand except for per share data.
HKS is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation

currency.

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the financial
statements is the historical cost basis except for contingent
consideration payables, promissory notes payable and convertible
bonds which are stated at their fair value as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\{F=H =+ —H IL4FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Basis of preparation of the financial statements
(Continued)

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs
requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and various other
factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances,
the results of which form the basis of making the judgements about
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the
revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs that
have a significant effect on the financial statements and key sources of
estimation uncertainty are discussed in note 5.

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. The Group controls
an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns
through its power over the entity. When assessing whether the Group
has power, only substantive rights (held by the Group and other

parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the
date that control ceases. Intra-group balances, transactions and cash
flows and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group transactions
are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains but only to the

extent that there is no evidence of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE

2,

92

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0

Subsidiaries and non-controlling interests (Continued)
Non-controlling interests represent the equity in a subsidiary not
attributable directly or indirectly to the Company, and in respect of
which the Group has not agreed any additional terms with the holders
of those interests which would result in the Group as a whole having
a contractual obligation in respect of those interests that meets the
definition of a financial liability.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated statement
of financial position within equity, separately from equity attributable
to the owners of the Company. Non-controlling interests in the results
of the Group are presented on the face of the consolidated statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as an allocation of
the total profit or loss and total comprehensive income for the year
between non-controlling interests and the owners of the Company.
Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even if
this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.
Loans from holders of non-controlling interests and other contractual
obligations towards these holders are presented as financial liabilities
in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in a subsidiary that do not result in
a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions, whereby
adjustments are made to the amounts of controlling and non-
controlling interests within consolidated equity to reflect the change
in the relative interests, but no adjustments are made to goodwill and
no gain or loss is recognised.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it is accounted for as
a disposal of the entire interest in that subsidiary, with a resulting
gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. Any interest retained
in that former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is recognised
at fair value and this amount is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition of a financial asset or, when appropriate, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or joint venture.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(j)),
unless the investment is classified as held for sale (or included in a

disposal group that is classified as held for sale).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of the
acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the Group,
liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in
profit or loss as incurred.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities related
to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes and HKAS 19
Employee Benefits respectively;

. liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based payment
arrangements of the Group entered into to replace share-
based payment arrangements of the acquiree are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the

acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in
accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance with
that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity
interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed as at acquisition date.
If, after re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest in
the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in profit or
loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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2.

94

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(d)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured either at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate
share of the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net
assets or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on
a transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling

interests are measured at their fair value.

Where the consideration transferred by the Group in a business
combination includes assets or liabilities resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement (including the contingent consideration
payables and promissory notes payable), the contingent consideration
is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and included as part of
the consideration transferred in a business combination. Changes
in the fair value of the contingent consideration that qualify as
measurement period adjustments are adjusted retrospectively, with
the corresponding adjustments against goodwill. Measurement period
adjustments are adjustments that arise from additional information
obtained during the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one
year from the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that

existed at the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for the contingent consideration that
do not qualify as measurement period adjustments depends on how
the contingent consideration is classified. Contingent consideration
that is classified as equity is not remeasured at subsequent reporting
dates and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.
Contingent consideration that is classified as an asset or a liability
is remeasured to fair value at subsequent reporting dates, with the

corresponding gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

®

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such

treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete
by the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. Those provisional amounts are adjusted
during the measurement period (see above), and additional assets or
liabilities are recognised, to reflect new information obtained about
facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if

known, would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Acquisition of a subsidiary not constituting a business

When the Group acquires a group of assets and liabilities that do
not constitute a business, the Group identifies and recognises the
individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed by
allocating the purchase price first to the financial assets and financial
liabilities at the respective fair values, the remaining balance of the
purchase price is then allocated to the other individual identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative fair values at the
date of purchase. Such a transaction does not give rise to goodwill or

bargain purchase gain.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated
depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses (see
note 2(j)(ii)).
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,
plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any, using

the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as follows:

— leasehold land classified as held under finance leases is

depreciated over the unexpired term of lease.

— buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over the
shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their estimated
useful lives, being no more than 50 years after the date of
completion.

= Leasehold improvements 20%—-33% per annum or over

the lease term, if shorter

— Plant and machinery 30%—-33% per annum

— Furniture, fixtures and 20%-33% per annum
equipment
— Motor vehicles 20%-30% per annum
Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of the item is allocated on a reasonable
basis between the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Both
the useful life of an asset and its residual value, if any, are reviewed

annually.

Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items. Cost may also include transfers from
equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges of foreign

currency purchases of property, plant and equipment.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The
carrying amount of any component accounted for as a separate asset
is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised in profit or loss during the reporting period in which they

are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

®)

(8

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement or

disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately
are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible assets
with finite useful lives is recognised on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives. The estimated useful life and amortisation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the
effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.

The following intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortised
from the date they are available for use and their estimated useful
lives are as follows:

— Product development rights 7 years
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure

Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Internally-generated intangible assets — research and
development expenditure (Continued)

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been
demonstrated:

— the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so
that it will be available for use or sale;

— the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;

— the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;

—  how the intangible asset will generate probable future
economic benefits;

—  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the
intangible asset; and

—  the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to
the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
assets is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses, on the same basis as intangible assets
that are acquired separately.

Intangible assets acquired in business combinations

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are recognised
separately from goodwill and are initially recognised at their fair
value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at cost less
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses, on the
same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately. Intangible
assets acquired in a business combination with indefinite useful
lives are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated impairment
losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in business combinations (Continued)

Customer relationship

Customer relationship acquired in a business combination
are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Customer
relationship has a finite useful life and are carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method of 5 years over the expected life of the
customer relationship.

Licensing agreements

Licensing agreements acquired in the business combinations
represent (i) the licensing agreement with finite useful life in
respect of the rights to deal with gd.qq.com as the exclusive
and sole advertising agency in Hong Kong for the operation
of the online advertising agency business and (ii) the licensing
agreement with indefinite life for authorising the Group to be
one of the online payment service providers in Hong Kong for
the operation of online payment business.

The licensing agreement with finite useful life acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the
straight-line method of 6 years over the expected life of the

licensing agreement.

The licensing agreement with indefinite life acquired in
a business combination is recognised at fair value at the
acquisition date and is subsequently carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses. The licensing agreement with
indefinite life has no foreseeable limit to the period over which
the Group can use to generate net cash flows. As a result, the
licensing agreement with indefinite life is considered by the
management of the Group as having an indefinite useful life
because they are expected to contribute to net cash inflows
indefinitely. The licensing agreement with indefinite life will
not be amortised until their useful lives are determined to be
finite. Instead they will be tested for impairment annually and
whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(g

(h)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Club membership

Club membership with indefinite useful life is stated at cost less any
impairment losses. Impairment is reviewed annually or when there is
any indication that the club membership has suffered an impairment
loss.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

Derecognition of intangible assets

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost as
established at the date of acquisition of the business less accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the
combination, which represent the lowest level at which the goodwill
is monitored for internal management purposes and not larger than an
operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which
goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently whenever there is indication that the unit may be impaired.
For goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-
generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to which goodwill
has been allocated is tested for impairment before the end of that
reporting period. If the recoverable amount is less than its carrying
amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit (or group of
cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating unit
within group of cash-generating units in which the Group monitors
goodwill).
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leased assets

An arrangement, comprising a transaction or a series of transactions,

(@)

is or contains a lease if the Group determines that the arrangement

conveys a right to use a specific asset or assets for an agreed period

of time in return for a payment or a series of payments. Such a
determination is made based on an evaluation of the substance of the
arrangement and is regardless of whether the arrangement takes the
legal form of a lease.

@)

(ii)

Classification of assets leased to the Group

Assets held by the Group under leases which transfer to the
Group substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are
classified as being held under finance leases. Leases which do
not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership
to the Group are classified as operating leases, with the
following exception:

— land held for own use under an operating lease, the
fair value of which cannot be measured separately
from the fair value of a building situated thereon at the
inception of the lease, is accounted for as being held
under a finance lease, unless the building is also clearly
held under an operating lease. For these purposes, the
inception of the lease is the time that the lease was
first entered into by the Group, or taken over from the
previous lessee.

Operating lease charges

Where the Group has the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases are charged to profit or
loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis is more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit
or loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
made. Contingent rentals are charged as expenses in the
accounting period in which they are incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

102

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)
(i) Leased assets (Continued)

(iii) Leasehold land and buildings held for own use

When the Group makes payments for a property interest which
includes both leasehold land and building elements, the Group
assesses the classification of each element separately based
on the assessment as to whether substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of each element have been
transferred to the Group, unless it is clear that both elements are
operating leases in which case the entire property is accounted
as an operating lease. Specifically, the entire consideration
(including any lump sum upfront payments) are allocated
between the leasehold land and the building elements in
proportion to the relative fair values of the leasehold interests

in the land element and building element at initial recognition.

To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can be
made reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for
as an operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments”
in the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When the
payments cannot be allocated reliably between the leasehold
land and building elements, the entire property is generally

classified as if the leasehold land is under finance lease.

(j) Impairment of assets

(i)  Impairment of trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables that are stated at cost or amortised
cost are reviewed at the end of each reporting period to
determine whether there is objective evidence of impairment.
Objective evidence of impairment includes observable data

that comes to the attention of the Group about one or more of

the following loss events:
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B 55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2.  SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2., FEGGHEEK ()

(CONTINUED)
(j) Impairment of assets (Continued) G) BEEWE ()
(i)  Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued) ) EWHE K B LAl MK T 1 0 (e
(#)
—  significant financial difficulty of the debtor; b DN N s A
#
—  abreach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in —  HEA > W AT o
interest or principal payments; KA EBA B
— it becoming probable that the debtor will enter — B AT ] BE ik E S

bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; and

—  significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse

effect on the debtor.

If any such evidence exists, impairment loss is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial
asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest
rate computed at initial recognition of these assets), where
the effect of discounting is material. This assessment is made
collectively where these financial assets share similar risk
characteristics, such as similar past due status, and have not
been individually assessed as impaired. Future cash flows for
financial assets which are assessed for impairment collectively
are based on historical loss experience for assets with credit

risk characteristics similar to the collective group.

If in a subsequent period the amount of an impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be linked objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. A reversal
of an impairment loss shall not result in the asset’s carrying
amount exceeding that which would have been determined had

no impairment loss been recognised in prior years.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

104

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

@

)

(i)

Impairment of trade and other receivables (Continued)

Impairment losses are written off against the corresponding
assets directly, except for impairment losses recognised in
respect of trade receivables included within trade and other
receivables, whose recovery is considered doubtful but not
remote. In this case, the impairment losses for doubtful debts
are recorded using an allowance account. When the Group
is satisfied that recovery is remote, the amount considered
irrecoverable is written off against trade receivables directly
and any amounts held in the allowance account relating to
that debt are reversed. Subsequent recoveries of amounts
previously charged to the allowance account are reversed
against the allowance account. Other changes in the allowance
account and subsequent recoveries of amounts previously

written off directly are recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer

exists or may have decreased:

—  property, plant and equipment;

—_ intangible assets;

—  goodwill; and

—  investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement

of financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount
is estimated. In addition, for goodwill, intangible assets that
are not yet available for use and intangible assets that have
indefinite useful lives, the recoverable amount is estimated

annually whether or not there is any indication of impairment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B 55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(j) Impairment of assets (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of other assets (Continued)

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. Where an asset does not generate cash
inflows largely independent of those from other assets, the
recoverable amount is determined for the smallest group of
assets that generates cash inflows independently (i.e., a cash-

generating unit).

Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss whenever
the carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit to
which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment
losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
allocated to the cash-generating unit (or group of units) and
then, to reduce the carrying amount of the other assets in the
unit (or group of units) on a pro rata basis, except that the
carrying amount of an asset will not be reduced below its
individual fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable) or

value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment loss is
reversed if there has been a favourable change in the estimates
used to determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss

in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals of
impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the year in

which the reversals are recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

106

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(k)

Impairment of assets (Continued)

(iti)  Interim financial reporting and impairment
Under the Listing Rules, the Group is required to prepare an
interim financial report in compliance with HKAS 34, Interim
Financial Reporting, in respect of the first six months of the
financial year. At the end of the interim period, the Group
applies the same impairment testing, recognition, and reversal
criteria as it would at the end of the financial year (see notes

2(j)(i) and (ii)).

Impairment losses recognised in an interim period in respect of
goodwill carried at cost are not reversed in a subsequent period.
This is the case even if no loss, or a smaller loss, would have
been recognised had the impairment been assessed only at the

end of the financial year to which the interim period relates.

Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out method and comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in

bringing the inventories to their present location and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the

estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those inventories
is recognised as an expense in the period in which the related revenue
is recognised. The amount of any write-down of inventories to net
realisable value and all losses of inventories are recognised as an
expense in the period the write-down or loss occurs. The amount
of any reversal of any write-down of inventories is recognised as a
reduction in the amount of inventories recognised as an expense in the

period in which the reversal occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

()

(m)

(n)

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are initially recognised at fair value
and thereafter stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method, less allowance for impairment of doubtful debts, except
where the receivables are interest-free loans made to related parties
without any fixed repayment terms or the effect of discounting would
be immaterial. In such cases, the receivables are stated at cost less

allowance for impairment of doubtful debts (see note 2(j)(i)).

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value
less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost with any
difference between the amount initially recognised and redemption
value being recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
borrowings, together with any interest and fees payable, using the
effective interest method.

Trade and other payables
Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value and are
subsequently stated at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting

would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

108

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(0)

(p)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk
of changes in value, having been within three months of maturity at
acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management are also included
as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the

consolidated statement of cash flows.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds include a conversion option that will or may not
be settled other than by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s ordinary
shares and accordingly the conversion option does not meet the
definition of an equity instrument. Further, the convertible bonds
include early redemption options exercisable by the Company or the
bondholders.

With these embedded derivatives that are not considered related
to the host debt component, management decided to designate the
convertible bonds as a whole as at financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition. At the end of subsequent
reporting periods, the convertible bonds are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise. Transaction costs relating to the issuance

of the convertible bonds is charged to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q) Employee benefits

@)

(i)

Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these

amounts are stated at their present values.

Equity-settled share-based payments

Share options granted to eligible employees

The fair value of share options granted to employees is
recognised as an employee cost with a corresponding
increase in share option reserve within equity. The fair value
is measured at grant date using the binomial lattice model,
taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the
options were granted. Where the employees have to meet
vesting conditions before becoming unconditionally entitled
to the share options, the total estimated fair value of the share
options is spread over the vesting period, taking into account

the probability that the options will vest.

During the vesting period, the number of share options
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/
credited to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless
the original employee expenses qualify for recognition as an
asset, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve. On vesting date, the amount recognised as an expense
is adjusted to reflect the actual number of share options that
vest (with a corresponding adjustment to the share option
reserve) except where forfeiture is only due to not achieving
vesting conditions that relate to the market price of the
Company’s shares. When share options are exercised, the
amount previously recognised in share option reserve will
be transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share option

reserve will be transferred to retained earnings.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(q)

(r)

(s)

Employee benefits (Continued)
(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of these benefits and
when it recognises restructuring costs involving the payment of

termination benefits.

Equity-settled share-based payments for share options
granted to eligible participant other than employees

Share options issued in exchange for services are measured at the
fair values of the services received, unless that fair value cannot be
reliably measured, in which case the services received are measured
by reference to the fair value of the share options granted. The fair
values of the services received are recognised as expenses, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share option reserve), when the
counterparties render the services, unless the services qualify for

recognition as assets.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss
except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or directly in equity, respectively.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the
year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of

previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from

unused tax losses and unused tax credits.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2,

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that future
taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be
utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may support the
recognition of deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences include those that will arise from the reversal of existing
taxable temporary differences, provided that those differences relate
to the same taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are
expected to reverse either in the same period as the expected reversal
of the deductible temporary differences or in periods into which a tax
loss arising from the deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward.
The same criteria are adopted when determining whether existing
taxable temporary differences support the recognition of deferred
tax assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same taxation
authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse in a

period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that,
in the case of taxable differences, the Group controls the timing of the
reversal and it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible differences, unless it is

probable that they will reverse in the future.

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on the
expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying amount
of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets and

liabilities are not discounted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

112

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(s)

Income tax (Continued)

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow the
related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction is reversed to the
extent that it becomes probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of dividends
are recognised when the liability to pay the related dividends is

recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not offset.
Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities, and
deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the Company or
the Group has the legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the following additional conditions

are met:

—  in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the Company or
the Group intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the

asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

—  in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they relate to

income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either:

— the same taxable entity; or

— different taxable entities, which, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities
or assets are expected to be settled or recovered,
intend to realise the current tax assets and settle the
current tax liabilities on a net basis or realise and settle

simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B 55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

(t)
(®)

(i)

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Contingent liabilities assumed in business combinations

Contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination
which are present obligations at the date of acquisition are
initially recognised at fair value, provided the fair value can be
reliably measured. After their initial recognition at fair value,
such contingent liabilities are recognised at the higher of the
amount initially recognised, less accumulated amortisation
where appropriate, and the amount that would be determined
in accordance with note 2(t)(ii). Contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination that cannot be reliably fair valued
or were not present obligations at the date of acquisition are

disclosed in accordance with note 2(t)(ii).

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is
probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required
to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made.
Where the time value of money is material, provisions are
stated at the present value of the expenditure expected to settle
the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of an outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2.

114

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition

(u)

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received

or receivable. Provided it is probable that the economic benefits will

flow to the Group and the revenue and costs, if applicable, can be

measured reliably, revenue is recognised in profit or loss as follows:

)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

Sale of health and beauty supplements and products

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risk
and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recognised after value-
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts and net of sales return.

Provision of Chinese medical consultation services
Income from provision of Chinese medical consultation

services is recognised when services are rendered.

Provision of health food processing services
Income from provision of health food processing services is

recognised when services are rendered.

Income from online advertising agency business
Income from online advertising agency business is recognised

when the advertising agency services are rendered.

Income from online payment business
Income from online payment business is recognised on a trade

date basis when the relevant transactions are executed.

Annual Report 2017/2018 4§k

2. FEEHEBOR(H)

(w) WesswERR
Wz 5 4% Bl A s I AR 1 A
EREE o i &8T5 34 45 ] e T A AR 4
o DL RS AT 5 A R M AR
(T8 ) IRF > Wiess ARGE T 9 vk e IR
5 N TERE

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

5 B AR el T SE 1l i 2 i
R BAEEEF R (E
J5 BRI 4R i B o DA B B A
PHE R i B [ S ) T i
A o WSCAR A 11 R B SE B B A
845 BLSATAT - 5 I 40 R AT BR
R B AR TERD -

1R AT IR
A o RS E TR 5 Y WA A
PEAR S RERERR. -

TR F it 0 LR
PRAE R £ o TR A
WA BRI RS AR

AR A OB B BTN
A B A AR BE S Y WA R
B 5 AR IR 5 IR R o

BREZARBEAIUA
B L ST S B WA TR HEAT A
B 22 5y WR7 4% 28 B 1300 4 YEE il

i o



Vs s
. 8

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.

% 3 S0 05 A M

iz N

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

()
(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from e-commerce promotion business

Income from e-commerce promotion business primarily
comprised of commission income and revenue from
merchandise sales. Commission income are recognised for
transactions where the Group is not the primary obligor,
is not subject to inventory risk, and does not have latitude
in establishing prices and selecting suppliers. Commission
income are recognised on a net basis which is based on a fixed
percentage of the sales amount. Revenue from merchandise
sales and related costs are recognised on a gross basis when the

Group acts as a principal.

Commission income and revenue from merchandise sales are
recognised when the customer has accepted the goods and the

related risks and rewards of ownership.

Income from game distribution business

Revenue is recognised when goods are delivered at the
customers’ premises which is taken to be the point in time
when the customer has accepted the goods and the related risk
and rewards of ownership. Revenue is recognised after value-
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts and net of sales return.

Interest income
Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective

interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

2,

116

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

)

Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated at the
foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period.

Exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are stated at
fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates ruling at the

dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Statement of financial
position items are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the closing
foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The
resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the translation

reserve.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the Group’s
entire interest in a foreign operation, a disposal involving loss of
control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, or a
partial disposal of an interest in an associate that includes a foreign
operation of which the retained interest becomes a financial asset), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified to

profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate share of accumulated
exchange differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and
are not recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e.
partial disposals of associates that do not result in the Group losing
significant influence), the proportionate share of the accumulated

exchange differences is reclassified to profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

(w) Borrowing costs

(x)

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are
capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing costs are

expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

The capitalisation of borrowing costs as part of the cost of a
qualifying asset commences when expenditure for the asset is
being incurred, borrowing costs are being incurred and activities
that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale
are in progress. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is suspended or
ceases when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare
the qualifying asset for its intended use or sale are interrupted or

complete.

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is related

to the Group if that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii)  has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

Group or the Group’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)  The entity and the Group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii))  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B B 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2. FEFFHBOR(4)
(CONTINUED)
(x) Related parties (Continued) (x) PBA#EN (8)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following (b)  MEFFE T IE G o BIE S

conditions applies: (Continued)

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management

personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Group or to the Group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members
who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in
their dealings with the entity.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 2, HEEEBOR(H)
(CONTINUED)
(y) Segment reporting (y) Zricas
Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item KR53 0 B PA R 4R 3R T 2 R A% 43 BT 0H
reported in the financial statements, are identified from the financial H R > G M ALl 2 %
information provided regularly to the Group’s chief operating RUBPORAE (T ERAEPORE |) et
decision maker (“CODM?”) for the purposes of allocating resources O RS R PR - DA ASSE I 4500
to, and assessing the performance of, the Group’s various lines of %%%&%@%iﬂlﬁiﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁﬂ&%ﬁiﬁ
business and geographical locations. APA o
Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for TEATE R b > R A A R 48
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar NIRRT BEFE > BRIFABYEE
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature of BRI S B o HLRE o IR
products and services, the nature of production processes, the type B EE TR FFER -
or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the products or T i AR M R B 9 7 0 DA % B R A
provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory environment. PR A Rl - *ﬁﬁﬁ;fi—ﬁjﬁﬂg
Operating segments which are not individually material may be @Eu %ﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁiﬁﬁ&lﬁ[ﬁﬁ%iﬁj{%ﬁﬁ
aggregated if they share a majority of these criteria. BRI AT RIS -
3. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 3. i I 7 T B #8 16 5T 75 i B4 5 ik

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
The HKICPA has issued several amendments to HKFRSs that are first
effective for the current accounting period of the Group. None of these
impact on the accounting policies of the Group. However, additional
disclosure has been included in note 20(b) to satisfy the new disclosure
requirements introduced by the amendments to HKAS 7, Statement of Cash
Flows: Disclosure Initiative, which require entities to provide disclosures
that enable users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both changes arising from cash

flows and non-cash changes.

The Group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that is not yet

effective for the current accounting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B B 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. s E K AR B R B A 1 R
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES
(a) Financial instruments by categories (a) MBELTHSHE
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial A5 A T L A s U0 2R A MR T £
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: T
As at 31 March 2018 BT )E=ZH=+—H
Financial assets Vg 3=v
Loans and
receivables Total
R I WO I At
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#T T#T
Financial assets included in T TR 3 R L A R
“trade and other receivables” I 1 P 59,497 59,497
Cash and cash equivalents 4 LI S5 EY) 158,913 158,913
218,410 218,410
Financial liabilities RIE A 1%
Financial
liabilities at fair Financial
value through liabilities at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
VLA AR R 2 FEHR 89 AR
NIREIM B R BRI 5 R AR At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#E T#x T#T
Financial liabilities included in FEA THEAT RS K
“trade and other payables” HC A JRE A 3T 1Y
WHs AR - 33,418 33,418
Contingent consideration payables SRS U 177,519 - 177,519
Promissory notes payable JREAH 7 8 S 4 10,578 = 10,578
Bank borrowings RATIE R - 28,119 28,119
Other borrowings HoA 18 5% = 5,500 5,500
Convertible bonds GRS e 310,510 = 310,510
Amounts due to non-controlling JEAST I I RE 4 AR TR
interests - 1,242 1,242
498,607 68,279 566,886
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b)

Financial instruments by categories (Continued)
As at 31 March 2017

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)

(a) BT R4 (4)
RoZbE=A=+—H

Financial assets BB =
Loans and
receivables Total
B ISR st
HK$’000 HK$°000
T Tt
Financial assets included in T T S SR S At R WS T D 1)
“trade and other receivables” BB G 45,972 45,972
Cash and cash equivalents B4 LI E&5EY 110,218 110,218
156,190 156,190
Financial liabilities A
Financial

liabilities at

amortised cost Total
B HR 1) BA 5 B A HEt
HK$’000 HK$’000
THETT THETT

Financial liabilities included in FIAT B AT AR L Al AT 35T I
“trade and other payables” A E 16,632 16,632
Bank borrowings SRATE & 30,565 30,565
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREAST I P22 JE R 5 3 T 1,200 1,200
48,397 48,397

Financial risk management and policies

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
credit risk, liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk arising
from financial instruments. The Group’s exposure to these risks and
the financial risk management policies and practices used by the

Group to manage these risks are described below.

(b) B I a4 B S B SR
7% 4 [ W T LT A ) R R R A
B T HE A ERER - RBESE
JEBR ~ 2 B R R B o AR 4
TR 1A T L % A 4 ) sl 3 3%
i g JT B P F B 5 S 5 BRI
T BIHFNT o
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

2%

(b)
(U]

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default
on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the
Group. The Group has adopted a policy of merely dealing with
creditworthy counterparties as a means of mitigating the risk of

financial loss from defaults.

In respect of trade and other receivables, in order to minimise
risk, the management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are monitored on an ongoing
basis. Credit evaluations of the financial position and condition
of the customers and debtors of the Group are performed on all
customers and debtors requiring credit over a certain amount.
Debtors with overdue balances, which will be reviewed on
a case-by-case basis, are requested to settle all outstanding
balances before any further credit is granted. Normally, the

Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

In respect of trade and other receivables, the Group’s
exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual
characteristics of each customer and debtor. The default risk of
the industry and country in which customers operate also has
an influence on credit risk. At the end of the reporting period,
the Group has certain concentrations of credit risk of 59%
(2017: 55%) of the total trade and other receivables was due
from the Group’s largest customer and 60% (2017: 57%) of the
total trade and other receivables was due from the Group’s five

largest customers respectively.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group’s
exposure of credit risk arising from trade and other receivables

are set out in note 19.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(i)

Liquidity risk

Individual operating entities within the Group are responsible
for their own cash management, including the raising of loans
to cover expected cash demands, subject to Board approval.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements and its compliance with lending covenants to
ensure that it maintains sufficient amount of cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from major financial institutions to

meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

The following tables set out the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the Group’s
non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial
liabilities based on contractual undiscounted cash flows
(including interest payments computed using contractual rates
or, if floating, based on rates current at the end of the reporting

period) and the earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

4. w5 LB A BE R B A B R (4
(b) I 285 R e 5 B % B (490)

(ii)

T B 58 B
ARAEHE T 4 S ElAALT
BEHR S MIFEEEHR
AT L B4 5 2 MEZH R A
FE M o AL BOR B E
9 55 SR B A T R DA B R
PRS- WEORA SR
A FoA B RS B
R R AL A R A 0 L
JREARH S 30 % = 408 0 L ) <
3k o

BRI AR E R FE AT
WA AR AT AR B B BRI
SR B R B A 2B DL
%55 B BRI AR A A R G
BB & & (45 LUE & 27
(B > IR R
*Mﬁﬁﬂﬁ%ﬁ%ﬂgﬁ

B A 45 B 7R A5 KRG e B H
%%%Eo
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. T B A BE K A 9 (4
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued) (b) HA% R\ B A B R B (55)
(ii)  Liquidity risk (Continued) (i) JRE) S ()
As at 31 March 2018 N oE - NFE=H=F—H
More than ~ More than Total
1 year 2years contractual
Within but less but less undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1year than2years thanS5years cash flows amount
FRIARMEB

Bl ERWE  BSHE
B3k —HER HOREWE EARAE A Hmf
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
T Tt Tt T T T

Financial liabilities included in 71 A [ AT ek L HoAl
“trade and other payables” A5 L I A

At - 33418 - - 33,418 33418
Bank borrowings TR 28,119 = = = 28,119 28,119
Other borrowings oAl {3k = 110 275 5,775 6,160 5,500
Convertible bonds AT = 8,174 270,300 = 278,474 310,510
Amounts due to non-controlling 15 JF 2 FREHE £ 2H
interests - - 1,242 - 1,242 1,242
28,119 41,702 271,817 5,775 347,413 378,789
As at 31 March 2017 WoE—bFE=H=+—H
More than More than Total
lyearbut ~ 2yearsbut  contractual
Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount
BHIRMB
Bl EEmE BeNE
JEE K —ER HOREE  EORIE A MR (E

HKS'000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$000
T T T T T T

Financial liabilities AR TRESTHEa B o
included in “trade and JREASH T I A

other payables” =0 = 16,632 = = 16,632 16,632
Bank borrowings WATIHE 30,565 = = = 30,565 30,565
Amount due to a non- JREASH I 4 A 5

controlling interest - - 1,200 - 1,200 1,200

30,565 16,632 1,200 - 48,397 48,397
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Interest rate risk

(i)

(ii)

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)

(b) B\ B4 B R BOR (48)
(iii)  FFE fE

Interest rate profile i) FIEMU
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk A% 4 [ S At A 3K
in relation to fixed rate other borrowings (note 23), (FfF5¥23) ~ af $ % 1E 2
convertible bonds (note 25) and promissory notes (B 5E25) B EAST 7K 5o 2
payable (note 26). The management considered that 5 (B35 26) 1 B & E
the risk is insignificant as the amounts are carried at M AR B o R %5
amortised cost. B AT IR > &
P 8 B A B R R I OR
iy
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate risk A H RV SR AT BL
in relation to variable rate cash at bank (note 20) and 4 (M sE20) i B R 1T
variable rate bank borrowings (note 23). The following A (Rt 23) T Bl B 4
table details the interest rate profile of the Group’s s < N 5
financial assets and liabilities with variable interest rates e A 45 | 1) V7 B S &
at the end of the reporting period: B R B AR i R 1Y
FIZAR DL
2018 2017
ZE N\ TAE A
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Variable interest rates: #A
Financial assets B
Cash at bank WITH & 158,820 110,139
158,820 110,139
Financial liabilities AR
Bank borrowings SRITIHE 28,119 30,565
28,119 30,565
Net FE 130,701 79,574
Sensitivity analysis (i) BB HT

At 31 March 2018, if interest rates had been 100 basis
point higher with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s loss after tax would have decreased by
HK$1,099,000 (2017: profit after tax would have
increased by HK$673,000).

At 31 March 2018, if interest rate had been 100 basis
point lower with all other variables held constant,
the Group’s loss after tax would have increased by
HK$1,099,000 (2017: profit after tax would have
decreased by HK$673,000).

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

W oE - NE=H
=+ —H > fiFR LW
10018 2 B > 75 fr A H
il 53 £ £ HF R 58 1 15 I
o AR 4R Y BR B AR
554 38 4 1,099,000 # 7T
(= F—-L4E  BBEL
)51 14 T1673,0008 7€) -

W E - NE=H
=t—H MAETH
10018 % 8 > 78 fr A H
il 5 £ ff HF R 58 1 I
o ALEHP BB E
5 4% 14 11,099,000 # T
(= F—-L4E  BBAL
536 673,0008 ) -
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

126

(b)

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Interest rate risk (Continued)

(ii)

(iv)
(i)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

The decrease/increase in the loss after tax (2017: the
increase/decrease in profit after tax) results mainly
from higher/lower interest income from cash at bank
and lower/higher interest expense on bank borrowings.
Other components of equity would not be significantly

affected by the changes in interest rates.

The sensitivity analysis above indicates the exposure
to cash flow interest rate risk arising from floating rate
non-derivative instruments held by the Group at the end

of the reporting period.

Currency risk

Exposure to currency risk

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy
with respect to the foreign exchange exposure. The
Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases which give rise to receivables
and payables and cash balances that are denominated
in a foreign currency, i.e. a currency other than the
functional currency of the operations to which the
transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollars (“USD”), Renminbi
(“RMB”) and HKS.

In order to manage and minimise the foreign currency
risk, the management will continue to manage and
monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and

effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A £ B 55 R B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b)
(iv)
()

Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Exposure to currency risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised assets or liabilities that are denominated
in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate. For presentation purposes,
the amounts of the exposure are shown in Hong Kong
dollars, translated using the spot rate at the year end
date.

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)

(b) B R B S BOSRE (468)
(iv) W ()

@

IR W ()

S AR SR R
J9 A A LA AR B D e
BN EREHEN S
il R B R T E
PR R B W o T R 3 JEL
e LRSI = > Ak
UL RS - A %
A& H I R RE A4 5. o

Exposure to foreign currencies

(expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Fii k% SRR (D)
2018 2017
“FN\E e St

USD RMB HK$ UsSD RMB HK$

¥ ARE #7 ¥r ARE T

HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$000 HKS$'000 HK$000

T#x T#x  THx  TExT  TEer T#x

Cash and cash equivalents Ba IR &S EY 633 419 1,515 117 204 1,158
Financial assets included in FEA T HEMCRR 3R A

“trade and other receivables” PSS I A T - 16 41 - -
Financial liabilities included in AT THE TR S A

“trade and other payables” OB A O 0 B 2 £ (987) (346) - (1,303) ) -

Net exposure arising from ERERE kAR
recognised assets and liabilities 7 A I L R (354) 89 1515 (1,149 197 1,158
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited N BB (#) AR AR 127
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

4. JHERE A BE R B A4 9 ()
(b) WA B R BUR ()

128

(iv)

Currency risk (Continued)

(v) FWm R ()

(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (i) BHEE T
The following table indicates the instantaneous change T A5 A A R B AR

in the Group’s loss after tax and accumulated losses

(2017: profit after tax and retained earnings) that would

arise if foreign exchange rates to which the Group

R & Rt (%
—LAE  BRBUR W A
DR B v ) ) PRI A 42 T

has significant exposure at the end of the reporting HE R E R R B 2
period had changed at that date, assuming all other S HE FE Fe 40 E 3% H B
risk variables remained constant. In this respect, it is 5 W 10 A AR 22 R IR A )

assumed that the pegged rate between the Hong Kong

dollars and the United States dollars would be materially

({2 3% Jor A H At J= gt PR 3%
U R EE) o ST S

unaffected by any changes in movement in value of the 1R 3%k 7T B 38 0 M 2 4
United States dollar against other currencies. ) FE 32 K 8 57 35 o0 5i H
b B W 2 AR 5 ) 2 AT:

(e dCEp N Z

2018 2017
“E- 2

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

(decrease) ~ Decrease/(increase) (decrease) (decrease)

in foreign in loss after tax and in foreign  in profit after tax and

exchangerates  accumulated losses exchange rates retained earnings

Caiid ] BB A R

AhH R REitEH SMEIER R A

B/ (FB) W/ () B/ (FH) i/ (8

HK$'000 HKS'000

T Tt

RMB AR 5% 4 5% 8
(5%) (O] (5%) ®)

HKS I 5% 76 5% 58
(5%) (76) (5%) (38)
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management and policies (Continued)

(c)

(iv)

Currency risk (Continued)
(ii)  Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the group entities’ profit/loss after tax and
equity measured in the respective functional currencies,
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rate
ruling at the end of the reporting period for presentation

purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-measure
those financial instruments held by the Group which
expose the Group to foreign currency risk at the end of
the reporting period. The analysis is performed on the

same basis for 2017.

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that
entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to the stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The management reviews the capital
structure by considering the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. In view of this, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing

debt as it sees fit and appropriate.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the net gearing ratio.
This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt/
(cash) is calculated as total borrowings (including amounts due to
non-controlling interests, bank and other borrowings and convertible
bonds (as detailed in notes 22, 23 and 25 respectively)) less cash and
cash equivalents (note 20). Total capital is calculated as “equity” as
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position plus net
debt, if any.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]
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4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

130

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

S B o 4 B B A ¢ 8 (A

(¢) Capital management (Continued) (c) BEAHEP(4)
The net gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2017 and 2018 are W oFE—LFE R _F—/)NFE=H
as follows: = —H > AL EEABILR
wmE

2018 2017

=R\ TER L

HK$’000 HK$’000

T THsTT

Debts B 345,371 31,765
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (note 20) ¥ © B4 e Bl 42 (&Y (F:120) (158,913) (110,218)
Net debt/(cash) 5%, (Bl4) 186,458 (78,453)
Total capital B 166,735 213,624
Net gearing ratio FEE AR 1.12 N/AAE H

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are subject to

externally imposed capital requirements.

(d)

(i)  Fair value hierarchy

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table presents the fair value of the Group’s

financial instruments measured at the end of the reporting

period on a recurring basis, categorised into the three-level
fair value hierarchy as defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value

Measurement. The level into which a fair value measurement

is classified is determined with reference to the observability

and significance of the inputs used in the valuation technique as

follows:

. Level 1 valuations: Fair value measured using

only Level 1 inputs i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in

active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the

measurement date.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)
(d) DAA-PERHRZ B E R A

(Continued) & (%)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) i)  ATAEFH ()
. Level 2 valuations: Fair value measured using Level 2 . BN E LSS R

inputs i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level
1, and not using significant unobservable inputs.
Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market data

are not available.

. Level 3 valuations: Fair value measured using

significant unobservable inputs.

Valuation process

The Group’s finance department headed by the board of
directors is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial

instruments.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group
uses market-observable data to the extent it is available.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the Group engaged
third party qualified valuers to perform the valuation. The
finance department works closely with qualified independent
professional valuers to establish the appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs to the model. The Chief Financial
Officer reports to the board of directors semi-annually to
explain the cause of fluctuations in the fair value of the assets

or liabilities.

LN € T A A
MR AT & 58 — BB E
AR L2 VN €
TN W N NCIE E =3
AR o A AL
A B B AS BT A 1T
R ARk

I EF 1 RE P
LA R AT B
P -

1o (e D 2

A G T o 75 0 o o S G
B IR E W TR A AR &
HIBOR AR -

A R R E SRR AT E
5 A4 [ S A2 ) i 455 T B
R o R — B
NS > ARG ZEH =07
BB AG (ELRIEAT f ( o B85
FIS B S g S B A (L B
wEE > WRT S EZ A ETTIE
DR R AN g o B
2 A i) S O R
A AT E DB 2 SR
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

132

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

4. JAHERE A BE R B A4 9 ()

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d) DA TFEFEZMEEEKA
(Continued) & (%)
(i)  Fair value hierarchy (Continued) i) P ()
As at 31 March 2018 woF— ) E=ZJ=1—H

Fair value measurements as at Fair value as at

31 March 2018 categorised into 31 March 2018
R_Z—)\H=A=1+—H R E )\
T2 AT =H=+—H
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 ZAVE
B— —# =%
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T T T
Recurring fair value B A TR
measurements
Financial liabilities: WAL -
— Contingent consideration — SRR U
payables - - 177,519 177,519
— Promissory notes — REAH K bt 52
payable - - 10,578 10,578
— Convertible bonds — TR R - - 310,510 310,510
- - 498,607 498,607

During the year ended 31 March 2018, there were no transfers
between Level 1 and Level 2, or transfers into or out of Level
3. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers between levels

of fair value hierarchy as at the end of the reporting period in

which they occur.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A £ B 55 R B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d)

(Continued)
Information about Level 3 fair value measurements

The valuation techniques and the quantitative information
about the significant (except for the information of convertible
bonds which are disclosed in note 25 to these consolidated
financial statements) unobservable inputs used in Level 3 fair
value measurement at the end of the reporting period are as

(i)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)

(d) PAAPAEFHE Z I8 & R X R
5 (78)

(i)

A BB = AT 1 2 B H

IR > 58 =8 A EE
BT 2 A (B )5 ik R R A
LA i A g 2 B AL E R
(3% % f7 3 JU 5 i 3 B 325 B
18 5 AT 40 BAR SF 2 EORERSM)

follows: WmE
Fair valueasat  Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description 31March 2018 techniques unobservable inputs Inputs  inputs to fair value
REZ— )\
ZREt-HZ
ik B¥E (R BRAEES Uik BAME ATEEEARERAFIZAR
HK$'000
Titn
Contingent consideration 165,123 Income approach Discount rate 7.5%  The increase in discount rate used would result in decrease
payables arising from the in the fair value of contingent consideration payables, and
acquisition of Empire Access vice versa.
Limited (“Empire Access”)
Jick&Empire Access Limited 165,13 A fiBi% 15%  FPHERZ R A AN R AT
([ Empire Access ) B2 2 B R -
FRIERRE
Asat 31 March 2018, it is estimated that a 5% increase
or decrease in the discount rate used while holding all
other variables constant would decrease or increase the
carrying amount of contingent consideration payables by
HK$3,479,000 or HK$3,122,000 respectively.
REF—EZA=T—H  BrhArii 2 g
s hs%  MTH AMAERAEE A% Mk
TR 2 W 7 D3 479,000 ST
3,122,000 «
Revenue for the period from HK$10.666,000  The increase in the Revenue for First Period, Revenue for
22 September 2017 to Second Period and NP for Third Period used would result
21 September 2018 in increase in the fair value of contingent consideration
(“Revenue for First Period”) payables, and vice versa.
“E-UELACHORE 10,666,000/ 72 F RN s 8 — AR e 256 = (R
“E-NEAAZT—RHRZ ARSI AR AR 2 AP - )
Y (T B HIR ) b4V
Revenue for the period from HK$47,319,000  As at 31 March 2018, it is estimated that a 5% increase
22 September 2018 to or decrease in Revenue for First Period, Revenue for
21 September 2019 Second Period and NP for Third Period while holding all
(“Revenue for Second Period”) other variables constant would increase or decrease the
carrying amount of contingent consideration payables by
HK$300,000 or HK$2,754,000 respectively.
“E-AEAACHORE 41319000870 REF-AF=A=1— - FRHEEARRE - 5
“E-NEAA T —RERZ Z(RIATEICR B = M AR i 5% o i
Y (15— (AR ) SR BB AR RIS ER (U 2 SR (8
7473 I35 0300,00088 T2 H2,754 000K TC -
Net profit for the period from HK$22,766,000
22 September 2019 to
21 September 2020
(“NP for Third Period”)
e S 3/ g g - 22766,0007 ¢
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ZF— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4. SV ) A BE B A4 B (4
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value d) UnVPEFEZMBEEEKA
(Continued) & (%)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements ()  FHE=HAE TG 7L EH
(Continued) (#)
Fair valueasat ~ Valuation Significant Relationship of unobservable
Description 31 March2018  techniques unobservable inputs Inputs  inputs to fair value
e Syt
ZREF—HZ
fhild ﬁfﬁ ifwRs BRAMEES Uk BAME ATEEEABERAFHZAR
HK$'000
Ti#
Contingent consideration 12396 Income approach Discount rate 6.6%  No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the impact is not
payables arising from the significant to the Group’s profit or loss.
acquisition of AHGames
Hong Kong Limited
(“IAHGames”)
JiIAHGames Hong Kong 1239 WAl fisi% 6.6% HMRHAERRGRERYE  WEEFERRES
Limited ([ TAHGames ) & fre
UM

Revenue for the period from I January  HK$188,128,000
2018 to 31 December 2019

ZE-ME-R-NECENE 18180008
FIAZT-RER G

Gross profit for the period from | HK$27,137,000
January 2018 to 31 December 2019

CE-MER-RECENE 2713700080
TR Bz ER

Promissory notes payable arising 4760 Income approach Discount rate 6.5%-6.6% No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the impact is not
from the acquisition of Soul significant to the Group’s profit or loss.
Marketing Group Limited
(“Soul Marketing”)

YO TS5 R e A TR 4760 WAk fiBi% 65%-6.6% HREAEABE RTAVE  BOLBEIRE S
(T hcmk |) e 2 Mt fiie
TR
Profit after tax for the period from HK$2,831,000
23 December 2017 to
22 December 2019

U gt oy G 283100087
“ENEFZAZT IR
iR

Additional e-payment locations from 1,900 locations
17 November 2017 to
22 December 2019

“E-tE-AHERE 19001 g
“ENEFZAZFZR
¥4 VI ERB UL

Promissory notes payable arising 5818 Income approach Discount rate 6.6%  No sensitivity analysis is disclosed as the impact is not
from the acquisition of significant to the Group’s profit or loss.
IAHGames

YURIAHGames 12 5818 WAk ks 66% HREARRMEGEERYE IR
ERRILRE fre

Earnings before interest, taxes, HKS$11,525,000
depreciation and amortisation for the
period from I January 2018 to
31 December 2019
SENE-A-HECZUE 11,525,000
ToAZ - AMMZRAE -
BUE I B A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND
CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value

4. VB E b A BE B B A 1 8 (A1)
(d) DAA-PERHRZ B E R A

(Continued) & (#9)
(ii)  Information about Level 3 fair value measurements (i) HHE=RA- TR ER
(Continued) (#)
The movements during the year ended 31 March 2018 in A AT ER R AR
the balance of these Level 3 fair value measurements are as W E_F—-NE=H=+—
follows: H IR ST
Contingent
consideration Promissory Convertible
payables  notes payable bonds Total
BAREATRAE REMTARESEE TR AR A5t
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TH#IT TH#IT TH#IT TH#T
At 1 April 2017 RoE—EHEMNH—H - - - -
Acquisition of subsidiaries g e e Jegg 2~ ) 168,255 10,131 = 178,386
Principal amount of ST AR
convertible bonds issued AR B - - 265,000 265,000
Conversion of convertible bonds ##46 i i f§ fiki 5 S = (12,254) (12,254
Net fair value changes included #FA$H %% 2 A T-H
in profit or loss SE W) FEH 9,264 447 57,764 67,475
At 31 March 2018 A& A
=H=+—H 177,519 10,578 310,510 498,607
Net fair value changes included HEFA 5 AR A 2
in the profit or loss for BERTAERE
liabilities held at the end of OB S ) TR AR
the reporting period 9,264 447 57,764 67,475
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited G J o B (5% ) A5 PR 2 ) 1 3 5



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B B 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

4. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND 4.

CAPITAL DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)
(d) Financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value
(Continued)
(iti)  Financial assets and liabilities carried at other than fair
value
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
carried at cost or amortised cost are not materially different
from their fair values as at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES .

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

(@) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
with finite useful lives
The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives
and related depreciation and amortisation charges for its property,
plant and equipment and intangible assets with finite useful lives.
This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual
useful lives of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets
of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a
result of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to
severe industry cycles. Management will increase the depreciation
and amortisation charge where useful lives are less than previously
estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete

or non-strategic assets that have been abandoned or sold.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G B B A

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\{F=H =+ —H IL4FE

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of its fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing its value in use,
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value
using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset, which
requires significant judgement relating to level of revenue and amount
of operating costs. The Group uses all readily available information
in determining an amount that is a reasonable approximation of the
recoverable amount, including estimates based on reasonable and
supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and operating
costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact
on the carrying amounts of the assets and could result in additional

impairment charge or reversal of impairment in future periods.

Impairment of intangible assets with finite useful lives

The Group tests whether the intangible assets which have finite useful
lives have suffered any impairment whenever there is any indication
that the intangible assets have been impaired. The Group has made
estimations and assumptions in relation to the potential future cash
flows of identifiable intangible assets. This assessment involves
estimations and assumptions relating to potential future revenues,
appropriate discount rates and the useful lives of such assets. The
recoverable amounts of these intangible assets have been determined
based on the value-in-use calculations, which have been estimated
using discounted cash flow method. The directors consider that the
recoverable amount exceeded the carrying amount of the intangible

assets and no impairment was recognised during the year.

Impairment of receivables

The Group estimates impairment losses for bad and doubtful debts
resulting from the inability of the customers and other debtors to make
the required payments. The Group bases the estimates on the ageing
of the receivable balance, debtors’ credit-worthiness, and historical
write-off experience. If the financial condition of the customers and
debtors were to deteriorate, actual impairment losses would be higher

than estimated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5. BHEEEHEE(4)

(CONTINUED)
Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) AT AS B B R 2 ) = A R (4)
(v)  Write down of inventories v) TFEEME

The management of the Group reviews its inventories at the end of
each reporting period and write down the inventories to net realisable
value. Management estimates the net realisable value for such items
based primarily on the latest invoice prices and current market
conditions. The Group carries out an inventory review on a product-
by-product basis at the end of each reporting period and make

allowance for obsolete items.

Current taxation and deferred taxation

Judgement is required in determining the amount of the provision
for taxation and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There
are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact the
income tax and deferred tax provisions in the periods in which such

determination are made.

Deferred taxation relating to certain temporary differences and tax
losses are recognised as management considers it is probable that
future taxable profit will be available against which the temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is
different from the original estimate, such differences will impact the
recognition of deferred taxation in the periods in which such estimate

is changed.

Provisions for goods return

The Group makes provisions for goods return based on a percentage
of sales and information on actual consumer returns of goods to
estimate return percentages. The provision is calculated based on
these factors and is adjusted for any fluctuations in the returns
estimated by management as of the end of each reporting period.
The estimate has been made on the basis of historical trends of
return and may vary as a result of new product components, altered
manufacturing process, other events affecting product quality or

change in consumer behavior.

In evaluating the adequacy of the provision, the Group prepares an
analysis to determine the reasons for unutilised provisions. If the
analysis determines that some carry forward provision amounts were
no longer appropriate based on actual claims experience, proper

adjustments will be made to release the over-accrued portion.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES
(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(viii) Impairment of goodwill

(ix)

(x)

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of
the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate
of the expected future cash flows from the cash-generating unit and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those
cash flows. Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected,

impairment loss may arise.

Estimation of impairment of intangible assets with indefinite useful
lives

Determining whether the intangible assets with indefinite useful lives
are impaired requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
CGU to which intangible assets with indefinite useful lives have been
allocated, which is the higher of the value in use or fair value less
costs of disposal. The value in use calculation requires the Group to
estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGU and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where
the actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in facts
and circumstances result in a downward revision of future cash, a

material impairment loss may arise.

Estimation of the fair value of convertible bonds

As described in note 25 to these consolidated financial statements,
the management uses their judgment in selecting an appropriate
valuation technique for financial liabilities not quoted in an active
market. The fair value of the convertible bonds is estimated based
on Monte-Carlo simulation method with the key inputs of the
discount rate, share price, risk-free rate and expected volatility.
The management believes that the chosen valuation techniques and
assumptions are appropriate in determining the fair value of the

convertible bonds.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JF /& B B (35 5% ) 4 PR 23 %

CESCHEEEE Y

A FE S W B R 2 A 2 AR (49
(viii) P

(ix)

(x)

AR T 2 /D454 R O TR 1R B
{8 o SO AL FHE S RO B 2 B
R (TREEERN ) 2 EME
{H o At fo B (SR AR 4 B At B2
BN AR B - A
AR E M B R LU A Bl e
ZBUE o BT AR A B 4 U BRI
W1 BUAT REE AR R E R I o

1 7R PR AT B FH AR J 2 ST B 2
i

fift R LA R AT 4R 2 S S
T3 H R I 5 A L R T 4
W1 2 ST O Wi 2 B < AR B
T g e g R R AR (i s A P
B B A R ) o E (E
A SRR S [ A B 4 A AL T
WEE 2 RARBLE TR > MR
MBI LIRS B o M T BR R AR Bl 4
FERR Y - S AU LE
BORACH & T8 - HIA] AEE AR R
R -

1l AT BUR 5557 2 AP

AANA B AR ER R M R 25 B
L BR TR S 2 B e ol e 15 i i
S8 2 B s (088 98 2 A (E
fly o AT R 2 2 N TE TR SR
FRATHETL ARG BLAR - A8 ~ e F
T T T 4 S A R AT o
M > BE AR 2 AT
{ELPTI8E T A Tl S AR g A

139



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 5. BEEgsHhE(4)

(CONTINUED)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) G5 B B R =0 AR R (48)

(xi)  Fair values of contingent consideration payables and promissory (xi)  BESRMETICIT R MENT AR S5 0R 2
notes payable AR A

The fair value of contingent consideration payables and promissory
notes payable were determined by using valuation techniques. The
management uses their judgement to select a variety of methods and
make assumptions, including the discount rates and estimation of
future performance. Changes in assumption used could materially
affect the fair value of the balances and as a result affect the Group’s
financial condition and results of operation. The management
believes that income approach, being the valuation technique
chosen, is appropriate in determining the fair value of the contingent

consideration payables and promissory notes payable.

Purchase price allocations of business combinations

As further detailed in note 31 to these consolidated financial
statements, the Group acquired a number of entities during the
year ended 31 March 2018. An independent professional valuer is
engaged to perform the valuation of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed of the subsidiaries acquired. The accounting
for business combinations, which were accounted for using the
acquisition method, relied on a significant amount of management
estimation and judgements in respect of fair value measurement and

allocation of the purchase price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended

REVENUE 6.

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution
of health and beauty supplements and products mainly in Hong Kong,
Taiwan and the PRC, provision of online advertising agency business, online
payment business, e-commerce promotion business and game distribution
business.

Revenue represents the income from sales of health and beauty
supplements and products, provision of online advertising agency
business, online payment business, e-commerce promotion business and
game distribution business, net of returns, discounts, value-added tax and
other sales taxes for the year. An analysis of revenue is as follows:

% 0 S 5 A PR

31 March 2018 #%E ~ & — /4= =+—H L4

L&

AW EZREE - B8 LB
B B B o B AR A E i L B SR A i K
FE i SRR BRI AUBLERS - AR B SAT
SEHS ~ BT RS RS SO A T S

W A 5 B IR DA R % A A A I RE
o PR bR AR - R
B~ TR T S A S Ml IR B AT SR
WA > SNBRAE AR ]~ rdn - HEEBL R
g EBL « W tran T

2018 2017
TR )R ZE AR
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#IT THTT
Health and beauty supplements and products PRAEES i LK% S 2l i B 250,797 220,853
Online advertising agency business B E R AT 9,447 =
Online payment business B ST RS 1,751 =
Others HoAt 2,456 -
264,451 220,853
OTHER REVENUE AND OTHER NET LOSS 7. W A B i s 1 A
2018 2017
&R )\4E R LA
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THTT
Other revenue Ho Al 25
Bank interest income SRATALE A 21 43
Total interest income on financial assets not at 3 FE 4 AT 83 4 A HRAY
fair value through profit or loss TS Y 1 RS A SR 21 43
Sundry income HETE A 1,107 211
1,128 254
Other net loss oAb s 4R AR
Net loss on disposal of property, plant EWE - WS A
and equipment I 18 i BE (169) (230)
Exchange (loss)/gain, net BE 58 (518 i - 1RAH (394) 185
(563) (45)
565 209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — \4F =] =+ —H IL4FE

8.

142

(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION

B B i (548 )i 1

(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging the followings: BRBLRT (B51R) 6 A 5 88 ER DL T 45 TE 1%
h
2018 2017
TR )\ e S
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x THTT
(a) Staff costs: (a) HIHA :
Salaries, allowances, and other benefits B HAG M H At AE A
(including directors’ emoluments (ELHE 2 S (FF5E9))
(note 9)) 84,160 58,982
Contributions to defined contribution JE FEALFORIRET B3k
retirement plans 2,968 2,176
Equity-settled share-based payments DA FBEARE & 38 DA A S A5 =2 B S 29,290 -
116,418 61,158
(b) Other items: (b) HAhIEH :
Auditors’ remuneration A B FTT 4 1,431 1,239
Cost of inventories ER A
(notes (i) below and 18(b)) (5 SCHEEEG) K B EE18(b)) 76,155 63,732
Depreciation on property, W~ BUE KA TS
plant and equipment 6,950 4,633
Amortisation of intangible assets ﬂ?lfﬂ[/ B Y 6,102 143
Provisions for goods returns B 609 932
Operating lease charges: minimum ROBTHE RS - B
lease payments 5,265 1,888
Research and development costs WFEE i A
(other than amortisation costs) (85 A BR A1) 3,396 3,073
Impairment loss on trade receivables JREMSC AR s (s 1R - 23
Rent for special designated counters I 48 A MR 37,922 31,128
Transaction costs arising from the BEAT AR B SR E AR Y
issuance of convertible bonds T 5 AR 15,026 -
Legal and professional fee VY e gk 14,867 4,228
(c) Finance costs: (©) MWhEHA :
Bank overdrafts interest SRAT B SRR - 3
Interest on bank borrowings SRATME A 1,283 773
Interest on other borrowings HoAh 18 R, 165 -
Total interest expenses on financial 3F IE LA R 45 25 A BRI
liabilities not at fair value through R S A8 RIS Bl S MR
profit or loss 1,448 776
Interest on convertible bonds A 4G AR A 25 1 LB 7,126 -
8,574 776
Note: Mﬁi .
i) For the year ended 31 March 2018, cost of inventories includes HK$5,291,000 @) ®E-FE— ) E=H= + HE#RE > 71
(2017: HK$5,309,000) relating to staff costs, depreciation on property, plant and A H55,291,0008 7T (—F—-L4F 5,309,000

equipment and provisions for goods return, which amount is also included in the
respective total amounts disclosed separately above for each of these types of

expenses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ emoluments disclosed pursuant to section 383(1) of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

9. I RATEAEME

HRPEAHE O 7 e 25 383 (1) e B (2 Al (i
R 2 EORL) B 5 AR IR B

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation are as follows: M
For the year ended 31 March 2018 REZZ—)E=ZH=ZF—HILEE
Salaries,  Equity-settled Retirement
allowances and share-based scheme
Fees  benefits in kind payments  contributions Total
B ENRk DRSS TR AR
Mg RR RO A 2 B itk st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
T T T Tl il
(note xv)
(Hikxv)
Chairman, chief executive officer and LTI fTRAERAE
executive director HITEF
Mr. Chan Yan Tak B = 2,850 = 18 2,868
Executive directors HIrEF
Mr. Wong Mau Tai (Note i) kA (k) = 109 = 2 111
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony (Note x) MREFREE (X - 392 - 8 400
M. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney FHERE - 1,300 1,238 18 2,556
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (Note i) TR (ki) = 890 825 18 1,733
Mr. Wang Xihua BRI - 1,270 825 18 2,113
M. Lai Wei Lam, William (Note xi) M (HEx) = 860 825 19 1,704
M. So Kevin Hoi Chak (Note xii) BROLEIEE (Mkxii) = 540 825 6 1,371
Mr. Liao Zhe (Note xiii) PR (W 3T xiil) = 1,223 4,126 2 5,351
Independent non-executive directors BV FHTEE
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia AEER Lt 240 - 413 - 653
M. Leung Winson Kwan Yau R 240 - 413 - 653
Mr. Tam Kin Yip EliESia 240 - 413 = 653
Mr. Leung Man Loon (Note xiv) IR (Mt xiv) 133 = 413 = 546
853 9,434 10,316 109 20,712
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

9. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 9. HHRATHEIM e (H)
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2017 HE_F-LE=ZA=Z1+—HILEE
Salaries, Retirement
allowances and scheme
Fees benefits in kind contributions Total
e W R RAEH
e EwEA ik it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt Tt
Chairman, chief executive officer LR ITRABE
and executive director Bf7EFH
Mr. Chan Yan Tak PR - 1,800 18 1,818
Executive directors HIfTEFH
Mr. Wong Mau Tai (Note i) B REA (M kD = 941 18 959
Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony MRS = 941 18 959
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ZEklEsEE - 1,200 18 1,218
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu (Note ii) BT R (BT = 468 14 482
Mr. Wang Xihua (Note iii) F PSR (ki) = 526 9 535
Non-executive director JHfTHEE
Madam Tsang Pui Man (Note iv) S22 1 (Bt Eiv) 135 = = 135
Independent non-executive directors B IEHTES
Professor Ng Ka Ming (Note v) S BT (Ev) 281 - - 281
Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul (Note vi) SRR S (W aEvi) 205 - - 205
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia (Note vii)  {&H¥Zr 1- (M Evii) 283 - - 283
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Note viii) 28 5c4 (Wit viii) 126 - - 126
Mr. Tam Kin Yip (Note ix) EEZE A (i EX) 16 = = 16
1,046 5,876 95 7,017
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

i) Mr. Wong Mau Tai retired as the executive director of the Company on 5 April 2017.

(ii) Mr. Wong Ping Yiu was appointed as the executive director of the Company on
20 June 2016 and resigned on 4 May 2018.

(iii) ~ Mr. Wang Xihua was appointed as the executive director of the Company on
24 October 2016.

(iv)  Madam Tsang Pui Man resigned as the non-executive director of the Company on 24
October 2016.

(v) Professor Ng Ka Ming resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2017.

(vi)  Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul resigned as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 6 December 2016.

(vii)  Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 15 April 2016.

(viii) Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed as the independent non-executive
director of the Company on 24 October 2016.

(ix) Mr. Tam Kin Yip was appointed as the independent non-executive director of the
Company on 7 March 2017.

(x) Mr. Lim Ming Shing, Tony retired as the executive director of the Company on 31
August 2017.

(xi) Mr. Lai Wei Lam, William was appointed as the executive director of the Company
on 1 July 2017.

(xii) ~ Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak was appointed as the executive director of the Company on
11 September 2017 and resigned on 13 February 2018.

(xiii)  Mr. Liao Zhe was appointed as the executive director of the Company on 10 October
2017.

(xiv)  Mr. Leung Man Loon was appointed as the independent non-executive director on 11
September 2017.

(xv)  These represent the estimated value of share options granted to the directors under
the Company’s share option scheme. The value of these share options is measured
according to the Group’s accounting policies for equity-settled share-based payment
transactions as set out in note 2(q)(ii) and, in accordance with the policies, includes
adjustments to reverse amounts accrued in previous years where grants of equity
instruments are forfeited prior to vesting. The details of these benefits in kind,
including the principal terms and number of options granted, are disclosed under the
note 36.

During the year, no director of the Company has waived any emoluments
and no emoluments were paid or payable by the Group to any of the directors
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for
loss of office.

R AT B & (4)

i -

()  HERFEEER T -LENA T HBEARS
AT -

(i)  HEOPRESEER CFNEARH A EEE
BANFGEF - W —F - NFHLAM
H BT

(i)  EPEIELEER F-ANFEHH AR
ERARNFRATES -

(v)  EE L L F N A S EEHE
ARAF I RATES -

() REAEER F-LEZHALHEHEAL
A PATESR -

(vi)  HREERZ SR N AN H A
AN FEVESIEATHE S -

(vii)  AREEB LR T NENH R
FERA A B HATESR -

(viil) SR ER R NETH I HEE
(BB A RIS AT S -

(x) WEERER-F-LE=ZALABEES
AN TS AT E S

(x)  MEWEER F - LFEAA =+ BRI
RAFRRATESR -

i) BB R =B — L — BB A
KA AYFTES -

(xii)  BRPLREER T -LFENLA+ - AEZE
AR APATE RN —F— /FEZH]+=
HBHE -

(xiil)  BEEEAER E-EETA AR EA
ANFRATHED o

(xiv)  RICHEEER -F—LEILA+—ABEE
RS EATER o

(xv) IR RIRA L T M B G B TR
V9 S JBE R P i SRR o o S RO RE RO (L (2
Fe BB RE2.(q) (i) BT 81 AR S T A5 ] DA R HE 465
ABE B3 324 22 5 B @ T BORREHE: > 4 i
TR AT B AT AR B AR M 2 MRS TR R
RO RERT 8 - %S5 EL R IR RERS
LA T AR ST IR - S
736 °

AR ) AR A T AT AT < - AR
42 19 7 48 16 AT o] 2 = S A SRE A A o] M
& o AFE R ABEE AR AR [ SO A AR 4R [ iy
£ 528 25 f Al £
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

10. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST

146

EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments paid to the five highest paid individuals

10.

mE B AL

I6] i 4% d v 8 A\ (A0 B o LAl B

(including directors and other employees) are as follows: F AT R IR
2018 2017
—F )N\ SFE LA
HK$°000 HK$°000
T TH#ETT
Salaries and other emoluments e S A 4 7,308 8,094
Equity-settled share-based payments DAIBCHESS B LU A S A 2 B =2 10,525 S
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes R /A4 Fl 5T # {3k 66 90
17,899 8,184

Number of directors HH AN 3
Number of employees =P 2 4
5 5

During the year, no emolument was paid to the five highest paid individuals

(including directors and other employees) as an inducement to join or upon

joining the Group or as compensation of loss of office and no bonus was paid

or payable by the Group to the five highest paid individuals based on the

performance of the Group.

The emoluments of the 2 individuals (2017: 4 individuals) other than

directors with the highest emoluments are within the individuals following

JRARIA > SIf ) T4 B B A (RS
B HAt AR B ) ST A 2 i A AR 4 [ Y 82
B B8PS 5 | i A A B [ ) B i s R A
I AR A 2 T ) SE AR T [ 4% di i 9 A
ST BEFHEATIEAL -

mEF2M AL (ZF L& 4 A+)
(R AR S ) & A-F T 51

bands:
2018 2017
&R )\4E TR
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
AN# N i
HKS$1,000,001 up to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7€ % 1,500,000% 7T - 2
HK$1,500,001 up to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7€ % 2,000,000% 7T - 1

HK$2,000,001 up to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 up to HK$3,000,000
HK$4,000,001 up to HK$4,500,000

2,000,001 5 70 £2,500,0005 7T
2,500,001 7C %3,000,0005 7T
4,000,001 76 %4,500,0003 JC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

11. TAXATION

Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss represents:

11. BiJH

KRB R R AR PR

2018 2017
ZER )\ S
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Current tax R
Hong Kong Profits Tax IS ) 3,743 3,281
PRC Enterprise Income Tax rh 1 SE RTS8 = 573
Overprovision in respect of prior years AR B R AR A
PRC Enterprise Income Tax wh B A ZE P B (107) =
Deferred tax (note 28(a)) ARSEBLIE (K 7128(a))
Reversal of temporary differences T I 25 AR 38 1) (944) (37)
2,692 3,817

The provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2017:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits for the year.

For the year ended 31 March 2018, no provision for PRC Enterprise Income
Tax (the “EIT”) has been made in the consolidated financial statements as
the Group has no assessable profits under EIT. For the year ended 31 March
2017, the provision for EIT is calculated at the standard rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year as determined in accordance with the

relevant income tax rules and regulations of the PRC.

No provision for profits tax in the Cayman Islands, the British Virgin Islands
(“BVI”), Malaysia, Macau and Taiwan have been made as the Group has no
income or profit assessable for tax in these jurisdictions for the years ended
31 March 2017 and 2018.

ANAE JE 7 T A A5 00 18 4 T T Ak R SRR
HA16.5%(—EF—E4F : 16.5%) 51 & -

WE - NF=ZA=+T—HILFE R}
f B TS R A o o R A 3 T A B
(TASEPRBL L) B4l IR 2 7 42 10 S i
DFEFTGPERBLG A - W= F— L4
=H=1HIREE > SRR BT
FIUAR 95 I A R P 1 0 S0 e Aok 191 78 E )
A Al IR SRR M 45 BV E B 2025 % 51

HAAEENEE —F—-LER-F N
A = Bk AR A A B 8
B~ SR LR ([ RBELHE]D - 1§
ARPYEE ~ P B B B AT AT ] FE SR A
B A > I 4 U 4G D 35 AR A o R A5
BLE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

BEIH (4])
B THL BB S S PR B A A 0@

11. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 11.

Reconciliation between tax expenses and accounting (loss)/profit at the

applicable tax rates:

B),HEAERNT

2018 2017
TR )\ R4
HK$°000 HK$°000
T#x T
(Loss)/profit before taxation BB OR548) i ) (142,056) 15,640
Notional tax on (loss)/profit before taxation, BRBLAT (18, i R 0y PR BLIE
calculated at the rates applicable to profits or i P B R TE B Y
losses in the tax jurisdictions concerned AR I 14 7 R B A (24,042) 2,408
Tax effect on non-taxable income PRI A R BLGS  E (124) C))
Tax effect on non-deductible expenses T A B S R RS s 22,964 501
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised Al R L e 1 P B 2 3,767 427
Tax effect of temporary differences recognised e R I IR 225 B Y o s g 2 432 19
Special tax deduction FRIR PG R (178) (109)
Overprovision in respect of prior year AR AT I R B A (107) -
Utilisation of tax losses not previously recognised B JfI %8 H A e s Bl TH 5 15 (285) (453)
Others FoAty 265 1,028
Actual tax expense BB 2,692 3,817
12. DIVIDENDS 12. B E

HETAEHEREE T LERF
— AE=ZHZ+— B IR IRAHE MRS -

The Board does not recommend the payment of any dividend for the years
ended 31 March 2017 and 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

13. (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

(a)

(b)

Basic (loss)/earnings per share
The calculation of basic (loss)/earnings per share is based on the

following data:

13. Tk (EHE) B

(a)

FREA(ER), BRI
FE IR (RSHR),/ BRI T AR B8 T 918
TSIEE

2018 2017
=&\ —F—tEF
(Restated)
(K& 5)
(Loss)/earnings (B#8),BF
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to VAR B A (f1R) /&R 2
owners of the Company for the purpose of AN\ FIHEA NEMLAE R (F58)
basic (loss)/earnings per share (HK$’000) &l (F-#: 1) (139,217) 12,746
Number of shares Rt
Weighted average number of ordinary FVARH A A (B 48) B 2
shares for the purpose of basic (loss)/ 78 BT (R )
earnings per share (Note) 2,114,635,675 2,082,858,082

Note:

For the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018, the weighted average number of
ordinary share for the purpose of basic (loss)/earnings per share have been adjusted
to reflect the share subdivision on 5 December 2017 (the “Share Subdivision™).
Details of the Share Subdivision have been set out in note 29(b)(ii) to these financial
statements.

Diluted (loss)/earnings per share

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the calculation of diluted loss per
share did not assume the conversion of the Company’s outstanding
convertible bonds and share options since their exercises would result

in a decrease in loss per share.

For the year ended 31 March 2017, the computation of diluted
earnings per share did not assume the conversion of the Company’s
share option because the exercise price of the Company’s share
options were higher than the average market price of the Company’s

shares during the year.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

(b)

Wi

HE-Z-LEKR-EZ - /E=ZH=1—H
L > AUFE S RIEA (BER) /&F

400 RSP 4) BE ASRE > DUR A
T—t4E+ A HH Z B IRAN (T I3 7
A1) o MR A AR A R A B IR 3R B
FE29(b)(ii) °

IR O R) A
BME-E - EZJ=+—HILE
BE b PR s A1 S B A2
] R AT T R 5 2 A 1
B BRI 8 R A T 00 TR A
e TR HE A S SR R R

BE-E—LEZA=t—HILE
B > A T LR O A A
7 T » 5 A IR
2 7 (8 A A 4 P
TR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

14.

150

EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance for employees employed under the jurisdiction of the Hong
Kong Employment Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under the MPF
scheme, the employer and its employees are each required to make
contributions to the plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to
a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan

vest immediately.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the specified contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

15. W3k ~ W Kt

Leasehold
land and
buildings
held for own Furniture,
use carried Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
atcost  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
REARTIR
S5 A A
HELH R %8
R HERE  RMERES Rkt i it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL T T T T T
Cost B
At 1 April 2016 WEF—=AEMA—H 48,764 7,385 1312 4,016 4335 65,812
Additions NE - 2,207 1318 933 280 4798
Disposals & = (152) = (75) S 827)
Exchange adjustments [E = = = ?) = )
At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R=F—LHE=A=+—0 R
ZZ—tENA—H 48,764 8,900 2,630 4872 4615 69,781
Additions through acquisition of BRI A m IR E
subsidiaries 65,834 1,452 - 2,080 12 69,378
Additions e - 2468 534 2450 - 5452
Disposals HE - (151) - (81) (683) 915)
Exchange adjustments e 577 2% = 1 = 2 - 3
At 31 March 2018 WoZ—)\E=f=+—H 114,598 12,670 3,164 9323 3,944 143,699
Accumulated depreciationand  ZFHTE RSB
impairment loss
At 1 April 2016 RoF=RENA—H 4125 3493 1,011 2,178 623 11,430
Charge for the year R 1428 1,255 m 678 900 4633
Written back on disposals HERER = (548) = (4} = (595)
Exchange adjustments [fE 578 = = = 1) = (1)
At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R-ZF—tH=A=+—HK
“E—tHNA—-H 5553 4200 1,383 2,808 1,523 15467
Charge for the year R 2,684 1,718 590 1,081 877 6,950
Written back on disposals fiskil | = (46) s ) (307) (395)
Exchange adjustments W 36 = 3 = 2 = 5
At31 March 2018 REEF-NAEZA=F—H 8,237 5875 1973 3,849 2,093 22,027
Carrying amount W
At 31 March 2018 pF-NEZA=1—H 106,361 6,795 1,191 5474 1,851 121,672
At31 March 2017 REE—LEZJ=4—A 43211 4,700 1,47 2,064 3,092 54,314
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ & — 4=} =+ —H IL4FE

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. W3 ~ W Kkt ()
(CONTINUED)
As at 31 March 2018, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and B FE - )EZH=+—H  REFEDIK
buildings held for own use with carrying amount of HK$41,785,000 (2017: FHEARE B OO E 1 S5 (IR T{E 5
HK$43,211,000) to a bank to secure banking facilities granted to the Group 41,785,000%5 70 ( —F —L4F : 43,211,000%
(note 23). T6)) T HRAT - A R AR B RAT R
B i (BT EE23) -
16. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16. EIE G E
Product
Club  development Licensing Customer
membership rights agreements  relationship Total
HgEmasE  ERFINE SR E9R) [ At

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
Tt T Tt T T

Cost %S
At 1 April 2016 RZFE—AFEH—H - 1,000 - = 1,000
Additions RE 2,200 - - - 2,200
At31 March 2017 and RZF—LF=A=1—HL
1 April 2017 ZR—LEmA—H 2,200 1,000 - - 3,200
Additions through acquisition gl N R A
of subsidiaries (note 31) (Pi&E31) = = 206,758 2,758 209,516
At31 March 2018 RoF— EZA=+—H 2,200 1,000 206,758 2,758 212,716
Accumulated amortisation By
At 1 April 2016 REF—AFEMEH—H = 305 = = 305
Charge for the year R - 143 - - 143
At 31 March 2017 and REE—LFZAZT—HR
1 April 2017 ZREEN—H = 448 = = 448
Charge for the year N = 143 5,809 150 6,102
At 31 March 2018 RZF—/F=ZH=+—H - 591 5,809 150 6,550
Carrying amount MR i
At 31 March 2018 RE_F-NE=ZH=1—H 2,200 409 200,949 2,608 206,166
At 31 March 2017 REE—LE=ZA=F—H 2,200 552 - - 2,752
Particulars of the impairment testing of the licensing agreements and AT BER ik R P R 2 S 5 R
customer relationship are set out in note 17. WABEELT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

17. GOODWILL 17. &
HK$’000
THETT
Cost and net carrying amount B e Y
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 AZE—NFEMA—H -~ ZF—LF
ZA=Z+ AR _FE—-EHEMNA—H =
Acquisition of Star Root Limited (“Star Root”) Wi i Star Root Limited ([ Star Root |) 31,214
Acquisition of Empire Access Y IEEmpire Access 113,373
Acquisition of Soul Marketing ST e T 455 S 8,348
Acquisition of IAHGames I ETAHGames 24,561
At 31 March 2018 W oE—-NE=ZA=+—H 177,496
Goodwill has been allocated for impairment testing purposes to the PO T i 28 DA B 4 AR 7 DAEAT
following CGUs: BRI
—  Online advertising agency business (“Division A”) — B EEERIIEY ([4EAD)

—  Online payment business (“Division B”)

—  E-commerce promotion business (“Division C”)

—  Game distribution business (“Division D”)

—  BRESCAREEE (T 2#B))

—  CETRBEREES ([4EC))

—  HEBCERATHEE ([ D))

The basis of the recoverable amounts of the above CGUs and their major bl B 4 A AR A 2 T i ] 4 A O R Y L

underlying assumptions are summarised below.

TR R -
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17.

154

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division A

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of Star Root
and licensing agreements classified as “intangible assets” are allocated to the
Group’s CGU A.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of online advertising agency business
was based on its value in use and was determined with the assistance of
Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer not connected with the Group. The calculation used cash
flow projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period, and at a discount rate of 17.9%. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.
Cash flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 3% growth
rate in considering the economic condition of the market. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculations was the budgeted gross margin,
which was determined based on CGU’s past performance and management’s

expectations for the market development.

Division B

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of Empire
Access and licensing agreements classified as “intangible assets” are
allocated to the Group’s CGU B.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of online payment business was based
on its value in use and was determined with the assistance of Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent professional qualified
valuer not connected with the Group. The calculation used cash flow
projection based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a three-year period, and at a discount rate of 16.8%. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. Cash
flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 3% growth rate in
considering the economic condition of the market. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculations was the budgeted gross margin, which
was determined based on CGU’s past performance and management’s

expectations for the market development.
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17. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Division C

For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of Soul
Marketing and customer relationship classified as “intangible assets” are
allocated to the Group’s CGU C.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of e-commence promotion business
was based on its value in use and was determined with the assistance of
Colliers International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer not connected with the Group. The calculation used cash
flow projection based on financial budgets approved by management
covering a five-year period, and at a discount rate of 18.5%. The discount
rate used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU.
Cash flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 3% growth
rate in considering the economic condition of the market. Another key
assumption for the value in use calculations was the budgeted gross margin,
which was determined based on CGU’s past performance and management’s

expectations for the market development.

Division D
For the impairment testing, goodwill arising from acquisition of IAHGames
is allocated to the Group’s CGU D.

The recoverable amount of the CGU of game distribution business was
based on its value in use and was determined with the assistance of Colliers
International (Hong Kong) Limited, an independent professional qualified
valuer not connected with the Group. The calculation used cash flow
projection based on financial budgets approved by management covering
a three-year period, and at a discount rate of 21.2%. The discount rate
used is pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant CGU. Cash
flows after the five-year period were extrapolated using 3% growth rate in
considering the economic condition of the market. Another key assumption
for the value in use calculations was the budgeted gross margin, which
was determined based on CGU’s past performance and management’s

expectations for the market development.

Based on the results of the impairment testing of goodwill, in the opinion
of the directors, no impairment provision is considered necessary for the
Group’s goodwill as at 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil).

17. 2 (%)

43R C

(R T ST 25 o ol e T 355 5 W 5 i
SRR [V |2 % F BRI
%A ) 2 B 4 P A B o

BT T B R B 2 B A B 2 AT
o] < R Y BA FL A B > AR B A AR
B 08 ] b 22 ) S S S (L g B R A 2
B () AIRAF 2 B R E « AR
A DR T A I B T UL v 0 2 A 00
Z B TR B i Al B % 18.5 %t 5 2 Bl Ui
EIER o PN BB BT B A
Afr fz e BELAR R B < AR RS AT B 2 R E L
B o HAEIRIR 2 Bl BT RE E TS
REPHIRVL > 13RI « T
ERHAE IS — BB A EE A - 1Ty
AR B 4 A LA Y R 1 R R R B T
T35 B8 R IO FEL ST i

43 ED
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AWM EAREEZ B EERND -
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18. INVENTORIES

(a) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial position

comprise:

18. &

(@) AREMBHRILER AR B

2018 2017

TR )\ i i

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt THsT

Raw materials JERA 19,648 16,475
Finished goods B 2,443 10,708
22,091 27,183

(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories recognised as an expense

and included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income is as follows:

(b)  CHERRE B A A A R KA
SR ST

2018 2017
R )4 SR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
Tt AR
Carrying amount of inventories sold A BRI (E 70,939 60,783
Write-down of inventories Wos & 9,773 4,961
Reversal of write-down of AT BB 1 (i)
inventories (note 1) (4,557) (2,012)

76,155 63,732

Note: f5E -
(i) The amount was resulted from the utilisation of obsolete inventories that (i) A B4 FEAC [ B 7 8 A A B O

were written down in prior years.
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19, IR ik B L fth I WALk I

2018 2017

&R )\4E SR L

HK$°000 HKS$’000

AR T T

Trade receivables JRE WS R R 56,379 41,810
Less: Allowance for doubtful debts W R (162) (162)

56,217 41,648

Other receivables oA B R E 3,280 4,324

Loans and receivables R e B R T 59,497 45,972

Prepayments TAATIH 7,535 5,154

Utility, trade and other deposits KEH -~ Go MHAME S 15,900 14,727

Deposits paid for potential acquisition TR IS O A e - 5,000

23,435 24,881

82,932 70,853

2018 2017

TE )\ e S ol

HK$’000 HK$’000

Tt THsT

Analysis of trade and other receivables: JRE M R B LA E SR TR A T

Non-current portion FEU B 2,932 707

Current portion B 80,000 70,146

82,932 70,853

The amounts of the Group’s utility, trade and other deposits and

prepayments expected to be recovered or recognised as expense after more
than one year are HK$1,919,000 (2017: HK$631,000) and HK$1,013,000
(2017: HK$76,000) respectively. All of the other trade and other receivables

are expected to be recovered or recognised as expense within one year.

AREMIKEL - 85 RG4S KT
SRIE T 22 — AR A8 i I s R A B S Ay
A £41,919,000% 78 ( - —-E4E 1 631,000
J6) 51,013,000 70 ( —F—-L4F : 76,000
JG) o TE T AT LAt R A R S A B W K
TE s — AP N i 2] SRR 2 B S
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. W R 5k B At JR Wik L (48)
(CONTINUED)
(a) Ageing analysis (a) HREESHT

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade TR AR o AR SRR A i A TR

receivables based on the date of revenue recognition and net of 1A B 11 R R A 4% 1 R I8 40 1T 4
allowance for doubtful debts were as follows: D&

2018 2017

)\ ZFE LA

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#T THETT

0-30 days 0230H 38,957 28,758

31-60 days 31260H 11,648 8,036

61-90 days 61%90H 4,261 4,842

Over 90 days 90 H 1,351 12

56,217 41,648

The normal settlement terms of trade receivables arising from online AR b ST FE A ) B SR SRR IE R

payment business are one day after trade date. Trade receivables GEEM ARG HME—H o EAE AL

arising from businesses other than online payment business are E AP 2ER LA AN 2 2 0 FE R R K —

normally due within 0-90 days from the date of billing. Further details g {090 H A F| 1Y -

of the Group’s credit policy are set out in note 4(b)(i). A [H 5 BBOR (13— 25 515 RO

FE4(b)() °

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (b)  JEWCHR IR AE

Impairment losses in respect of trade receivables are recorded using JRE WA B 32 1) TR AL s 48 T3 A HR R AL
an allowance account unless the Group is satisfied that recovery of HE > [ I AN 42 [ 52 B i 1] S TE 1 A fig
the amount is remote, in which case the impairment loss is written off PEAK > MAEMBERT > BEkERET

against trade receivables directly (see note 2(j)(i)). BBz B R (RBRE2G)G)) ©

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts RIE 5w

2018 2017
&)\ R4
HK$°000 HK$’000
o0 Tt
At the beginning of the year 4] 162 139
Impairment loss recognised L e vl 1 e 1 - 23
At the end of the year R 162 162
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b) Impairment of trade receivables (Continued)

(c)

As at 31 March 2018, trade receivables of the Group amounting to
HK$162,000 (2017: HK$162,000) were individually determined to
be impaired. The individually impaired receivables were outstanding
for over 365 days. No specific allowance for doubtful debt
(2017: specific allowances for doubtful debts of HK$23,000) was

recognised.

Trade receivables that are not impaired
The ageing analysis of trade receivables that are neither individually

nor collectively considered to be impaired are as follows:

- TSRk B L A I WAk JEL (4

(b)  FE WA (468

(c)

WoE—)EZH=+—H » AEH
F162,000% 70 (—F—-L4 : 162,000
V5 0 ) I AT R S 8 A B O 2 A o
B A i B o K JE 3 R R 365
Ao 7 e 5t AR W Gl v A (=%
— LA ¢ 5£23,0009 S0 SR R AE R
FEBME) o

AR A FE W Rk
Sl o 3 RS A A 36 A
BRSO SR B A T AT

2018 2017

R )4 SR L

HK$°000 HK$’000

T T

Neither past due nor impaired 3800 3 7 A (L 49,218 36,800
Past due but not impaired CLan A SR8 E

Less than 1 month past due R 18 A 1,245 10

1 to 3 months past due w1238 A 4,685 4,838

Over 3 months past due s HA A 30 A 1,069 -

56,217 41,648
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19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(c)

Trade receivables that are not impaired (Continued)
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a range

of customers for whom there was no significant history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a number of
independent customers that have a good track record with the Group.
Based on past experience, management believes that no impairment
allowance is necessary in respect of these balances as there has not
been a significant change in credit quality and the balances are still
considered fully recoverable. The Group does not hold any collateral

over these balances.

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND
OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

160

(a)

(0

19, IR ik B L fth I WALk L (48

AR A B Rk (75
IR A8 1T S (L 14 B A T B ST A
KA R FL sk & AR -

7 30 2R Bl L P R AR T B T 08
SERFAR - BEERAEEA R
B oo MREBALKCE - EHREMG K
ISEICVEEN X DN - R TF A
B A T Aol ] SRR R A A
R AR ) ol (AR Ml o A S 0 Sl e ol % 55
A ERFFAT AL AT o

20. Bl& kBl &FEY Kb B &

iR

Cash and cash equivalents comprise: (a) BlE&RBLSZEMAL -
2018 2017
—F )\ 4 —F—t4
HK$°000 HK$°000
TFusoc T
Cash at bank and on hand SRAT M FEHI 4 158,913 110,218
Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated A %5 & BAHS IR Il 2 K
statement of financial position and the SR Bla R RN B &
consolidated statement of cash flows W4 ZEY 158,913 110,218

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Deposits with banks are made depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the

respective deposit rates.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

20. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND

OTHER CASH FLOW INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities from

(b)

financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes.

Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which

cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s

consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

i R (A)

(b) S 0 i e 2 £ 2 SR

IS R A A O il T A 0
ZEW) > WFEBE KBRS - il
S 7 A R B B ok
SR AL A1 A3 B 2 oy B U
LA T B 2 B 2

20. Be kBleFHY R LA E

activities. =L
Interest Interest
payableon  payableon  Contingent
Bank Other other  convertible  consideration  Promissory  Convertible
borrowings  borrowings  borrowings bonds payables  notes payable bonds Total
Bl ERWHR
RS MRS R RN RMERRE BRRLER  whRi it
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS'000
T T Tr T T T T T
(note 23) (note 23) (note 21) (note 21) (note 24) (note 26) (note 25)
(M) s (GO (R0 (ke (ke ()
A1 April 2017 REF-LENA-R 30365 = = = = = = 30365
Changes from financing cash flows: ~ FEUHATE 59 :
Repayment of bank bortowings fRRES (7813) = = = = = = (7813)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ~ FF AT R AT UR 5,367 5 = = = - - 3,367
Proceeds from other borrowings BN T = 5,500 = = = = = 5,300
Proceeds from issuance of comvertible  5§7 WPl R i kol
bonds, net of transaction costs B MR AAA - - - - - - 249974 249974
Tnterest paid EffFIE (1283) = = = = = - (1283)
Totalchanges from financing cash flows B EF 4182 F8 4 (379) 5,500 = = = = 19974 251745
Changes in fair value MRS = = = = 9,264 W 57,764 07475
Other changes: Jlbsg -
Acaquisition of subsidiaries WA - - - - 168,255 10,131 - 178,386
Interest expenses HERT 1,283 - 165 1,126 - - - 8,574
Conversion of convertible bonds BT - = - = = = (12.254) (12,254
Transaction costs arising from the BhmhREsEEL
issuance of convertible bonds RHRA - - - - - - 15,026 15,026
Totalother changes Livgaias 1283 - 165 7,126 168,255 10,31 4m 189,732
At 31 March 2018 REF-AEZA=T-H 8119 5,500 165 7,126 17519 10578 310510 539517
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21.

22,

162

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. FEATBRAK B H At BE AF ik IR

2018 2017

&R )\ R LA

HK$°000 HK$’000

T THTT

Trade payables AT B K 6,288 3,142
Salary and welfare payables JRE A 387 42 S AR A 8,728 5,671
Accrued advertising expenses JERTE 5 B S 3,922 3,533
Other payables and accruals A A S T % e 7,189 4,286
Interest payable on other borrowings JREARE LAt £ 3R G, 165 -
Interest payable on convertible bonds JREAR T 4 AR Ao 5 ) B 7,126 -
Receipt in advance TR 608 =
34,026 16,632

As of the end of the reporting period, the ageing analysis of trade payables
based on invoice dates were as follows:

TR R > B A R T 35 5 1 B R
He AT

2018 2017

=)\ 4 TR

HK$°000 HK$’000

R T

0-30 days 0£30H 5,394 2,442
31-60 days 31260H 506 603
61-90 days 61%F90H 17 26
91-180 days 91%180H 2 =
181-365 days 1812365 H 154 -
Over 365 days 365 H 215 71
6,288 3,142

All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled or recognised
as income within one year or are repayable on demand.

AMOUNTS DUE TO NON-CONTROLLING
INTERESTS

The amounts due to non-controlling interests refers to (i) an outstanding
balance of HK$1,200,000 (2017: HK$1,200,000) arising from the
shareholder’s loan taken up by Ms. Li Yung who acquired 40% equity
interest in Apex Prospection Limited in the amount of HK$1,200,000 during
the year ended 31 March 2017 as described in note 33 and (ii) the amounts
due to non-controlling interests of certain subsidiaries in the amount of
HK$42,000 as at 31 March 2018 (2017: Nil). The amounts due to non-
controlling interests are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed terms of
repayment.
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22, FEAT IR BB HE 8 5k JH

JREASH I e Fe M 26 3 TEHS () Mk = =T — L
A = AR 2L1,200,00095 78
1% Apex Prospection Limited/140% HERY
R L TR B 1) T R O A Y R R A
££1,200,0007 7C ( & —-E4F © 1,200,000
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A = H AT T B 2 w0 I 4 IR
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

23, BRAT B Ho A A

2018 2017
&)\ LA
HK$’000 HK$’000
T#x Tt
Bank borrowings: TR -
Bank loans, secured (note a) SRATE K > I (Hh3Ea) 28,119 30,565
28,119 30,565
Other borrowings: HAb s :
Unsecured notes (note b) SR S5 (KhiED) 5,500 -
5,500 =
Total bank and other borrowings SRAT R H A AR A 33,619 30,565
The bank borrowings and other borrowings are repayable as follows: JH T B R 2 ARAT B B O A A R
2018 2017
TR \E R4
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x Tt
Bank borrowings: SRATAE K
Within 1 year or on demand T —4F N B R 28,119 30,565
28,119 30,565
Other borrowings: HAb M -
After 2 years but within 5 years WAE R ETAE A 5,500 -
5,500 =
Total bank and other borrowings SRAT B oAt A AR AR 33,619 30,565
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities ¥ : 7B & &8 444 (28,119) (30,565)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities I JiL &) & &5 T/~ 4 58 5,500 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4FE

23. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

164

Notes:

()

(b)

(©)

Certain banking facilities are subject to the fulfillment of covenants. If the Group
were in breach of the covenants, the drawn down facilities would become repayable
on demand. In addition, all of the Group’s banking facility letters contain clauses
which give the lender the rights at its sole discretion to demand immediate repayment
at any time irrespective of whether the Group has complied with the covenants and
met the scheduled repayment obligations.

The Group regularly monitors its compliance with these covenants and does not
consider it probable that the bank will exercise its discretion to demand repayment
so long as the Group continues to meet these requirements. Further details of the
Group’s management of liquidity risk are set out in note 4(b)(ii). As at 31 March
2018, none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had been breached
(2017: Nil).

All of the bank borrowings, including amounts repayable on demand, are carried at
amortised cost.

As at 31 March 2018, the bank borrowings of the Group are secured by the leasehold
land and buildings with carrying amount of HK$41,785,000 (2017: HK$43,211,000)
(note 15).

In August 2017, the Company issued unsecured notes of HK$5,500,000. The
unsecured notes carry coupon rate of 5% per annum, payable annually in arrears. The
principal amount of the unsecured notes is repayable in August 2020.

The Group has un-utilised banking facilities of HK$6,249,000 as at 31 March 2018
(2017: HK$5,900,000).
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(a)

(b)

()

AT AT VR K BAT Sk o 4 AN S
S TR IR AR SR R - LA
7% 2 [ A B AR AT 4 £ bR A I T K
NHER B IR 2 RERY i ZER BRI 3K - 100 ANy
A AT R Y S TR T A R AT R BT
£ o

A A O 7 0 4 L T S RS R IR
T E A% S T HR A R SF R BUE MR LT 4R
AT AN K AT REAT {8 19 75 M SR 3K - A4
A& B U Y 4 A W1 A — 2B R A R B R
4(b)(ii) » R E—/NFEZH=+—H > &
(B N7 A0 1A B T B R ) 32 (b
A ) o

JIF A SR AT i B (RG24 2SR (7 9 ) T
B S AR AR -

RoFE—/E=ZA=Z+—H o REHPRIT
8 85 AR B 4 3t B A AR IS4 > LR TAI(E 23
41,785,000 7G ( . F — L 4F © 43,211,000 %
Jt) (KEE15) °

R LA AR E 175,500,000
TG MEHCAT S8 o % MEHCIT 2298 2 S AR S
F55% » FENNEAE AT o SRR SR 2 A 1
JH B AR R -

ME—EZA = —H > REEZRE
FIARAT Al & 56,249,000 75 ( —F — L4 ¢
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES

24, AR AR E

2018

&)\

HK$°000

T

At fair value: APE -

At the beginning of the year R AER) -

Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) e R g 2w T 7 AR (RRFRE3T) 168,255

Fair value change I HEEE) 9,264

At the end of the year AR 177,519
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities AT =K Vo ) (59,169)

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities ) AT R e 118,350

The contingent consideration payables of the Group represented the

following:

®

(ii)

the contingent consideration arrangement arising from the acquisition
of Empire Access (as detailed in note 31(b)) to be settled in the form
of promissory notes to be issued by the Company depending on the
achievement of the target revenue and/or net profit of the subsidiaries
of Empire Access, N Dimension Limited (“N Dimension”) and Hoi
On Technology Limited (“Hoi On”) (collectively referred to as the
“ND Target Group”) for each performance year from 22 September
2017 to 21 September 2021 as defined by the supplemental sale
and purchase agreement dated 15 September 2017 in relation to the
acquisition of Empire Access by the Company. The formula in respect
of the adjustments to the consideration from the acquisition of Empire
Access are detailed in note (a) below; and

the contingent consideration arrangement arising from the acquisition
of [AHGames (as detailed in note 31(c)(ii)) to be settled in the form
of promissory notes to be issued by the Company depending on the
achievement of the targets as stipulated in the sale and purchase
agreement and supplemental agreements in respect of the acquisition.
Since the contingent consideration payables in respect of the
acquisition of IAHGames is relatively immaterial to both the Group’s
financial position as at 31 March 2018 and the Group’s results for the
year ended 31 March 2018, details of this contingent consideration

arrangement are not disclosed in these financial statements.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JF /& B B (35 5% ) 4 PR 23 %

AL 2 SR BTS84 00

®

(ii)

W B Empire Access (M1 5£31(b) Tsf
it ) i HE 22 AR W AT 2 R O
SR T A 2 SR E 2 BE
% o SR 8 8 BURF A Y Empire Access
AT - THERHEARA R (T
HERL L 1) Bt e Fm A BR A v (T3
&) (Fehi /s INDH AR ) A =%
—tLFENAZT AR FE TR
AZ+—RA&RBEE (EXRZGH
A B Empire Access H A2 — %
— LA T H B 27 B k)
e B0 B AR e X SR - A B
Yl Empire AccessfUIE 1Y F % 24 2 5E
TERR T X FE(a) 5 K

Wi B TAHGames (W1 B 5E31(c)(ii) BT f
) DhAS 2\ AT 2 K 5 SRR TR 2
T A 2 BOARELHE - ZBUAR
EHEEH TS B Z R E 2
B 1 S Al 7S b s P AT W) 2 B AR T
T o BN B EIAHGames 2 5 2%
JEATAE A B AL —F— =
A=+ — B Z BRI R AL B E
TR -NEZA=E—HIEEEZE
S W AT K > B AR 5% 5 BB
WFP LIRS -
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 24, skZRBEACHE (4)

Note: BFGE -

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire Access (a) W Empire Accessis b Z AR 2 i %
Pursuant to the supplemental sale and purchase agreement dated 15 September 2017 HRIEFE I B Empire Access IT#T 7 H 1 23 =%
in relation to the acquisition of Empire Access, the consideration is stated as follows: —LAEILA T H A R ek o

IR -
(i) HK$5,000,000 as refundable cash deposit (“First Instalment”); (i) 5,000,000 5 ¢ £ ] 4R 8] 2 Bl 4 % 4
(TE#) s
(i) HK$55,000,000 cash consideration (“Second Instalment”); (i) 55,000,000 # JC 75 B 4 G AE (56 =
s

(ili)  a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Third (i) #t £ 60,000,000 # JC 57 48 B A
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the revenue (M35 =40 1) 1B B3 A7 R S22 98 4] >
in the ND Target Group for the First Period is more than or equal to A0 A7 = ND H 52 4 9k 1 0 [T 22 i
HK$8,000,000 (the “First Target”); it 2 J14 B4 114 8,000,000 7T ([ i H

B

(iv)  a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Fourth (iv) % £ 60,000,000 # JC 57 48 B A
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the (TSP J) 2538 88 17 7R ol S 98 S A »
revenue in ND Target Group for the Second Period is more than or equal to MERAA2ND R A B0 5 — AR 35T ] 2 i
HK$43,000,000 (the “Second Target”); and 1 £ % 55 11243,000,000 75 7T (136 =

fAEEED &

) a maximum of HK$60,000,000 or such adjusted amount (the “Fifth (v) Hz % 60,000,000 #5 I 5k 48 i & BUEH
Instalment”) by the issue of the promissory notes provided that the net (TEEF ) BT AR SRR AT
profit in ND Target Group for the Third Period is more than or equal to A JEND TR B 2 = (R ) 4L
HK$23,000,000 (the “Third Target”). B2 1% 8545 2 23,000,000 95 7C ([ =

fAREED -

The third instalment, fourth instalment and fifth instalment of the consideration to be FEAND H AR AL R B LR L R A T Y 55 =

settled in the form of promissory notes based on the performance of the ND Target W~ 5 DU R s O AR SR DL R O 3

Group are adjusted in the following manner: %

A. Meeting the Targets for the First Three Periods A. EEBE =R HEE
In the event that the revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period is AND A 8300 ] 1 i it 0 0 o
less than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target Group for the {1 H A3 S ND H AR 13 58 R0 g i
Second Period is more than the Second Target: T8 2 A M H A

Revenue in ND Target Group for the First Period
Third Instalment ND A (4 1 B (A T e i HK$60,000,000
_ X e
E=H HK$8,000,000 60,000,0007 7T

8,000,000 7T

Revenue in the ND Target Group
for the Second Period minus HK$43,000,000

Fourth Instal G HK$60,000,000 WLl L SR HK$60,000,000
ourth Instalment S BV Tag—
= | 43,000,000z e i 2t i5G43,000,0000 70 .
EAUE ] (— 60,000,0007 75 ) ( 60,000,000 7
HK$43,000,000 HK$8,000,000
43,000,000 ¢ 8,000,000747C
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES 24, skZRBEAHACE (4)

CONTINUED
lgote: (Continued) ) BfF5E - (4
(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire Access @ Ko Empire AccessiE A 2 fUHZ 2 (41)
(Continued)
A. Meeting the Targets for the First Three Periods (Continued) A. EZE =MBIFZ B (47)
In the event that revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period is more AN BRI B A 03 T i 22 8
than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target Group for the Second 15 F N H AR B4 A TR A i
Period is less than the Second Target: fARE A E R
HK$8,000,000
Third Instalment _ 8,000,000/ ¢ HK$60.,000,000
B B HK$8,000,000 * 60,000,000% Tt
8,000,0007# ¢

Revenue in the

Revenue in the ND Target Group
ND Target Group for the First Period minus
for the Second Period HK$8,000,000
ND H B[ ND H EE [

Fourth Instalment (A HK$60,000,000 Ef A B i i HK$60,000,000
s B ( Y * 60,000,000 7 ) ( 58,000,000/ 7C * 60,000,000 7 )

HK$43,000,000 HK$43,000,000

43,000,000 7T 43,000,000 7T
In the event that the revenue in ND Target Group for the First Period is less fHND E B AR [ (0 T A i 4 D i
than the First Target and the revenue in the ND Target Group for the Second AR B BB ND H FRAE 2R AR 39 P ik
Period is less than the Second Target: T DA SRS AR F AR

Revenue in the ND Target Group for the First Period
Third Instalment _ ND H I B Y 91 HK$60,000,000
%=1 - HKS$8,000,000 * 60,000,000 JC
8,000,000/ ¢
Revenue in the ND Target Group for the Second Period
Fourth Instalment B ND H £ 55 = (i IR HK$60,000,000
CHLEY B HK$43,000,000 * 60,000,000 TG
43,000,000 ¢
The aggregate sum of the Third Instalment and the Fourth Instalment shall be AT AT DL 55 =300 B 5 U 31 R T A
capped at HK$120,000,000 in any event. #H LA 120,000,000 76 45 FBR -
In the event that the net profit in the ND Target Group for the Third Period is fHND FER A [ 55 = AR 351 1 A i ) -0 i
less than HK$23,000,000: 23,000,000%5 G :
Net profit in the ND Target Group for the Third Period

Fifth Instalment _ ND H £75E B4 = 0 B9 40F) HK$60,000,000
HHM B HK$23,000,000 * 60,000,000%5 70

23,000,000/ 7C
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire Access
(Continued)
B. Catching-up in the Fourth Period
(i) In the event that the sum of the revenue for the Third Period and the
Fourth Period is more than HK$231,000,000, the following portion
of the Third Instalment and the Fourth Instalment which have been
adjusted downward pursuant to point A above shall become payable
in the following order:

(aa)  the following portion of the Fourth Instalment which has
been adjusted downward pursuant to point A above shall
become payable first:

24. SR EAT U (4])
BiaE - ()
(a) Wi Empire Access/ 2k Z AR E Z i % (4)

B. TS VY {4 T 2
©) A0 55 == 181 S0 [HD 2 565 17 {1 400 1
i i BB £ 7 231,000,000 #
I > B B SCAH R N
S8 = T 55 W U3 I Y LA
ST PN S At

(aa)  EA% L SCAH T
A9 LA 56 D0 B 3 Ay
JHE ST AN

Revenue in ND Target Group for the Third and Fourth Period minus HK$231,000,000

ND A 548 [ 55 =11 R 25 9 1 1

A9 77 36623 1,000,00075 7T

HK$60,000,000

HK$43,000,000
43,000,000/ 7T

(bb)  if the sum of the revenue for the Third Period and the
Fourth Period remains in excess of HK$231,000,000
after allocating the surplus to meet the Second Target, the
following portion of the Third Instalment which has been
adjusted downward pursuant to point A above shall become

60,000,000 7T

(bb) A = 0 ] S 5 D Al
4] ) g i SRR A 4 T
TR LAY 2 A5 (1 B AT
AT AR 123 1,000,000
It > HIIE 4% - SCAHi )

payable: TR B = R TE
PAIF M T RLSCAT
Revenue in the ND Target Group for the Third and Fourth Period
minus HK$231,000,000 minus HK$43,000,000
ND [ 725 [ 55 = 8 1% 55 Y (e 0 [T A HK$60,000,000
18 231,000,0007# 7T 343,000,000/ 7T X 60,000,000 7T
HK$8,000,000
8,000,000/ ¢
(i) In the event that the net profit for the Fourth Period is more than Gi) i A PR R R AR 2

HK$49,000,000, the following portion of the Fifth Instalment which
has been adjusted downward pursuant to the point A above shall

49,000,000%5 70 > CL4% I SCAH
fi1) T A A 4 T EKIE I LR

become payable: WA T LA
Net profit in the ND Target Group for the Fourth Period minus HK$49,000,000
ND ] 75 [ 45 D2 {11703 ] 79 447 3549,000,000i 7T HK$60,000,000
X e
HK$23,000,000 60,000,000 7
23,000,000/ 7T

The aggregate sum of the Third Instalment, the Fourth Instalment
and the Fifth Instalment shall be capped at HK$180,000,000 in any
event.
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24. CONTINGENT CONSIDERATION PAYABLES
(CONTINUED)

Note: (Continued)

(a) Adjustment to the consideration arising from the acquisition of Empire Access

(Continued)

C. Early Achieving the Targets
In the event that the ND Target Group can fulfil the revenue of
HK$51,000,000 and the net profit of HK$23,000,000 in a financial year
subsequent to the acquisition date and before the end of the Third Period,
any amount of the Third Instalment, the Fourth Instalment and the Fifth
Instalment which has been reduced by adjustment will become payable by
the Company to the vendors in proportion to their shareholding in Empire
Access.

Where:

“First Period” means the period from 22 September 2017 to 21 September 2018;
“Second Period” means the period from 22 September 2018 to 21 September 2019;
“Third Period” means the period from 22 September 2019 to 21 September 2020;
“Fourth Period” means the period from 22 September 2020 to 21 September 2021;

“Revenue” means the amount of revenue (as defined under and calculated in
accordance with the relevant HKFRSs) generated by the ND Target Group for the
relevant period; and

“Net Profit” means the amount of net profit (as defined under and calculated in
accordance with the relevant HKFRSs) generated by the ND Target Group for the
relevant period.

The fair value of contingent consideration payables as at 31 March 2018 is
based on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer not
connected with the Group. Details of fair value measurement are set out in
note 4(d).

24, BARMEAHRIE ()

BFEE - ()

(a)

K Empire AccessiE A Z FUAE Z i % (4)

C. I B

fiND H 5 4 B Bl i i B K
A 0 ] 400 R T o P B T R i
51,000,000 # 7T K &% 1 23,000,000 #
IC o JAEER B D 2 5 = - SR
5 T AT AR SR IEI th AN Rl 4
J7 % H iR Empire AccessZ F B H i 32
TE -

Hofr

[EMmE e —E—bERA T HES
F—/FILAZ+—HZ WM

(55 AWM I - A F AT ZHE
ZE-NFNA ST HZHIM

[ =MW 3 —F —FE A R =
SECEEA A HZHM

[EEPOEAIE 135 —F —FREAA -+ R E
CSERCFIA ST HZHIM

[ 1FEND H A4 [ 7 FH BRI ] 728 A 1 i g
2 BHCRE (G2 386 S M R 75 VS 5 S 4 BTG
D 5 &

[ A JHEND [ A 52 A B 308 1 28 A ) R
2 W 8 SR B A s A o Y ST
FHE) -

RTE— N MEZA =+ — H 28R EAAT
B 7 A T B A AJ (3] ARE 40 (38 22 2 8 ST
BB (E BT BT HEAT ROAN (A5 ) o AT
(HFFE 2 SN R B EE4(d) ©
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25.

170

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

On 12 October 2017, the Company issued 6% per annum unsecured
convertible bonds with a principal amount of HK$265,000,000 to six
independent third parties (“Bondholders”) which will mature on their
second anniversary on 12 October 2019 following the issue of convertible
bonds (“Convertible Bonds”). The Bondholders have the right at any
time during the conversion period to convert, the whole or any part of the
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds into the ordinary
shares of the Company at HK$4.65 per conversion share (adjusted to
HKS$1.1625 per conversion share due to Share Subdivision that took place
at 5 December 2017) provided that, if the conversion price in force on the
date falling on the first anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible
Bonds is more than HK$4.00 per conversion share (adjusted to HK$1.00
per conversion share due to the abovementioned Share Subdivision), the
conversion price of the Convertible Bonds shall be reset on that date so
that it is equal to HK$4.00 per conversion share (adjusted to HK$1.00
per conversion share due to the abovementioned Share Subdivision). The
conversion period commences from 45 days after the date of issue and
ending on the maturity date. The Convertible Bonds bear interest from the
date of issue at the rate of 6% per annum on the principal amount of the
Convertible Bonds payable by the Company semi-annually in arrears on 12
April and 12 October in each year.

Unless previously redeemed or converted or purchased and cancelled as
provided herein, the Company shall redeem the Convertible Bonds, which
remains outstanding on the maturity date with an one-off lump sum equal to
the aggregate of the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds
to be redeemed plus an amount that would make up an aggregate return on
the outstanding principal amount of the Bond of 8.5% per annum (for the
avoidance of doubt, the aggregate return shall take into account all interest
accrued and paid on the Convertible Bonds and all cash flow received
by the Bondholders from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds and
up to and including the maturity date, but excluding any default interest,
other expenses and indemnified amounts received or receivable by the
Bondholders in respect of the Convertible Bonds), together with payment of

any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.

Any Bondholder may require the Company to redeem any part of the
Convertible Bonds held by the Bondholder in event of the occurrence of any
Events of Default defined in the instrument of the Convertible Bonds dated
12 October 2017 (the “Instrument”), in which event the Convertible Bonds
so redeemed shall become due and repayable on the date falling 21 business
days after the date of such notice. Upon such redemption, the Company shall
pay the Bondholders 120% of the outstanding principal amount together
with any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.
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BB =TT ([EHFRA N BOTASEES
265,000,000 JC M 4F 2 5 6% 37 1 i~ 5547 1]
R 5 ([R5 Be i 25 1) 4255 R AE O —
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

Also, any Bondholder may require the Company to redeem any part of the
Convertible Bonds held by the Bondholder in event of the occurrence of any
change of control event defined in the Instrument and after such change of
control event the closing price of the shares of the Company quoted on the
Stock Exchange falls below the conversion price of 5 consecutive trading
days of the Stock Exchange (provided always that the exercise of conversion
rights by the Bondholders individually or collectively into conversion shares
that result in 30% or more of the voting rights of the issued share capital of
the Company or the reduction of the voting rights of the issued share capital
of the Company held by the existing controlling shareholders to below 30%
shall not constitute or be taken as a change of control event), in which event
the Convertible Bonds so redeemed shall become due and repayable on
the date falling 21 business days after the date of such notice. Upon such
redemption, the Company shall pay the Bondholders an one-off lump sum
equal to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Convertible
Bond to be redeemed plus an amount that would make up an aggregate
return on the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bond of 8.5%
per annum (for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate return shall take into
account all interest accrued and paid on the Convertible Bonds and all cash
flow received by the Bondholders from the date of issue of the Convertible
Bonds and up to and including the date of redemption, but excluding any
default interest, other expenses and indemnified amounts received or
receivable by the Bondholders in respect of the Convertible Bonds), together

with payment of any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.

The Company may redeem all the outstanding Convertible Bonds at any
time on and after the first anniversary of the issue date of the Convertible
Bonds and prior to the maturity date, by the Company serving a 30 days’
prior written notice to the Bondholders, provided that no such redemption
may be made unless the closing price of a share of the Company for any 25
consecutive dealing days on which dealings in the shares of the Company on
the Stock Exchange took place, the last day of such 25-dealing day period
falling within five dealing days prior to the date upon which notice of such
redemption is given, is at least 130% of the then conversion price. Upon
such redemption, the Company shall pay the Bondholders a lump sum equal
to the aggregate outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bond to
be redeemed plus an amount that would make up an aggregate return on the
outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Bonds of 8.5% per annum
(for the avoidance of doubt, the aggregate return shall take into account
all interest accrued and paid on the Convertible Bonds and all cash flow
received by the Bondholders from the date of issue of the Convertible Bonds
and up to and including the date of redemption, but excluding any default
interest, other expenses and indemnified amounts received or receivable by
the Bondholders in respect of the Convertible Bonds) together with payment

of any accrued but unpaid interest, if any.

25. B (4])

BEAh o G A SCHR T A 2 AT o] 2 i A
B 1 EL R A TR T R s B S e g A AR
7 ) AR A Wi 58 T T R 2 e T A A B 58
JIT 3 4805 41 22 S HAIG RS 6 AR b AT fa] B
B 5 A A ) o 5 (o 4
T FH5 BB PR 073 T 2L A A 8 ] L AT AR 4
SEHEM30% 8k L - ok A R IR BT R
Z AN E) OBEAT AR 4 S E Ik D 5 30% LA
T WHE RSN £ R MR B )
AT AT i 25 19 A w5 AR 7 ) i [ it 52
Frf AR AT A8 4 vl 4 B i 25 - 2 U
T VLT > 45 0 B[] 2 ] 460 A 5 i 8 1
A B H R TR (8 2 H R H R R
T T3 o FAME A B [ RF > AR AL
If) i 5 19 N S — VR 4 B (R A T
B 0 2 AT 4 11 £ 2 o R AR R AR B LD
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25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 25.
Also, the conversion price is subject to adjustments from time to time
regarding certain events described in the Instrument. The Convertible Bonds
include a conversion option that will or may not be settled other than by the
exchange of a fixed amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed
number of the Company’s ordinary shares and accordingly the conversion
option does not meet the definition of an equity instrument. Further, as
described above, the Convertible Bonds include early redemption options

exercisable by the Company or the Bondholders.

With these embedded derivatives that are not considered closely related to
the host debt component, management of the Company decided to designate
the Convertible Bonds as a whole as at financial liabilities as at fair value
through profit or loss on initial recognition.

In subsequent periods, such Convertible Bonds are measured at fair value
with changes in fair value being recognised in profit or loss. Transaction
costs of HK$15,026,000 arising from the issuance of the Convertible Bonds
has been charged to profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2018.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Bondholders converted the
Convertible Bonds with aggregate principal amount of HK$10,000,000 at
a conversion price of HK$1.1625 per share into 8,602,150 ordinary shares
of the Company. Details of which are disclosed in note 29(b)(iii) to these
consolidated financial statements.

The movements of the Convertible Bonds for the year ended 31 March 2018

AT e {57 (4)

598k o IR AR SCHR Tk 2 % T R
BET AR EE o 40 6% G4 o T AL
6 7 9 B 4 5 — JFL B S
7 U 2 AN 7 R 2 7 SR 2
HE o WA MR & R TR
3 o JEOh - BRI LR - RTIRIBER 6 4E A
O T S A AT AT 2 4 R i 4
-

T R A AT A T - AL WA B bR
T AD 2 e IR I T 40 B 0 2 A A 2 T 4%
AP ERHEBAIRZ WAL -

AR W > A7 B T e A 5 T N T
BERBESERZ ATEE - HE %
— NEZH =+ —HIEFEE > Sk
% 2 28 5 7R 15,026,0009 76 B 1B
AR

WRE - NE=ZH=+—H IL4ERF
5 53 A 43 484 510,000,000 35 7T
Z Al S > FR AR AR R 1.1625% 0T
A 5 AR N ] 8,602,150 B0 B o REAR 4%
T A GE A TS R I 529 (b) (i)

AR EEREE - A=A = —

are set out below: H IEAF 2 s
2018
—F— )N\
HK$°000
T
At 1 April 2017 R F LA —H =
Issuance of the Convertible Bonds BT Al A S ()26 HERRIRE LA FERTHE)

(measured at fair value on initial recognition) 370,223
Conversion of the Convertible Bonds L TR R 5 (12,254)
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss in respect £ 4T [k EL #8046 ] $6 f5% f8 55 50 8 25 2

of the Convertible Bonds converted during the year ZINAE S 1,717)
Fair value change recognised in profit or loss A TR A R AR R SRAT (o T #8855 4 4 R

in respect of the Convertible Bonds outstanding 2N HEEE)

as of end of the year (45,742)
At 31 March 2018 WoFE - NFE=ZH=1+—H 310,510

For the year ended 31 March 2018, the net fair value loss of the Convertible
Bonds recognised in profit or loss amounting to HK$57,764,000 comprises
(i) day-one loss of HK$105,223,000 in respect of the difference between
the fair value of Convertible Bonds on initial recognition and the cash
consideration of HK$265,000,000, (ii) the fair value gain of the Convertible
Bonds on the conversion date of HK$1,717,000, and (iii) the fair value gain
in respect of the Convertible Bonds outstanding as at 31 March 2018 of
HK$45,742,000.
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BE - Z-NE=ZA=+—HILEE
18 25 T RR 0 4 857,764,000 7 TG 1Y A
A& B A P E BT FEEREOA BT
i e AR 25 T W0 A5 T R R A A - (i B BT 4
118 265,000,000 % 7C 2 2= FH M 1 H 518
105,223,000 7 > (ii)7A B AT 46 i A 5 7 5t
e H WA A PE Uk £51,717,0008 0C > K (i)
HRR - F— /E=ZA=+—HRITA

W B AB 10 T (E R £3245,742,000 9 G ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B 55 R B

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

The Convertible Bonds are measured at fair value using Monte-Carlo
simulation method at initial recognition, at the time of conversion and
at the end of the reporting period based on the valuation undertaken by
an independent professional valuer. The inputs into the model on initial

recognition, date of conversion and as at 31 March 2018 are as follows:

25. B (4])

I R

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —F— /4= J] =+—H IL4EJE

AT 46 A 2 T 40 ey ) S S A (B AT Y
it (B 7 52 2 A0 2 B RR NG ~ LA I T 4R
MR Z A TFEUSE RS E -
R AR T NE=A

=+ H AR A SR AT

At At

22 March 2018 12 October 2017

At (the date of (the date of initial

31 March 2018 conversion) recognition)

AR )\ 4 R )4 A e W22

=H=+—H =Z=AZ=+ZR +H+=A

(EiRE) (R msE )

Share price (HK$) REAE (5 0T) 1.15 1.18 7.00
(after share (after share (before share

subdivision) subdivision) subdivision)

AR RamR)  OABIRAR) (RO HRANTT)

Conversion price for the first S IR AE (s oT) 1.16 1.16 4.65
anniversary year (HKS$) (after share (after share (before share
subdivision) subdivision) subdivision)

(A BeAnramig)  ORBARIRANR) RO RANET)

Conversion price for the second 5B THRAE 2 W BAE (MR D) 1.00 1.00 4.00
anniversary year (HK$) (after share (after share (before share
subdivision) subdivision) subdivision)

(ABARRAR) AR IRAR) (RO HRANTT)

Expected volatility (%) TR (%) 47 47 52
Remaining life (years) FIERAEI (4F) 1.53 1.56 2.00
Risk-free rate (%) e J B ) 3 (%) 1.28 1.26 0.89
Discount rate (%) AEBLER (%) 13.0 13.5 12.0
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% — & — /\4E = H =+ —H [F4E B

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED) 25. WA (4)
The fair value of the Convertible Bonds as at 31 March 2018 is categorised T EER E-NE=ZA=F+—H2Z
as Level 3 under the fair value hierarchy set out in HKFRS 13 “Fair Value N VE 0 S A s AR i E R AR 1358
Measurement”. The below is a narrative description of the sensitivity of the [AVEFE ] T2 AP EBRIATZ
fair value measurement to changes in unobservable inputs to the fair value B o FAHAANTEFEEATERE
measurement: N R] AR B 5 ) 2 SRR AR A

Relationship of unobservable

Significant unobservable inputs inputs to fair value Sensitivity analysis

R A A\ B AN B N\ B BT (E A TR AR UL ST

Discount rate (+/-1%) The higher the discount rate, If the discount rate increases by 1%, the
B R (+/-1%) the lower the fair value fair value of the Convertible Bonds would

of the Convertible Bonds, and vice versa  decrease to HK$310,333,000. If the discount

HEER A o AT SR 2 A AL rate decreases by 1%, the fair value of

% > RZIRER the Convertible Bonds would increase to
HK$311,455,000.
MBI N1 % » RIS 2 AT
(B3 %£310,333,00095 70 © Al %
W 1% » ATHRIR AR 2 PR i 2
311,455,000% JC
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

25. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (CONTINUED)

25. B (4])

Year ended
31 March 2018
BEZZR—)\4F
=ZH=+—H
JIX; 3
HK$°000
T
Cumulative change in fair value attributable to AR N RS 2 A B Jm e 5 ) R A 2
changes in credit risk recognised during the year BEHATEEE) (5D
(Note 1) 1,335
Difference between carrying amount and MR B3 M4 40 S B2 W 2 2280
contractual amount at maturity:
Convertible Bonds at fair value F N PR 2 v R 75 310,350
Amount payable at maturity ) HE AT BH 298,350
12,000
Note: it sE -
(1) The change in fair value attributable to change in credit risk is calculated as the (1) 15 15l B 58 B B A\ 22 2 ST (5 B T $e m ff ik

difference between the change in fair value of the Convertible Bonds and the change
in fair value of the Convertible Bonds due to change in benchmark interest rate
curve alone. The change in fair value of the Convertible Bonds due to the change in
benchmark interest rate curve was calculated based on the benchmark interest rate
curve as at the end of the reporting period and holding credit spread constant. The fair
value of the Convertible Bonds was estimated by discounting future cash flows using
benchmark interest rate curve as at the end of the reporting period and on estimated
credit spread with reference to the lender quotes for borrowings of similar maturity.

R 5 - (B0 528 ) B8 [R] Y ) 3 oty A 22 ) 20
Bz R RS AT B 2 R 2 2w
B o DR I 4 gy % 5 B MR B T R
1 5 ) T T S A AR S A ot A
A (BGE ERE A « A2
PR TS 2 8 (o P 0 o B0 R 22 i 9 ) 4 i A
PrBUR AR B4 i i S AE 2% FoA AR 5300 H
Z AR BRI 2 A FHE B 2 AT A
3o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited N BB (F ) AR AR 175



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% — & — /\4E = H =+ —H [F4E B

26. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE

176

20. WEAIAR U E TR

2018

&)\

HK$’000

Tt

At fair value: TN T -

At beginning of the year A -
Tssue of promissory notes (note 31) FEATIR SRR (M 5E31) 10,131
Fair value change TEEEE) 447
At end of the year AR 10,578
Less: Amounts shown under current liabilities W E B AR SR (1,491)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FEME BTN SR 9,087

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company issued promissory

notes for the settlement of the considerations arising from the following

acquisitions:

®

(ii)

on 22 December 2017, the Company issued two promissory notes of
total initial principal amount of HK$4,800,000 (subject to downward
adjustments in accordance with the conditions as stipulated in the
sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements) in respect
of the acquisition of Soul Marketing (as detailed in note 31(c)(i)).
The promissory notes bear interest of 10% per annum and payable
annually in arrears. The promissory notes with initial principal
amount of HK$2,400,000 and HK$2,400,000 will mature on the
first and second anniversary from the date of issue of the respective
promissory note; and

on 28 February 2018, the Company issued a promissory note of
initial principal amount of HK$5,520,000 (subject to downward
adjustments in accordance with the conditions as stipulated in the
sale and purchase agreement and supplemental agreements) in
respect of the acquisition of IAHGames (as detailed in note 31(c)(ii)).
The promissory note bears interest of 10% per annum and payable
annually in arrears. The promissory note will mature on the second
anniversary from the date of issue of the promissory note.

Since the promissory notes payable is relatively immaterial to both the

Group’s financial position as at 31 March 2018 and the Group’s results for

the year ended 31 March 2018, details of the achievement targets of Soul

Marketing and IAHGames which may lead to downward adjustments of the

promissory notes payable are not disclosed in these financial statements.
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BE_E - )E=A=+—HILEEZ &
O F) B AT R S B LGS S 2 i g E
H 2 AUE

®

(i)

o F—tFEt+ A+ H AR
A P T A SR (N B E31(c)
) BT ol ) BEAT LT A5 A & B3
4,800,000 7T ( ] HR 95 B B 15wk M Al
F0 0 R T ET B 2 AT AR AR 2K
SEERAE o KO BER AR I 2 10%
B WEHR AR A - A S
8 /52,400,000 % 7T K 2,400,000 # I
TR BRI 5 R LB E R AT H )
REFTEE — R ARSI R

M E— ) AEZHZHAH AN
AT B TAHGames (40 [ 5E31(c) (i) T
FEAR ) BEAT A A AR 48 45 5,520,000
ot (] AR o o Al 7 W e I T
W Z A7 AR ) 2 7 L2298 - K
SR AE R R 10% T - W ER A
FEARR A o 7K S0 B IR IR 2 S0 R bR
BEAT BTSSR AE S o

F 7 I AT 7 5, S AR B AR SR A = — N\
A E A ZMBR AL
CE - NFZHA=Z+—HIEEZ EEW
RGN SN e
A RE B B A R S ER IR T W 2 v T 8 R g
JIAHGames 2 &8%% H =64 -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A £ B 55 R B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

26. PROMISSORY NOTES PAYABLE 206. MEAT & 5o 52 4% ()
(CONTINUED)
The fair value of promissory notes payable as at 31 March 2018 are based REE—=NFE=H=T—H > BRLE
on the valuation performed by an independent professional valuer not 5 2 0N PR T i i B A S (o) AR A B e 2
connected with the Group. Details of fair value measurement are set out in SLHLEAE AT A E o B BAFEF
note 4(d). S RN I

27. PROVISIONS 27, 1

Goods return

from customers

FRRK
HK$’000
Tt
At 1 April 2016 R F—NAEMA—H 1,571
Additional provisions made I 932
Provisions utilised B2 A (1,158)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 WEFE—LEZA = A =F—LFMNA—H 1,345
Additional provisions made S 609
Provisions utilised CLE (947)
At31 March 2018 woE - NE=ZH=+—H 1,007
The Group cannot reliably estimate the amounts that may eventually be 7 4 [ R B Tl B AL BT i 2 A 4 R
settled after more than 12 months from the end of the reporting period. Thus, s AR B SEE - HIk > 28
the whole amount was classified as current. SEES By BN -
Note: The provisions for goods return from customers represents the present value of the WeE - & PR Te W R PER & EUE T ST
directors’ best estimate of future outflow of economic benefits that will be required o T o A R 2 U R E o B A E I B
under the Group’s obligations under the goods return policy. The estimate has been (B o A B EH 2% R R -

made by reference to historical goods return rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4FE

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES 28. ?@Mﬁlﬁ i
(a) The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the year are as (a) EREBIEAGBRENYETWT
follows:
Fair value
adjustment

on intangible

asset upon
Accelerated acquisition
tax depreciation of subsidiaries Total
W S WY g 8 W) 4%
EEEZ
TR A PE R Fob
HKS$’000 HKS$000 HK$°000
THTT T T
At 1 April 2016 W FE—ANENA—H 626 = 626
Credited to profit or loss (note 11) FEAE L (FfHaE1) (37) = (37)
At31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 ~ R-F—LHF=H=1+—HK
“ER—LHENA—HA 589 = 589
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 31) Wl B 2~ 7] (FiF5E31) - 34,570 34,570
Credited to profit or loss (note 11) FEAE S (kLD (278) (666) (944)
At 31 March 2018 WoFE—NE=ZA=1—H 311 33,904 34,215
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

28. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

(b)

(c)

Deferred tax assets in respect of the unused tax losses carried forward
are to be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable
profits will be available against which the unused tax losses can be
utilised.

The Group has not recognised deferred tax assets in respect of the tax
losses of HK$69,625,000 (2017: HK$16,010,000) for the year ended
31 March 2018 due to the unpredictability of future profit streams.

The unrecognised tax losses can be carried forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible
temporary differences of HK$4,927,000 (2017: HK$3,220,000). No
deferred tax assets has been recognised in relation to such deductible
temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the deductible temporary difference can be
utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised
Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC

subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards.

At 31 March 2018, temporary differences relating to the
undistributed profits of subsidiaries amounted to HK$453,000
(2017: HK$4,219,000). Deferred tax liabilities of HK$45,000 (2017:
HK$422,000) have not been recognised in respect of the tax that
would be payable on the distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and it
has been determined that it is probable that these profits will not be

distributed in the foreseeable future.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

28. WRHEHLIH £ 04 (51)
(b) 47 Bt B S B L O MEAE 7

(0

IR HARA 4 E R R A A
RS AR By B s 1H R AR o

BE-Z— /EZA=+—HIR4E
B A4 B R 669,625,000 76 (=
F—-L4E 1 16,010,000%70) FIBLH 5
TR RRIE SE B T TR N s M
A i R R o A R R BT s 18 AT
e PRS0 24 o

R IR o A AR Y AT 0 R
FEHA 154,927,000 70 (& — L 4F
3,220,000 70) o B A A KT R
SRR i A AT DA B T e R 2
B WM M A% S T U R 2 A
FRIR AL BLIE G E o

AT R 208 B I 4 £

AR b B BT AL - b B
7l T\ E— A — AU IR
i T 25 0 8 AR TR

MRoFE— ) E=ZHA=+—H > HH#
B JB8 2 7 2R 43 IR s R T AR G T
£ R 453,0009 00 ( =& — L4
4,219,000 # oG ) o #E 4E Bl IH A A
45,0005 76 ( —F— L4 : 422,0005
JG ) W A A R 5% A R T Ve A IR o
TRIBLIE T LARERR > R S5 A< | AR A
e A BRI BB 2 R IR S BOK > LB
Tl 7 2% 5 U S AT R TT S5 24 40
1‘[{ o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

29. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

(a)

Reserves

20, JBA F it s

The reconciliation between the opening and closing balances of

each component of the Group’s consolidated equity is set out in the

consolidated statement of changes in equity. Details of the changes

(a) it

A T 5 R i 58 2 P A 2 A
2N IR S 0 IR A A AR ) AR R Y

in the Company’s individual components of equity between the BEFEHERIINT -
beginning and the end of the year are set out below:
The Company AT
Share Contributed ~ Shareoption  Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
Tefie e BARE  TBRERS it st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
(note 29(c)(i))  (note 29(c)(ii))  (note 29(c)(vi))
(B0 W) (HE0)
At 1 April 2016 RZZ=RERA—H 125416 38,541 6,864 (10,626) 160,195
Change in equity for 2017: “R-ER e
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year FRBER2TERSH - = S (7 (177)
Share options lapsed BRI = = (3,445) 3445 =
Shares issued under share option scheme i b
(note 29(b)(i)) (EE2000)()) 23468 - (3419) - 20,049
At31 March 2017 and REF-tE=AZ+-RR
1 April 2017 ZE-LERA-H 148,884 38,541 - (7,358) 180,067
Change in equity for 2018: ZF- N
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ERNBERR2EREE = = = (120,171) (120,171)
Equity-settled share-based payments DURHERE AR S 2 B = = 29290 = 29290
Shares issued upon conversion of convertible bonds R A H i 4 T
(note 29(b)ii) (290 i) 1223 . . . 1223
At 31 March 2018 RoE-\E=H=1—H 161,116 38,541 29,290 (127,529) 101,418
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

29, JBA Ko fii i (45)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Share capital (b) A
Nominal
value Number of Share
per share shares capital
Sy i B4 8 H A
HK$'000
Tt
Authorised: PE ¢
At 1 April 2016, 31 March 2017 AZFE—NAFEMA—H -
and 1 April 2017 —F—tF=HA=+—H
M= F—L4FEmPHA—H 0.01 1,000,000,000 10,000
Share Subdivision (note ii) AR A (i) 3,000,000,000 =
At 31 March 2018 HWoE - NFE=ZH=4+—H 0.0025 4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: BT REE -
At 1 April 2016 AT E—7NAEM A —H 0.01 516,300,000 5,163
Shares issued under HR A I I RE S 30 854 T I 0y
share option scheme (note i) (BfFEED) 0.01 12,300,000 123
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 R % tﬁ H=+—H
e mF—LAFEMH—H 0.01 528,600,000 5,286
Share Subdivision (note ii) Exﬁj\%mlﬂ Bt i) 1,585,800,000 -
Shares issued upon conversion of A TR R S 1A
convertible bonds (note iii) BEAT A (B i) 0.0025 8,602,150 22
At 31 March 2018 WoF—/F=HA=+—H 0.0025 2,123,002,150 5,308

The owners of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company. All ordinary shares rank equally with

regard to the Company’s residual assets.

Notes:

(i) On 21 November 2016, share options were exercised to subscribe

for 12,300,000 ordinary shares in the Company at a consideration of
HK$20,172,000, of which HK$123,000 was credited to share capital and
the balance of HK$20,049,000 was credited to the share premium account.

HK$3,419,000 has been transferred from the share option reserve to the

share premium account in accordance with policy set out in note 2(q)(ii).

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

T A AR R ORI E R 2

J B B A HER AR 2 ROR 8 B DA — i —

SOEATRP - A EEREA N T Z
BT BT 7 4 A [ SRR o

Wik -

®

AR —NEFF—HZ+—H K

A7 {1 B8 15 R T 8 1 7 2\ W) 12,300,000
i ) ARAE £520,172,00095 7G
123,000 T A BR A A - BR T
20,049,000 #5 7 51 A i 6y v 5 B o
48 O B 5E 2(q) i) 1 B - A
3,419,000 7 Fh A IR0HE foff e A T 13
Ti fE M o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

29. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 20, A K fikifs (45)

CONTINUED}
) Share capital (Continued) (b) JBA (48)
Notes: (Continued) FiFsE - (4%)
(ii) Pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by shareholders at the (ii) IR —F—LF T+ H W H &
extraordinary general meeting held on 4 December 2017, the Share AT 2 e SRR I R I 7 ol 2 55 Pk
Subdivision of every issued and unissued shares of HK$0.01 each % A BB E (.01 2 B
subdivided into four shares of HK$0.0025 each became effective on 5 AT B ARAEAT e -4 40 25 Y e 1 T (L
December 2017. Details of the Share Subdivision were set out in the 0.0025# 7C 2 Bt 2 e n i A — %
Company’s announcements dated 27 October 2017, 3 November 2017, —LET AT H AR R
6 November 2017, 8 November 2017 and 4 December 2017. TR AN T AR =R —EF 1]

bR CF Lt -ASH
“F Lt —ANE - SE LR
+—=ANA R =F—tE+ZHANA

Pa/N i

(iii) ~ On 22 March 2018, the convertible bonds with principal amount of (iii) ACE - NEZH T H o ARG
HK$10,000,000 were converted into 8,602,150 ordinary shares at 510,000,000 #5 7T 2 AT # A5 15 25 4% 4
conversion price of HK$1.1625 per share, of which HK$22,000 was credited JRAE B3 1.1625 7 T 1845 /5 8,602,150
to share capital and the balance of HK$12,232,000 was credited to the share i > Ho 22,0005 TGEFA AR
premium account. & 512,232,000 % 7T 51 A B ¥ A5

B o
(¢) Nature and purpose of reserves (c) fEMZHEEME

(i) The share premium represents the difference between the nominal value of (i) A3 Vi A 6 A 2 ) R A9 T {1 BEL 94 7 AR
the shares of the Company and proceeds received from the issuance of shares N 5 Wi B R BT A5 EKOE 22 TR R 2
of the Company. Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the oo RIS BEATL - ANFM
share premium account of the Company is distributable to the shareholders 13 Yii A B AT 2 UR T AR N R B > MR
of the Company provided that immediately following the date on which the B RIS B IR - AN A
dividend is proposed to be distributed, the Company would be in a position A5 RE J0 155 B S5 A v 1 31 3 i
to pay off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business. o

(ii)  Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value (i)  BABBRIEAAF AT 52w
of the ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of {H BEL 375 38 AR R A 2 ) R 003 A W 22 JiT
subsidiaries acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group GEM b 7 il 2 48 [ 5 40 3 462 i 4 Wi i
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the [t A T 2 B R E 2 255 o
Stock Exchange.

(ili) ~ Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the (i) A OFREME A 7 B BT I T
ordinary shares issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries {H B 375 308 AR B A 2 ) I 003 A W 28 T
acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation GEM | 1 i 2 4 19 5 41 5 458 J 9 5 e
prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock B/ 2 AR 2 258 o
Exchange.

(iv)  Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries (v)  RRRAR S o] o ] A B 2 W) i1 AL AR T R
and relevant statutory regulations, appropriations to the statutory reserve A0 5] T AR T cE B 100 E G 4
fund were made at a 10% of profit after taxation determined in accordance TR T I R ) SR ) 7
with the accounting rules and regulations of the PRC. When the balance of B R B2 8 RIS 10%1E o 8 5 0E Tk
statutory reserve fund reaches 50% of registered capital of each relevant 5 4 Sk o 3] 45 R B I A | Y
PRC subsidiary, any further appropriation is at the discretion of the 50%EMHEA > i i a% M 2 Rl 2 Ik
shareholders of this subsidiary. This reserve fund can be utilised in setting TR SE S A5 VAT A 3 — 5 4 3K - W% Fet
off accumulated losses or increasing capital of the subsidiaries provided that A4 m R S 8 B 2 WD G B RS 1R
the balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of their registered BUEINEEAS o A B AR A A B R
capital, and is non-distributable other than in liquidation. TS HopE M &AM 25% > ELERTE &

Gh s ANH IR IR o

(v)  Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from (v) B RS T AT MR A AR 2
the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations. The reserve i SN wd S A k]
is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy set out in note 2(v). HRIERE2(vV) BT 2 S st BOR A -

(vi)  The share option reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated (vi) I RRE Rt A8 T 4 AR R B RE 2(q) (i)
number of unexercised share options granted to directors of the Company, 2(r) ST e A A 465 B DA 4% S A 2
employees of a subsidiary and all other eligible participants recognised in BHSZ PR 2 @ RHEUR > TERBIZ TAL
accordance with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled share-based A A FE B KA HAl A
payments set out in notes 2(q)(ii) and 2(r). K 2 B I B R A RO 2 R

AT R A HE 2 A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

30. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by
business lines (products and services). In a manner consistent with the way
in which information is reported internally to the board of directors of the
Company, being the Group’s chief operating decision maker (“CODM”) for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance assessment, the Group

has presented the following reportable segments.

—  Development, manufacturing and sales of health and beauty

supplements and products

—  Online advertising agency business

—  Online payment business

—  Other businesses include small operating segments namely the
e-commerce promotion business and the game distribution business
where the revenue, results and assets from these segments are
below the quantitative thresholds under HKFRS 8 for determining a

reportable segment.

During the year ended 31 March 2018, in view of the significance of the
newly acquired businesses, the CODM revised the organisation of segments
based on revenue contribution from its products and service lines so as
to enhance operational efficiency, and considered to group the reportable
and operating segments in prior years, namely (i) proprietary brands
comprising the development, manufacturing and sales of self-developed
health supplements; (ii) proprietary brands comprising the development,
manufacturing and sales of self-developed beauty supplements and products;
(iii) private label brands comprising the development, manufacturing
and sales of health supplements; (iv) private label brands comprising the
development, manufacturing and sales of beauty supplements and products;
(v) trading of goods comprising the trading and sales of health supplements;
(vi) trading of goods comprising the trading and sales of beauty supplements
and products and (vii) other items relating to the provision of Chinese
medical consultation services and provision of health food processing
services, into a single operating segment. The comparatives have been

restated.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)
During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Group introduced three new

184

reportable segments, the online advertising agency business, online payment

business and other businesses, as a result of the business combinations

through acquisition of subsidiaries as detailed in note 31 of the financial

statements.

(a)

Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

Before the introduction of the three new reportable segments, no
segment assets and liabilities information is presented as such
information is not a key indicator for the purposes of allocating
resources to segments and assessing their performance by the Group’s
CODM. After the introduction of the three new reportable segments,
the CODM also reviews assets and liabilities of each of the operating
segment. As a result, the comparative figures of segment assets and

liabilities have been restated for reviewing purpose of the CODM.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on operating segment profit/(loss). The segment
(loss)/profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s
(loss)/profit before tax except for unallocated other revenue and other
net loss, fair value change of contingent consideration payables,
fair value change of promissory notes payable, fair value change of
convertible bonds, equity-settled share-based payments, finance costs

and unallocated corporate expenses.

Segment assets exclude tax recoverable, unallocated intangible assets,
unallocated cash and cash equivalents and other unallocated corporate

assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, tax payable, bank
borrowings, other borrowings, contingent consideration payables,
promissory notes payable, convertible bonds, amounts due to non-
controlling interests and unallocated corporate liabilities as these

liabilities are managed on a group basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —&— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4F

to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resources allocation and

assessment of segment performance for the year ended 31 March
2018 and 2017 is set out below:

(®)

Segment revenue and results

30. 4> B (%)

(a) riPuess - R -EERARE
(78)
BE T NFR_F—LF=H
= —H R B4R A
Gy B0 2 B T A A 4 )
Wi 2 ARG AT 2 WA 2 G
wm

G) A KR

For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEZZ-\EZN=ZT— Bk

Development,
manufacturing
and sales
of health Online
and beauty  advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business ~ businesses  Elimination Total
g -
R R
RFame AR Bt
RER  REER iR RMER e it
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
T T T Ti#n T T
Segment revenue: A
Revenue from external customers AR 250,797 9447 1,751 2,456 - 264451
Inter-segment revenue il - 600 - - (600) -
250,197 10,047 1,751 2,456 (600) 264,451
Segment results SIS 30522 (1,732) (3870) (2,061) = 16,859
Unallocated other revenue and A ]I R
other net loss 208
Fair value change of contingent BREREATEEH
consideration payables (9,264)
Fair value change of promissory notes AR ATE%E)
payable (447)
Fair value change of convertible bonds A it /A T-E 58 (57,764)
Equity-settled share-based payments DIBRER: FLUMBR AR SR 2 B (29,290)
Finance costs RERA (8,574)
Unallocated corporate expenses IR (53,784)
Loss before taxation RAHiER (142,056)

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JEBS BB (#8) HMR AT 185



Ve g
3 p (44';‘ ﬁ” A X
o NP A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #{ % ~ZF— /\4F=H =+ —H IL4FE

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 30. 43 Hh s ()
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) ZrEbukss -~ ¥4 BEKAME
(Continued) (%8)
(i) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (i) SPEBHL RS R SEAT ()

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (restated)
BEZ-LE=N=-RILEE (E7)

Development,
manufacturing
and sales
of health Online
and beauty advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business businesses Total
k- R
REERE
REAH S Bt
RER REER S EXiE st
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000

T T Tk Tk Tk

Segment revenue: s

Revenue from external customers RESNEF s 220853 = = = 220853
Segment results VR 30,583 = = = 30,583
Unallocated other revenue and other net loss A/t EAtfi 45 B HoA ¥ st 209
Finance costs RERA (776)
Unallocated corporate expenses FARAERL (14376)
Profit before taxation BRI A 15,640
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 30. 43 Hh s ()

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) izt - (% - EENAM
(Continued) (78)
(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities (i) HEEERAE
Asat 31 March 2018
REZ=MEZAZF—H
Development,
manufacturing
and sales of
health and Online
beauty advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business businesses Total
P B
BB
R @ LB Gk
RER RoEH SLES BiliEd it
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000
Ti#x T T T T
Assets B
Segment assets AR 178,386 6,648 294,260 50,360 589,654
Tax recoverable e LR 508
Unallocated intangible assets RO G 2,200
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents FRRBE LB ESEYD 102,460
Unallocated corporate assets FREbLEE 74956
Total consolidated assets BERRE 769,778
Liabilities S
Segment liabilities APAR 15,345 41 430 1956 22,054
Deferred tax liabilities EIERAA R 34215
Tax payable JERTBUE m
Bank borrowings BTlEE 28119
Other borrowings Hbf 5k 5,500
Contingent consideration payables RN R 177,519
Promissory notes payable TERTR R0 10,578
Convertible bonds Ml 310,510
Amounts due to non-controlling interests e Eal i B 1242
Unallocated corporate liabilities AEEEARE 12979
Total consolidated liabilities Hu otk 603,043
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i [ B (PR AR AW 1 87



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =& — /\4F = H =+ —H [L 4B

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

(i)

188

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

30. 7 EE ()

i L E e

(%)
(i)

(a)

As at 31 March 2017 (restated)
RoR—tEZA=1—H (BE5)

- HEKRAR

2 S R R ()

Development,
manufacturing
and sales of
health and Online
beauty advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business businesses Total
B - B
T & R
REHMR RS "t
RER FRIER SRR BiRiES Mt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000
T T T T T
Assets 4373
Segment assets G E 142,443 - - - 142,443
Tax recoverable AR BIE 764
Unallocated intangible assets KB G 2,200
Unallocated cash and cash equivalents K7 (B4 KB 425 B 81,736
Unallocated corporate assets FOREEERE 38,941
Total consolidated assets By 266,084
Liabilities il
Segment liabilities Pagis=Ut 14422 = = S 14422
Deferred tax liabilities RERIEA K 589
Tax payable JEfBE 2,129
Bank borrowings RITIES 30,565
Amounts due to non-controlling interests JREASH 3 M 5 2R 1,200
Unallocated corporate liabilities KEEEAE 3,555
Total consolidated liabilities AEa Ak 52,460
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % —ZF— /\4E =] =+ —H IL4EE

)
TERE TS

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) 4 % &E&KAE
(Continued) (78)
(iii)  Other segment information (iii)  H A &R
For the year ended 31 March 2018
BEZZ-)\EZA=ET—HIEEE
Development,
manufacturing
and sales of
health and Online
beauty  advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business businesses Total
B3 - ik
RAE R
e AN v A
TR fil REEH SPES Hefbw; st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T#L T#L T T T
Other information AR}
Additions of property, plant BRI 8 s R A
and equipment other than through WHIREWE - BF
acquisition of subsidiaries V&L ] 957 1,217 611 2 2,787
Additions of unallocated property, BRI ) LA S
plant and equipment other than MR E R RE -
through acquisition of subsidiaries o Rt 2,665
Total additions of property, BRI B 2 F LA S
plant and equipment other than MR EE - R
through acquisition of subsidiaries YE{EE 5452
Additions of property, plant IR IR 2 7R B
and equipment through acquisition WE
of subsidiaries 26,834 196 3,280 68 30,378
Additions of unallocated property, BRI B A Bl B Ry
plant and equipment through [WIE Y T
acquisition of subsidiaries 39,000
Total additions of property, BRI A FlR B
plant and equipment through EN e
acquisition of subsidiaries* 69,378
Additions of intangible assets through RIS IE I & 2 fl iR E Y
acquisition of subsidiaries B - 34,445 172,313 2,758 209,516
Additions of goodwill through BRIUEMEA TR ERE
acquisitions of subsidiaries - 31,214 113,373 32,909 177,496
Depreciation of property, plant and W~ B Rt
equipment 3,955 145 546 18 4,664
Unallocated depreciation of property, v EN ST
plant and equipment e 2,286
Total depreciation of property, plant W% s Rt
and equipment 6,950
Amortisation of intangible assets Y 143 5,809 = 150 6,102
E Including the business combinations and acquisition of assets * BLAE ST A DF B A28 38 00 IVl

through acquisition of subsidiaries as detailed in notes 31 and 32 of

these financial statements respectively.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =& — /\4F = H =+ —H [L 4B

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 30. 4> HbER (4)
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) ZrEdwiss - ¥4 -BEMARE
(Continued) (#8)
(iii)  Other segment information (Continued) i)  H BB &R (45)

For the year ended 31 March 2017 (restated)
WEZZ—LFEEAZT—HILEE (KE5)
Development,
manufacturing

and sales of

health and Online
beauty advertising Online
supplements agency payment Other
and products business business businesses Total
Rt R
REEH RERE KE
T dh RS TRl R M5t

HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000
T T T T T

Other information RN
Additions of property, plant and REWE - WF R

equipment 3,287 - - - 3,287
Additions of unallocated property, RERNDE - B R

plant and equipment ] 1,511

Total additions of property, plantand VR EHIE - Bils &
equipment B 4,798

Depreciation of property, plant and LER NG E

equipment 3,465 - - - 3,465
Unallocated depreciation of property, KAMME - BiE &

plant and equipment BHES 1,168
Total depreciation of property, WE - W Rk fETE

plant and equipment A 4,633
Amortisation of intangible assets I 143 - - - 143
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ok B 55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

30. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 30. 43 Hh s ()
(b) Geographical information (b) HblE &R
The Company is domiciled in Hong Kong. The Group’s operations AN TR o AL 2 W T2
are mainly located in Hong Kong, the PRC and Taiwan. PEREUE ~ I B -
The revenue information below is based on the location of the LN W A ORI DL AR i A L 7
operations. #E o
2018
—F- )N\
Non-current
Revenue assets
Wi Jri By
HK$°000 HK$°000
T¥#o0 T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) Tk GG bR 263,730 507,585
The PRC i 606 681
Taiwan =0 ] 115 -
264,451 508,266
2017
S
Non-current
Revenue assets
Li& I G
HK$°000 HK$000
Tt T T
Hong Kong (place of domicile) B s (A1 b B ) 220,620 57,635
The PRC i - 121
Taiwan = 233 17
220,853 57,773
(¢) Information about major customer (¢ FEEPHER
Revenues from external customer contributing 10% or more of the G B A SRR 10% 8 L E Y2k B
total revenue of the Group is as follows: SRR F A R BT AN R
2018 2017
A e S oS
HK$°000 HK$°000
T¥#oT TH#E T
Customer A* 2 134,017 125,419
* The revenues were derived from the development, manufacturing and sales E A B TR B B EE - Rk RS R
of health and beauty supplements and products. e J S i B i o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 31. £ A0
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries HEE T NFE=ZH=+—HILFEEI
acquired during the year ended 31 March 2018 as at their respective dates of W B A Jo 2 D A T R ) T AR A
acquisition are set out below: 2 AR B AP T
Others Total
Star Root ~ Empire Access it 5t
Note HK$°000 HK$000 HKS$000 HK$°000
i T T T Tk
(note (a)) (note (b)) (note (c))
(W7 (a)) (W3E®)) (W3t ()
Non-current assets FREE
Plant and equipment LS 196 3,280 68 3,544
Intangible assets g 16 34,445 172313 2,758 209,516
Current assets WHE
Trade and other receivables e B A i R 274 169 3,869 4312
Cash and cash equivalents Bie REEFED 70 915 2,074 3,059
Tax recoverable EEiEE - = 100 100
Current liabilities WEA R
Trade and other payables JEH AR B A A+ 208 (400) (1,363) (3,7143) (5,506)
Non-current liabilities B R
Deferred tax liabilities IRAERE A 28 (5,683) (28.432) (455) (34,570)
Total identifiable net assets at Fe A T (A A R S 2
fair value A 28,902 146,882 4671 180,455
Goodwill arising on acquisitions I Y T 17 31214 113373 32,909 177,496
Non-controlling interests R (10,116) (44,075) (1454) (55,645)
Total consideration e 50,000 216,180 36,126 302,306
Consideration satisfied by: IMVSY Y ES TR
Cash consideration paid ERBEENE 50,000 5,000 13,920 68,920
Cash consideration payable JEATB &R E S 55,000 = 55,000
Fair value of contingent consideration SR JERHLEAT-(H
payables 24 - 156,180 12,075 168,255
Fair value of promissory notes payable M 7K bt Z2 /3 F-( 26 - - 10,131 10,131
50,000 216,180 36,126 302,306
Net cash outflow arising from the RE-Z—)\EZA=+—H
acquisitions during the year ended  114F JiE O A 4 A B3 4
31 March 2018: A
Cash consideration paid EHANE (50,000 (60,000) (13,920 (123,920)
Deposits paid in previous year RS 5,000 - - 5,000
Cash and cash equivalents acquired Pl A B
BESEY 70 915 2,074 3,059
(44,930) (59,085) (11,846) (115,861)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

(b)

Acquisition of Star Root

On 9 January 2017, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
an independent third party vendor to acquire the entire equity interest of Star Root,
a company incorporated in the BVI, at a cash consideration of HK$50,000,000.
Star Root and its subsidiary (65% equity interest held by Star Root) are principally
engaged in the online advertising agency business. The management considers
that such acquisition will enable the Group to partner with and access to an online
information platform in Hong Kong and PRC to expand the sales and advertising
channels for the Group’s products, provide an additional income and cash flow
stream for the Group and further diversify the Group’s overall business. The
acquisition was completed on 13 April 2017.

The purchase price allocation of the acquisition of Star Root at 13 April 2017 was
completed in March 2018. The Group revised the provisional amounts recognised
at the acquisition date to reflect new information obtained about the facts and
circumstances that existed as of the acquisition date. This resulted in an adjustment to
certain assets and liabilities due to the completion of the valuation of the fair values
as at the date of acquisition, along with a corresponding decline in goodwill in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiary of Star Root recognised at the
acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of the subsidiary of Star Root at that
date.

The transation costs of approximately HK$66,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and included in “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Star Root is attributable to the future
growth and profitability in relation to the online advertising agency business. None
of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purpose.

Acquisition of Empire Access

On 30 June 2017, the Company entered into a sale and purchase agreement with
four independent third party vendors to acquire the entire equity interest of Empire
Access, a company incorporated in the BVI, for a total cash consideration of
HK$270,000,000. On 15 September 2017, the Company entered into a supplemental
agreement with the vendors pursuant to which the total consideration was revised
and adjusted downward to not more than HK$240,000,000, which comprises fixed
cash consideration of HK$60,000,000 and contingent consideration to be settled
in the form of promissory note issued by the Company. Empire Access and its
subsidiary (70% equity interest held by Empire Access) are principally engaged in
the business of provision of WeChat Pay cross border solutions to Tenpay Payment
Technology Company Limited, an integrated online payment platform, and the
retail merchants in Hong Kong. The management considers that such acquisition
will enable the Group to enter into the mobile payment industry which will provide
an additional income and cash flow stream to the Group and further diversify the
Group’s overall business. The acquisition was completed on 21 September 2017.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited M 2B (5 5% ) 5 PR 2 7]

31. 84 0F (4])

W

()

(b)

e Star Root

I S T R & IV NS IR /NS R VAL T
JrEITRTSL E E Wk o O R R L T
G AL ST 2 75 Fl Star Root i 2 s B AS 1 45 >
B 42 %18 £5 50,000,000 %5 7T  Star Root & H
¥f J§ 2> 7] (1 Star Root$5 4 65% B ) £ 24
F47 R TS - MR S U
TE B0 A 4 [ T B ol e R B Y L AT
BA1ERREE » iR A SR M 2 S X
HEREIRAE » W]y AR B2 BB LA A T A B B
BT » ME— 2 2T AR B B
B oo UK FRIHC R - F—LFNA +=H
SERL ©

& LA A 1 = H i Star Root 2 B
BE B = F— R = H B - AREENE
RIS H R 2 Y A > U R
Wi B BRI B TETE 0 A BR B RO 2
EORL 5 R 02 B R W H O 58 AT
AT 33 T P M A DA T IR - i m
SR BABEIR U 22 3 B AR E T o

TSI H 0T A R 1) Star Root 8§ 23 =] FF #2 it
HE £ T 442 R FF F22 J8 E 24 I A5 Star Root i & 2
AR H G R E 2 AT E W IR

TG RIS R AL SR A A
Wi 2 2% p TATECBA 32 119 38 5 A #166,00075
fl: °

Wi 1 Star Root JIT /8 A= 11 i 2 fih 4] s BRLAR | i
EARILE A W 2 R R R B FIGE S -
0 T R 2 T R T W] A R T A

W Empire Access

T E—EHEANA =T A E Y 4
SEH E TR L E ek o DU U
270,000,000 5 7G4 B Empire Access (— [H] A
BB R L T I R S 22 2 W] ) A T IR A
fie R F—LERA+HB » ARFH
BOTRI LA S o PRt B AR ST
R R #2274 240,000,000 7T > I
o £, 45 [ 7€ B 42 141 60,000,000 7T - T 5%
SRR LAAS 23 R BEAT R LR R 2 T8 U4
i © Empire Access M [t 23 7] (# Empire
Access T 70% BAE) £ ZLAE 5 B AF 38 32 A
PHEUARA R (B A8 LT B) RAEEN
AL R P SR A BAE SO IR A IS B AR P 0 R IR
W5 o I R Sy w0 2 T A A AR [ S
B AT > BASE MR RSN KB4
TR b Z e b A S I 2 R SRS -
P RED R ~F—EEL] S —H%E
B o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B 5 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

194

(b)

Acquisition of Empire Access (Continued)

In accordance with the cooperation agreements in relation to the option granted to
the subsidiary of Empire Access, N Dimension, by the existing shareholders of Hoi
On, it allows N Dimension to exercise a call option to acquire 100% equity interest in
Hoi On at a fixed exercise price of HK$10,526. As a result, for accounting purpose,
it has been determined that the existence of the option has given the Group full
access to the economic benefits and risks associated with the actual ownership of
the non-controlling interests. Therefore, Hoi On has been accounted for as a wholly-
owned subsidiary without non-controlling interests as at 21 September 2017. On 5
March 2018, the Group exercised the call option and the acquisition of Hoi On was
completed.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of Empire Access recognised at
the acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of the subsidiaries of Empire
Access at that date.

The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Group shall pay
under this arrangement is between Nil and HK$180,000,000. As at 31 March 2018,
there was fair value change of contingent consideration payable of HK$8,943,000
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income for the contingent consideration payable due to the change in discount rate
applied.

The fair value of the contingent consideration payable of HK$156,180,000 as at 21
September 2017 was estimated by applying the income approach. The fair value
estimates are based on the discount rate of 7.8% and revenue of HK$8,395,000 for
the year from 22 September 2017 to 21 September 2018, revenue of HK$43,281,000
for the year from 22 September 2018 to 21 September 2019 and net profit of
HK$25,687,000 for the year from 22 September 2019 to 21 September 2020. This is
alevel 3 fair value measurement.

The transation costs of approximately HK$3,225,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and included in “administrative expenses” in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Empire Access is attributable to the
future growth and profitability in relation to the online payment business. None of
the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purpose.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Others refer to the aggregate information of two subsidiaries acquired by the Group

during the year ended 31 March 2018 that are not individually material. Details of
these two acquisitions are as follows:

(U]

Acquisition of Soul Marketing

On 11 December 2017, Empire Access, a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with two independent
third party vendors to acquire 68.5% equity interest of Soul Marketing, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong, for consideration of HK$12,000,000
(subject to downward adjustment in respect of the guaranteed profit as
described in the sale and purchase agreement). On 19 December 2017,
Empire Access entered into a supplemental agreement with the vendors
pursuant to which the total consideration of not more than HK$12,000,000
would be settled by a fixed cash consideration of HK$7,200,000 and
contingent consideration to be settled in the form of promissory notes issued
by the Company. Soul Marketing and its subsidiaries are principally engaged
in the e-commerce promotion business. The management considers that such
acquisition will enable the Group to enter into the e-commerce promotion
business which will provide an additional income and cash flow stream to the
Group and enhance and integrate the online business. The acquisition was
completed on 22 December 2017.

The non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries of Soul Marketing
recognised at the acquisition date was measured with reference to the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of the
subsidiaries of Soul Marketing at that date.

The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Group
shall pay under the promissory notes payable arrangement is between Nil
and HK$4,800,000.

The transation costs of approximately HK$538,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and included in “administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of Soul Marketing is attributable to
the future growth and profitability in relation to the e-commerce promotion
business. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for
income tax purpose.
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31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

196

(c)

Others refer to the aggregate information of two subsidiaries acquired by the Group

during the year ended 31 March 2018 that are not individually material. Details of
these two acquisitions are as follows: (Continued)

(i)

Acquisition of IAHGames

On 5 January 2018, Ultra Land Group Limited, a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Company, entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an
independent third party vendor to acquire 62.07% equity interest of
IAHGames, a company incorporated in Hong Kong, for consideration of
not more than HK$22,000,000 (subject to downward adjustment in respect
of the guaranteed profit as described in the sale and purchase agreement),
which comprises fixed cash consideration of HK$11,000,000 and contingent
consideration to be settled in the form of promissory notes issued by the
Company. On 28 February 2018 and 4 May 2018, the Company entered
into the second supplemental agreement and third supplemental agreement
respectively with the vendor pursuant to which the composition of the
consideration was revised to a fixed cash consideration of HK$1,220,000
and contingent consideration to be settled in the form of promissory notes
issued by the Company. To reflect new information as stated in the third
supplemental agreement which was signed subsequent to the reporting
period about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date,
the fair value of the consideration was adjusted in accordance with the
terms in the third supplemental agreement dated 4 May 2018. IAHGames
is principally engaged in the game distribution business in Hong Kong. The
management considers that such acquisition will enable the Group to enter
into the game distribution industry which will provide an additional income
and cash flow stream to the Group and enhance and integrate the online
business. The acquisition was completed on 28 February 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

% 0 S 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

31. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued)

(c)

Others refer to the aggregate information of two subsidiaries acquired by the Group

during the year ended 31 March 2018 that are not individually material. Details of
these two acquisitions are as follows: (Continued)

(i)

Acquisition of IAHGames (Continued)

The non-controlling interests in IAHGames recognised at the acquisition
date was measured with reference to the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the fair value of net assets of IAHGames at that date.

The potential undiscounted amount of all future payments that the Group
shall pay under the contingent consideration payables and promissory
notes payable arrangements are HK$2 to HK$11,760,000 and Nil to
HK$5,520,000 respectively.

The transation costs of approximately HK$236,000 have been excluded from
the consideration transferred and included in “administrative expenses” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The goodwill arising from the acquisition of IAHGames is attributable to the
future growth and profitability in relation to the game distribution business.
None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax
purpose.

Since the acquisition, these acquired entities contributed HK$13,654,000 to
the Group’s revenue and HK$13,548,000 to the Group’s loss after tax for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

Had the above business combinations taken place at the beginning of

the year, the Group’s revenue and loss after tax for the year would have
been HK$281,013,000 and HK$149,276,000 respectively. The proforma

information is for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an

indication of the total revenue and loss after tax of the Group that actually

would have been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April

2017, nor is intended to be a projection of future results.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B B B 5 A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

32. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 32, %30 W R JBS A ) Wi
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
(a) Acquisition of Giant Bloom Holdings Limited (a) W EE B AR A R A T
On 7 September 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase HZE—HFEIALH > REHE—
agreement with an independent third party vendor to acquire 100% SRS E = T R] SL U ek o Wi SE
equity interest in Giant Bloom Holdings Limited, a company JIAE T A BR 2N 7)) (— B A 7 s i 1
incorporated in Hong Kong, for a total cash consideration of SLZAED) BI100% RS > B AU
HK$39,000,000. Giant Bloom Holdings Limited is principally /439,000,000 7C © #H A 4E E A BR 2
engaged in property investment. The transaction was completed on A FEERFEERE - W HE R
13 September 2017. This acquisition has been accounted for as an F—LHFENA =AW - ZWEC
acquisition of assets through acquisition of a subsidiary. BRI By 775 308 i B o 2 ) i
FE o
HK$’000
THTT
Total consideration: HE -
— Cash consideration paid — AT AEAE 34,000
— Cash consideration payable — AT Bl A 5,000
39,000
Assets acquired at the date of acquisition are as follows: TR F AT AR
HK$’000
THTT
Leasehold land and buildings held for own use FrfFE B AL ot g 39,000
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: e B T A Y B R
Cash consideration paid R DR - (34,000)
(34,000)

198 Annual Report 2017/2018 4§k



F)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B 55 R B

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

32. ACQUISITION OF ASSETS THROUGH 32, 7% I W i B )R 2 W) WA O A
ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (%)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Acquisition of Super Value Sporting Goods Company (b) UM Super Value Sporting
Limited Goods Company Limited
On 7 September 2017, the Group entered into a sale and purchase W_E—-LtFRALR > KEH
agreement with three independent third party vendors to acquire A A Ry i I VA= |
100% equity interest in Super Value Sporting Goods Company 1t #& - W W Super Value Sporting
Limited, for a total cash consideration of HK$27,000,000. Super Goods Company Limited [ 100% HE
Value Sporting Goods Company Limited is principally engaged in o AR AU 527,000,000 G ©
property investment. The transaction was completed on 13 September Super Value Sporting Goods Company
2017. This acquisition has been accounted for as an acquisition of Limited = Z R F Y ERE - L5
assets through acquisition of a subsidiary. CR=F—LFENA T=Z0 %W - #%
WS AT 5 375 A S i 8 2 )ik
HK$’000
Tt
Total consideration: A -
— Cash consideration paid — BB &E 27,000
Assets acquired at the date of acquisition are as follows: AW H T ERE T
HK$’000
Tt
Leasehold land and buildings held for own use FEAE B AR B L B 26,834
Deposits and prepayments i 4 T TR 50H 166
27,000
Net cash outflow arising from the acquisition: e IS T A P R 4V U
Cash consideration paid EATB &g (27,000)
(27,000)
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

34.

200

PARTIAL DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

On 22 November 2016, Wisdom Come Medical Group Limited (“WCMG”),
a subsidiary of the Company, disposed of: (1) an aggregate of 40%
equity interest in Apex Prospection Limited (“Apex Prospection”) in the
amount of HK$3,300,000 and (2) 40% of the interest-free shareholder’s
loan amounting to HK$1,200,000 owing by a wholly owned subsidiary
of the Apex Prospection to WCMG for an aggregate cash consideration
of HK$4,500,000 to an independent third party, Ms. Li Yung. Apex
Prospection and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the distribution
of health and beauty supplements in the PRC. The Group retains 60% of
the equity interest in Apex Prospection after the partial disposal. The total
transaction cost of the partial disposal of Apex Prospection amounted to
HK$547,000.

COMMITMENTS
(a) Capital commitments
As at 31 March 2017 and 2018, the Group had capital commitments

contracted but not provided for in the financial statements as follows:

33. ko 8 — [ Pt 2 W

34.

WoE—-ARNFET—-HIZ+TZH > &R
BEAEEARAR (TR REEEREE ] > AN
] — [ B 8 W) ) 1) — 44 B S5 = AR
% + i & : (1) Apex Prospection Limited
(I Apex Prospection |) &5 4:409% BHE » HAE S

3,300,000#5 7C 5 5 (2) Apex Prospection i —
1P 2 A 2 0 A R AP ks s A T 1 S
HAEFK 2 40% 451,200,000 7C > A& fH
£44,500,000% 75 ° Apex Prospection 5 H:ff &
O ) SR P R AR AR A B SR A A B o

AAE A R 73t 5 4% TR B Apex Prospection.Z
60% I HE  F53 tHH Apex Prospection i #858
Z WA 4 547,0004E T ©

R

(a) BEARIE
R bR E— A A
Zh—H > KEEAGLTNERTAHEK
T AR R F TR T 1Y B AR YS

2018 2017
TR )\ e S e S
HK$°000 HK$’000
T-H#:TT THTT
Contracted for BT
— Property, plant and equipment — W WE MR 3,298 125
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

34. COMMITMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

Operating lease commitments (b)
As lessee

At 31 March 2017 and 2018, the Group had outstanding commitments

under non-cancellable operating leases falling due as follows:

34, A¥E ()

B EAYSE

TEZ AR
R-F—-ELHEER_F-NF=A
= H o AL AT
RH & R AR LU 309 1) JeE 3 2 o
AR -

2018 2017

ZF )N\ —F—tF

HK$°000 HK$’000

F#x Tt

Within one year — A 8,112 2,197
After one year but within five years —HERBETIEN 8,422 1,474
16,534 3.671

The Group leases warehouses, office premises, shop premises and
carparks under non-cancellable operating lease arrangements with
lease terms of one to five years, with an option to renew the lease
when all terms are renegotiated. None of the lease includes contingent
rentals.

A% S AR AN T SR AR A 22 PR
B~ WA - W R
WMB— BT EITA R R
AR TR A o MLAEAH A0 L BR
4
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 35. HABMEG RS
TRANSACTIONS
In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these o3 iR 5% 45 U5 Rk 3 Ll 5 40 B R 0 38 S I
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and balances AEER AL > A S5 ) LB B Oy R R A 5 e
with its related parties during the year: AR -
(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a) FEEHABHM
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including AEE T  EAE N B A G R
amounts paid to the Company’s directors as disclosed in note 9, JIT B 1 O A A2 ) 5 S A O % B R
highest paid employees as disclosed in note 10 and other senior 10T 45 58 £ A+ 4 42 [ f v 38 A By S L
management of the Group are as follows: b AR B 1 B > HF T
2018 2017
ZF N\ e S S
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T#T THTT
Short-term employee benefits R LR B AR A 15,919 14,136
Post-employment benefits TR 52 A ) 173 188
Equity-settled share-based payments DA 245 B3 UBE A9 S AN 2 B 3 11,507 -
27,599 14,324
Total remuneration is included in “Staff costs” (see note 8(a)). A E A G AE T 8 TR LA (LR
i8(a)) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(b) Transactions with related parties

35. EARE TR (#)

(b) SRR 5

2018 2017

RN\ TE—LAE

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#IL T

Rental expenses paid to a related party (note i)  FH4x 32 Hi A T B (B eEi) = 82
Rental expenses paid to Great Victor Limited #0453 A5 T A A BR /A 7

(note ii) (B REii) 174 174
Rental expenses paid to Sunex Limited R4 S AT BB B ]

(note iii) (Bt 3Eiii) 203 203

Legal and professional fee paid to EHRNEEE AT

Sidney Lee & Co. (note iv) 2R E R R T (i) 307 700
Rental expenses paid to Power Trendy Limited 4 3¢ A 78 % A BR /A A

(note v) (B 5Ev) 44 -
Rental expenses paid to Mega Linker Limited ~— fH4x 32 A T 5B H FR/A )

(note vi) (B 5Evi) 44 -
Rental expenses paid to City Scene Limited A4 3 AN T BR A

(note vii) (B REvii) 44 -
Rental expenses paid to Sunny Viewer Limited — FH4x 32 th 4 7 S ¥ A7 fRAS )

(note viii) (Bt 5 viii) 44 =

As at 31 March 2017 and 31 March 2018, the Group had total future
minimum lease payables to related parties under non-cancellable

operating lease falling due as follows:

REF—ELHF=ZA=+—HEKZ%F
—NEZA=+—H > REEMPBAT]
SR AR ALAY JEC A DA S0 1) Je v

ZARATEAT B 7 2 B AR A 4
As at As at
31 March 31 March
2018 2017
S S
A G I St
ZH=Z+—H =H=1+—H
HK$’000 HK$°000
T Tl
Within one year —FR 665 346
After one year but within five years —EEH AN 546 118
1,211 464
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

Transactions with related parties (Continued)

204

(b)

Notes:

O]

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The rental expenses were paid to Mr. Cheng Jonathan Chung Shing, a close
family member of an independent non-executive director, Mr. Cheng Kwok
Kin, Paul. Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul ceased to be a related party of the
Group following his resignation as the independent non-executive director of
the Company on 6 December 2016.

The rental expenses were paid to Great Victor Limited, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.

The rental expenses were paid to Sunex Limited, a company wholly-owned
by Ms. Wong Chui Lan, senior management of the Group.

The legal and professional fees represents legal service fees charged by a
barrister via Sidney Lee & Co., a registered solicitors’ firm in Hong Kong
controlled by Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney, an executive director of the
Company. Sidney Lee & Co. provided such service to the Company on a
complimentary basis.

The rental expenses were paid to Power Trendy Limited, a company wholly-

owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.

The rental expenses were paid to Mega Linker Limited, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.

The rental expenses were paid to City Scene Limited, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.

The rental expenses were paid to Sunny Viewer Limited, a company wholly-
owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
A £ B 55 R B ik

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

35. MATERIAL RELATED PARTY 35. ERBAM T &2 5 (#])

TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED)

(c) Balances with related parties (c) BHEJT &tR
The Group leases office premises from related parties as detailed in A B2 AR S T B 5 35 () B B L
note 35(b) under operating lease arrangements with lease terms of one ) 488 R4 2 PR B 2 ks SR A
to three years. The terms of the leases require the Group to pay rental —F ZAE o FHAMRE SR AN SR E
deposits to the lessors. The balances of the rental deposits as at 31 HEZRETHHEAN - R T —LF=
March 2017 and 31 March 2018 are detailed as follows: A=+—HE -F—/)4E=H=4—

H B A BRI RS

As at As at

31 March 31 March

2018 2017

S S

G

ZH=+—H ZA=t—H

HK$°000 HK$’000

T#T T

Great Victor Limited FAEEAT R 7] 29 29
Sunex Limited EVHA BR /A ) 34 34
(d) On 1 November 2017, the Group entered into sales and purchase d HoF—tFt+—HA—H AEHHE
agreement with Union Park Development Limited, a company AR\ F AT E S PR e A A
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yan Tak, an executive director of A FER SR A RA AR L EH
the Company, to dispose a motor vehicle for a consideration of W > LA 330,000 00 B — I
HK$330,000. The Group incurred a loss on disposal of HK$45,000. VRH o AR A 8 B 145,000

G ©
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36.

206

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 September
2013, the Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme, which
has been taken effect on 11 October 2013 (the “Share Option Scheme”). The
Share Option Scheme remains effective following the Transfer of Listing
subject to certain immaterial amendments to the share option scheme and
implemented in full compliance with the requirements of Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

A summary of the Share Option Scheme of the Company is as follows:

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to motivate the eligible
participants to optimise their performance and efficiency for the benefit
of the Group and attract and retain ongoing business relationship with the
eligible participants whose contributions are or will be beneficial to the
Group.

Eligible Participants
Eligible participants of the Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  any director, employee or officer of any company in the Group
(whether full time or part time) (“Employee”), consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner or adviser of or
contractor to the Group or a company in which the Group holds an
interest or a subsidiary of such company (“Affiliate”); or

(b)  the trustee of any trust the beneficiary of which or any discretionary
trust the discretionary objects of which include any director,
Employee, consultant, professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner
or adviser of or contractor to the Group or an Affiliate; or

(c)  acompany beneficially owned by any director, Employee, consultant,
professional, customer, supplier, agent, partner, adviser of or
contractor to the Group or an Affiliate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

G B B A

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % —ZF— /\4E =] =+ —H IL4EE

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share
Option Scheme

The maximum entitlement of each participant under the Share Option
Scheme shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue of the Company in any

12-month period.

Any grant of further share options above this limit shall be subject to the

approval of the Company’s shareholders at general meeting.

Period within which the Shares must be taken up under a
Share Option
A period to be determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, which

shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant of such share option.

Minimum period for which a Share Option must be held
before it can be exercised

Unless otherwise determined by the Board and notified to the grantee, there
is no minimum period for which a share option must be held before it can be

exercised.

Amount payable on acceptance
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted.

Period within which payments/calls/loans must be made/
repaid
Not applicable.

Basis of determining the exercise price

The exercise price for any share under the Share Option Scheme shall be
determined by the Board and notified to the grantee and shall not be less than
the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the date of grant of the share option, which must

be a trading day;
(b)  the average closing price of a share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet for the five business days immediately

preceding the date of grant of the share option; and

(c)  the nominal value of a share on the date of grant of the share option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED 36. VLJBCRE &5 5 DU Ay S AF 2 B X
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) (%)
The remaining life of the scheme w0 ) 5 A 2O
The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective until 23 September EREASNEE - FE = NLA_+=H
2023, after which no further share options will be granted but the provisions BRAER - HB A — 57 AT T 1
of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect in all other R RE > M B R T A SO T A HoA O Tl
respects. Options complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which KR BT+ 2RO RAER o BI{E S i
are granted during the duration of the scheme and remain unexercised T > AR F I AT R ] P B T B
immediately prior to 23 September 2023 shall continue to be exercisable in FOZFENHA = HEMRATEESE
accordance with their terms of grant within the option period for which such b TR RIRRL E B JBERE o M T A R A T A
share options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the scheme. TRRE R % P R TS 000 11 TR0 4K 5 L 932 M M ik 4

RATLE -

Movements of the share options during the years ended 31 March 2017 and HE_E—-tHEMN_F - )\FEF=H=1+—
2018 are listed below in accordance with Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules: HOEAERE - MR PR BT 05 17 5 g IR RE =

BITE T Pz R A S B T

For the year ended 31 March 2018 BREZF— /) E=ZH="1—HILFESE
Adjustment
Outstanding due to Share Outstanding
as at Granted on Subdivision on Granted on Lapsed on as at
Category 1April 2017 30 October 2017 5 December 2017 14 February 2018 3 March 2018 31 March 2018
/A S i3
RoF-LE RIFL4E +ZAEH REB-NE RIR-AE RIRAE
WA—H FHZ+H P B4 ZA+mH =H=H ZAZ+—H
il FATHE it PE % i S RATHE
(note 5) (note 6) (note 7) (note 8)
(W3ES) (HE6) (WE7) (W5E8)
Directors %
Mr. Lee Chi Hang, Sidney ~ ZEfA 54k S 1,500,000 4,500,000 = = 6,000,000
Mr. Wong Ping Yiu LR it S 1,000,000 3,000,000 = = 4,000,000
Mr. Wang Xihua TR E S 1,000,000 3,000,000 = = 4,000,000
M. Lai Wei Lam, William &6 4 = 1,000,000 3,000,000 = = 4,000,000
Mr. So Kevin Hoi Chak BRelE s = 1,000,000 3,000,000 = = 4,000,000
Mr. Liao Zhe B e = 5,000,000 15,000,000 = S 20,000,000
Ms. Szeto Wai Ling, Virginia  #)fEE# &+ = 500,000 1,500,000 = S 2,000,000
M. Leung Winson Kwan Yau Sk = 500,000 1,500,000 = S 2,000,000
M. Tam Kin Yip HEEE = 500,000 1,500,000 = = 2,000,000
Mr. Leung Man Loon RIS = 500,000 1,500,000 = = 2,000,000
Subtotal Nt S 12,500,000 37,500,000 = = 50,000,000
Continuous Contracts HEAN
Employees 3 = 24,300,000 72,900,000 2,100,000 (2,000,000) 97,300,000
Total 5t = 36,800,000 110,400,000 2,100,000 (2,000,000) 147,300,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2017

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

6. DAL ST DL A2
= G = H IR

Outstanding Reclassification Exercised on Lapsed on Outstanding
as at Lapsedon  of categories of 21 November 22 November as at

Category 1 April 2016 30 April 2016 grantee 2016 2016 31 March 2017

7 1 i i it

R “E-RE ZERF ZERE ZE—F

WA—H WA=TH  EEAERN +—AZt+—H +—HZtZH =A=t+—H

iRl KA 8 BRI it S RATHE
(note 1) (note 2) (note 3) (note 4) (note 1)
(BifzED) (fik2) (Bif3E3) (f3E4) (BifE1)

Directors HH

Mr. Chan Yan Tak BREAEAE 500,000 - - - (500,000) -

Mr. Wong Mau Tai HEREA 5,000,000 - - (5,000,000) = =

Professor Ng Ka Ming REAHR 500,000 - - — (500,000) =

Mr. Cheng Kwok Kin, Paul Lo 500,000 = = (500,000) = S

Subtotal NGt 6,500,000 - - (5,500,000) (1,000,000) -

Continuous Contracts BEAN

Employees EE 12,700,000 - (4,000,000) (5,400,000) (3,300,000) -

All other eligible I HLA A s

participants SZHE 5,500,000 (5,000,000 4,000,000 (1,400,000) (3,100,000) -

Total Azt 24,700,000 (5,000,000) - (12,300,000) (7,400,000) -

Notes: [t st -

1. The share options are exercisable at any time during the period from 22 November 1. RS 2 —=Ft+—-HA -tz
2013 until 21 November 2016 (both days inclusive). The exercise price of the share E—ANE+—H+—H(LIFEEREMRK) Y
option is HK$1.64. The closing price of the shares immediately before the date on FHT PR B9 A A B (] AT - A5 0 o S A MEA T ol 46 2
which the share options were granted was HK$1.68. The options were lapsed on 22 164 TT o i B B G ARERZ th A i A i
November 2016. A Fy 168 T © IEIBHEC 1Y = — N

At AR -

2. 5,000,000 share options held by Mr. Foo Chi Ming has been reclassified under the 2. A WS A T R 225,000,000 153 5 FBEAE H
category of “all other eligible participants” following his resignation as an executive AR R H — H BT AT A dR
director with effect from 1 January 2016. The options were lapsed on 30 April 2016. R TR HAb G B 28 | o 5% EAHE

R ENAENH Z A HRRL -

3. 4,000,000 share options held by an employee has been reclassified under the 3. — %R B T FR A 24,000,000 8 AL HE B 3% IR
category of “all other eligible participants” following the resignation of an employee B TR RN H — HBHAE C E R
with effect from 1 June 2016. The options were lapsed on 22 November 2016. By [T HAl & EAR 2 8L | o % EHCRES 1R

SE-NET AT HRRC
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36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes: (continued)

210

4.

5,500,000 share options, 5,400,000 share options and 1,400,000 share options
granted to directors, continuous contract employees and all other eligible participants
were exercised on 21 November 2016, respectively. The weighted average share
price at the date of exercise was HK$2.45.

The validity period of the share options is from 30 October 2017 to 29 October 2019
(both days inclusive). All of the share options will be vested on 30 October 2018. The
exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the shares of the Company
immediately before the date on which these share options were granted was HK$6.80
and HK$6.80 respectively (before adjustment of Share Subdivision). The exercise
price per share has been adjusted to HK$1.70 on 5 December 2017 with the effect of
Share Subdivision. Further details of the Share Subdivision are set out in note 29(b)
(ii) to these financial statements.

The number of share options have been adjusted on 5 December 2017 with the effect
of Share Subdivision. Further details of the Share Subdivision are set out in note
29(b)(ii) to these financial statements.

The validity period of the share options is from 14 February 2018 to 13 February
2020 (both days inclusive). All of the share options will be vested on 14 February
2019. The exercise price of the share options and the closing price of the shares of
the Company immediately before the date on which these share options were granted
was HK$1.16 and HK$1.12 respectively.

2,000,000 share options were lapsed on 3 March 2018 following the resignation of an
employee on 1 February 2018.

The exercise price of the Share Options is subject to adjustment in the case of rights
or bonus issues, or other similar changes in the Company’s share capital.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

36. EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED

PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

f B B % A PR

For the year ended 31 March 2018 #% —F— /4= J] =+—H IL4EJE

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their weighted

average exercise prices for the years ended 31 March 2017 and 2018 are as

follows:

36. DLIBCHE 25 5 VA i Ay S A 2 Bl 52

(%)

REE _F - bE R E - NEZH
S — Emﬁﬁ AT {65 I P ) B
JNREF AT 2 SR

Weighted Number of
average shares issuable
exercise price under options
per share granted

BB R T 852
HET3y RIRHE T BT
FrBEfE Z Bt e

HK$

ot
At 1 April 2016 A E—NAFEMNA—H 1.64 24,700,000
Exercised during the year FERFTE 1.64 (12,300,000)
Lapsed during the year IR 1.64 (12,400,000)
At 31 March 2017 and 1 April 2017 e s e = e el = 4

ZE—HAFMA—H - -

Granted on 30 October 2017 W oFE LA =T HESE 6.80 36,800,000
Adjustments arising from Share Subdivision IR 8 33 40 1717 5 2 = 110,400,000
Granted on 14 February 2018 AT E— ) AFEZ AU 1.16 2,100,000
Lapsed during the year RN R 1.70 (2,000,000)
At 31 March 2018 R FE— ) FE=ZA=+—H 1.69 147,300,000

No share options outstanding were exercisable as at 31 March 2018 (2017:

not applicable).

The options outstanding as at 31 March 2018 had an exercise price of
HK$1.70 or HK$1.16 (2017: not applicable) and a weighted average
remaining contractual life of 1.59 years as at 31 March 2018 (2017: not

applicable).

RoE-NEZH =40 > Wil
ZRATE I (B4R R

A NFEZH =+ Bﬁ*ﬁﬁ%%
R B AT AE B 170 T B 116 T (
FT—LF AEA) IR FE— NFE=A
=+ — H W25 iR A K IR 251,59
(T B R
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36.

37.

212

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value of share options and assumptions

The fair value of the share options granted were estimated by an independent
firm of professionally qualified valuers using the binomial lattice model

taking into account the terms and conditions upon which the options were

30.

VATt B 5 53 VA B oy S A+ 2 B 52
(%)

Sl e Al 2 T % A

L 452t A 20 (27 o 0 S 3 4
1t LT 4% 42 00 P 9 2 ek
T 5 R PR SELA A S 3t < T

granted. The following tables listed the inputs to the model used: 1) B i e D AR AR £ oy A B
30 October 14 February
2017 2018
I S i S &2\
Grant date i mEp +H=1+H ZH+mMH
Share price on date of grant (HKS) s H 22 S (T 6.80" 1.12
Exercise price (HK$) AT (A5 T) 6.80" 1.16
Expected life of share options (years) T 101 8 A AR BT B () 2 2
Expected volatility FE Ik 51.73% 52.77%
Dividend yield IR E % N/AA# N/AASH ]
Risk-free interest rate e J B | R 1.03% 1.14%
Fair value per share options granted to (HK$) BT I N AR W ORE 2 (8
(#0)
— directors —HH 1.98" N/AAH
— employees —fEA 1.917 0.31
* Before adjustment of Share Subdivision & TP - A0 08 R i

The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility (calculated based
on the weighted average remaining life of the share options), adjusted
for any expected changes to future volatility based on publicly available
information. Changes in the subjective input assumptions could materially

affect the fair value estimate.

ULTIMATE HOLDING COMPANY AND
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS

At 31 March 2018, the directors of the Company consider the ultimate
holding company of the companies comprising the Group is Able Island
Group Limited (“Able Island”), a company incorporated in the BVI. The
controlling shareholders of the Group are Mr. Chan Yan Tak and Able
Island. The ultimate holding company does not produce financial statements

for public use.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % =% — /4= H =+ — H 1L

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries at the end of reporting period are as

38. EEE A vl
BRI - LA 2 A

follows:
Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FEbRAL Rl HE R CEAT R Al A Principal activities
A REE b ] JRAH R H A FEEE
Direct Indirect
HiE 4%
% %
RM Group Holdings Limited BVI Ordinary US$11 100 - Investment holding
(formerly known as EEEAHE  LE NES EvqeLdl
“Noble State Holdings
Limited”)
A S P TR )
(R [ R A PR )
Best Billion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 - 100 Provision of general administrative
HEARAF itk L ordinary shares services
10,000 4 R RATER S
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Sale of health and beauty supplements
KIARAT His L@ 1R and products and provision of
general administrative services
G DR B 0 o B R
S — T B
CULegend Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Trading of products under the
MR EERAR AT i L RS proprietary brand of “LEGEND”
U RNGE A v v T
Eastern Bright (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Provision of management services to
TR RN A sl il Lzl 1REE other Group companies
) A £ ARG 8 R R
Empire Access Limited BVI Ordinary US$50,000 100 - Investment holding
ERELHE TR 50,0003 ¢ ERg el
Giant Bloom Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary | ordinary share - 100 Property holding
SRR B A RA T Eits it 1 i WA
Good Wealth Trading Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 - 100 Trading of health supplements
4 BT 5 A PR Bl L5 ordinary shares BE R
10,000/ -4 %
Health Proof International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 License holding
Company Limited Hits 10 1R R R
o o A PR )
Hong Kong Ever Spring Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Manufacturing and sale of health and
Medicine Factory Limited 7 LE 14 beauty supplements and products
IO IR SRR PR P TS O B 7 o B
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % — & — /\4E = H =+ —H R4

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 38. FEME A H (4)

Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FEMBL AL R R CET R A EA Principal activities
Fa R s | JRAHE HERE T AL ERES
Direct Indirect
HH% fil %
% %
IAHGames Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1,799,905 ordinary - 62 Game distribution
Fits L shares KT
1,799,905
e
Kiwi Lab International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 License holding
Company Limited Hits L 1B % FHA R
AR HEBAHRAT
Medalist Limited BVI Ordinary USS1 - 100 Trademark holding
EEEARE L@ IEH FEF TR
N Dimension Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 23,333 ordinary S 70 Provision of online payment services
THRB AR ik i shares AL BRI
23,333 EAA M
Power Regal International Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment
Limited il T R B4
TEBEBARAR
Rich Sunny Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment and
A EHRA R Fits L RS E investment holding
ESis T8 el e
Royal Medic Chinese Hong Kong Ordinary 3 ordinary shares - 100 Provision of Chinese medical
Medicine Clinic Limited itk ml 3R consultation services and
A4 v R T A A PR trading of health products
SR b BRI IS R PR A E R 5
Royal Medic (Holdings) Hong Kong Ordinary 100 ordinary shares - 100 License holding
Limited i T 100/ @ M FEA TR
g () HIRA T
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Property investment
Limited i A Lsiils ES /4
HRE (i) IR AR
Star Root Limited BVI Ordinary USS1 100 - Investment holding
EEELAHE L@ [ESH FETER
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For the year ended 31 March 2018 # % ~ZF— /\4“F=H =+—H IL4FE

38. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

38. FEEHHE Al (4])

Place of Particulars of Percentage of
incorporation/ issued and equity
establishment Class of paid-up attributable to
and operation shares held capital the Company
Name FiRL DA A 21 CET R R ) HEA Principal activities
EA YSgitiit S JRAHEE WL H A TEREH
Direct Indirect
H#% fi £
% %
Soul Marketing Group Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 15,708 ordinary - 80 e-commerce promotion
TG R EEA RA Hik La shares ET R
15,7085 & 4
Super Pioneer Holdings Hong Kong Ordinary 1 ordinary share - 100 Provision of management services to
Limited ik LIm 14 e other Group companies
AEEMARAR 1] A 5 T R RAR (L PR R
Super Value Sporting Goods Hong Kong Ordinary 1,000 ordinary - 100 Property holding
Company Limited i L5 shares WA
1,000 4@t
Tenfok Asia Limited Hong Kong Ordinary 10,000 ordinary - 65 Online advertising agency
oA A PR il il shares BB
10,0007 & 4
Wisdom Come Medical Group ~ Hong Kong Ordinary 101 ordinary shares - 100 Investment holding
Limited it g 101/ B R
i A AT R A 7
Wisdom Healthcare Taiwan Registered NT10,000,000 - 100 Trading of health and beauty
Co., Limited Al 2k 10,000,0007C supplements and products
B RREEARAR ek RIERFEAMR RAEMES
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary 2 ordinary shares - 100 Trading of health and beauty
Company Limited B L5 B A supplements and products,
B TR E i A PR provision of health food processing
services and investment holding
DR{E TS0 R B ) - Bt
PRS0 TR S A e
TR () The PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 - 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements
HRA ) i gk 1,000,000 C and products
S R0 T S 2 TR
i 0 8 o D The PRC Registered HK$1,000,000 - 60 Sales of health and beauty supplements
HRA ) i gk 1,000,000 7C and products
S DR 1R T 2 T
- Registered under the laws of the PRC as a wholly foreign-owned enterprise. ® ARy R A RN E A A -
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, 39. BE_F - )N\E=H=1—H

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Up to the date of issue of these financial statements, the HKICPA has issued
a number of amendments, new standards and interpretations which are not
yet effective for the year ended 31 March 2018 and which have not been
adopted in these financial statements. These include the following which
may be relevant to the Group.

HKFRS 9
HKFRS 15

HKFERS 16
HKFRS 17
HK (IFRIC) — Int 22
HK (IFRIC) — Int 23

Amendments to HKFRS 2

Amendments to HKFRS 4

Amendments to HKFRS 9

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 28

Amendments to HKAS 40
Amendments to HKFRSs

Financial Instruments'

Revenue from Contracts with Customers
and the related Amendments'

Leases?

Insurance Contracts*

Foreign Currency Transactions and
Advance Consideration'

Uncertainty over Income Tax
Treatments®

Classification and Measurement of
Share-based Payment Transactions'

Applying HKFRS 9 “Financial
Instruments” with HKFRS 4
“Insurance Contracts™!

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation?

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture?

As part of the Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2014-2016 Cycle!

Long-term Interests in Associates and
Joint Ventures®

Transfers of Investment Property’

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2015-
2017 Cycle?

: Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined

4

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations
mentioned below, the directors anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs and Interpretations will have no material
impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,
NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments
HKFRS 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets, financial liabilities, general hedge
accounting and impairment requirements for financial assets.

Key requirements of HKFRS 9 which are relevant to the Group are:

. all recognised financial assets that are within the scope of HKFRS
9 are required to be subsequently measured at amortised cost or fair
value. Specifically, debt investments that are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and
that have contractual cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting periods. Debt
instruments that are held within a business model whose objective
is achieved both by collecting contractual cash flows and selling
financial assets, and that have contractual terms that give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding, are generally measured
at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”). All
other financial assets are measured at their fair value at subsequent
accounting periods. In addition, under HKFRS 9, entities may
make an irrevocable election to present subsequent changes in the
fair value of an equity investment (that is not held for trading) in
other comprehensive income, with only dividend income generally
recognised in profit or loss.

. with regard to the measurement of financial liabilities designated as
at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), HKFRS 9 requires that
the amount of change in the fair value of the financial liability that is
attributable to changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented
in other comprehensive income, unless the recognition of the effects
of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other comprehensive
income would create or enlarge an accounting mismatch in profit
or loss. Changes in fair value attributable to a financial liability’s
credit risk are not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Under
HKAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, the
entire amount of the change in the fair value of the financial liability
designated as fair value through profit or loss is presented in profit or
loss.
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

218

in relation to the impairment of financial assets, HKFRS 9 requires
an expected credit loss model, as opposed to an incurred credit loss
model under HKAS 39. The expected credit loss model requires
an entity to account for expected credit losses and changes in those
expected credit losses at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition. In other words, it is no longer
necessary for a credit event to have occurred before credit losses are
recognised.

Based on the Group’s financial instruments and risk management
policies as at 31 March 2018, the directors of the Company anticipate
the following potential impact on initial application of HKFRS 9:

(a)  Classification and measurement:

. Trade and other receivables carried at amortised cost as
disclosed in note 19: these are held within a business
model whose objective is to collect the contractual
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding. Accordingly,
these financial assets will continue to be subsequently
measured at amortised cost upon the application of
HKFRS 9.

O Convertible bonds issued by the Group designated
as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) as
disclosed in note 25: these financial liabilities qualified
for designation as measured at FVTPL under HKFRS 9,
however, the amount of change in the fair value of these
financial liabilities that is attributable to changes in the
credit risk of those liabilities will be recognised in other
comprehensive income with the remaining fair value
change recognised in profit or loss. This is different
from the current accounting treatment under which the
entire change in fair value of the financial liabilities is
recognised in profit or loss.

. All other financial assets and financial liabilities will
continue to be measured on the same bases as are
currently measured under HKAS 39.
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS, NEW
STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS ISSUED
BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 MARCH 2018 (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 9, Financial instruments (Continued)

(b)

Impairment

In general, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of the expected credit loss model of HKFRS 9 will
result in earlier provision of credit losses which are not yet
incurred in relation to the Group’s financial assets measured
at amortised cost and other items that are subject to the
impairment provisions upon application of HKFRS 9 by the
Group.

Based on the assessment by the directors of the Company, if the
expected credit loss model were to be applied by the Group, the
accumulated amount of impairment loss to be recognised by
the Group as at 1 April 2018 would be increased as compared
to the accumulated amount recognised under HKAS 39 mainly
attributable to expected credit losses provision on trade and
other receivables. Such further impairment recognised under
expected credit loss model would reduce the opening retained
earnings and likely increase the deferred tax assets at 1 April
2018. So far it has concluded that there would be no material
impact for the application of the new impairment requirement.

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers

HKFRS 15 was issued which establishes a single comprehensive model
for entities to use in accounting for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. HKFRS 15 will supersede the current revenue recognition
guidance including HKAS 18 Revenue, HKAS 11 Construction Contracts
and the related interpretations when it becomes effective.

The core principle of HKFRS 15 is that an entity should recognise revenue to
depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount
that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in

exchange for

those goods or services. Specifically, the standard introduces a

S-step approach to revenue recognition:

. Step 1:
O Step 2:
. Step 3:

. Step 4:

. Step 5:

Identify the contract(s) with a customer
Identify the performance obligations in the contract
Determine the transaction price

Allocate the transaction price to the performance obligations
in the contract

Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a
performance obligation
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39.
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POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 15, Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Under HKFRS 15, an entity recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when ‘control’ of the goods or services underlying
the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer. Far
more prescriptive guidance has been added in HKFRS 15 to deal with
specific scenarios. Furthermore, extensive disclosures are required by
HKFRS 15.

The HKICPA issued Clarifications to HKFRS 15 in relation to the
identification of performance obligations, principal versus agent
considerations, as well as licensing application guidance.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15
in the future may result in more disclosures, however, the directors of the
Company do not anticipate that the application of HKFRS 15 will have a
material impact on the timing and amounts of revenue recognised in the
respective reporting periods.

HKFRS 16, Leases

Currently the Group classifies leases into finance leases and operating
leases and accounts for the lease arrangements differently, depending on
the classification of the lease. The Group only enters into the leases as the
lessee.

HKFRS 16 is not expected to impact significantly on the way that lessors
account for their rights and obligations under a lease. However, once
HKFRS 16 is adopted, lessees will no longer distinguish between finance
leases and operating leases. Instead, subject to practical expedients,
lessees will account for all leases in a similar way to current finance lease
accounting, i.e. at the commencement date of the lease the lessee will
recognise and measure a lease liability at the present value of the minimum
future lease payments and will recognise a corresponding “right-of-use”
asset. After initial recognition of this asset and liability, the lessee will
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of the lease
liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset, instead of the current
policy of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on a
systematic basis over the lease term. As a practical expedient, the lessee can
elect not to apply this accounting model to short-term leases (i.e. where the
lease term is 12 months or less) and to leases of low-value assets, in which
case the rental expenses would continue to be recognised on a systematic
basis over the lease term.
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39. POSSIBLE IMPACT OF AMENDMENTS,

NEW STANDARDS AND INTERPRETATIONS
ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE FOR THE
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018 (CONTINUED)
HKFRS 16, Leases (Continued)

HKFRS 16 will primarily affect the Group’s accounting as a lessee of
leases for properties, plant and equipment which are currently classified as
operating leases. The application of the new accounting models expected
to lead to an increase in both assets and liabilities and to impact on the
timing of the expense recognition in the statement of profit or loss over the
period of the lease. At 31 March 2018, the Group’s future minimum lease
payments under non-cancellable operating leases amount to HK$16,534,000
for properties, the majority of which is payable either within one year or
after one year but within five years after the reporting date. Some of these
amounts may therefore need to be recognised as lease liabilities, with
corresponding right-of-use assets, once HKFRS 16 is adopted. The Group
will need to perform a more detailed analysis to determine the amounts
of new assets and liabilities arising from operating lease commitments on
adoption of HKFRS 16, after taking into account the applicability of the
practical expedient and adjusting for any leases entered into or terminated

between now and the adoption of HKFRS 16 and the effects of discounting.

HKFRS 16 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2019. The standard offers different transition options and practical
expedients, including the practical expedient to grandfather the previous
assessment of which existing arrangements are, or contain, leases. If this
practical expedient is chosen, the Group will apply the new definition of
a lease in HKFRS 16 only to contracts that are entered into on or after the
date of initial application. If the practical expedient is not chosen, the Group
will need to reassess all of its decisions about which existing contracts
are, or contain, leases, using the new definition. Depending on whether
the Group elects to adopt the standard retrospectively or follow a modified
retrospective method of recognising a cumulative-effect adjustment to the
opening balance of equity at the date of initial application, the Group may
or may not need to restate comparative information for any changes in

accounting resulting from the reassessment.
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40. COMPANY-LEVEL STATEMENT OF
FINANCIAL POSITION

40. 2 v Jg i v S B IR D

2018 2017
RN\ R4
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
BE ST T#e THETT
Non-current assets I H) A
Investments in subsidiaries B E A F & 304,751 38,561
Prepayments T ERIH 16 48
304,767 38,609
Current assets i)
Prepayments and deposits TEAT I S 4 4 802 5,408
Amounts due from subsidiaries JARE WS o 2 ) I 298,143 64,049
Cash and cash equivalents B4 M 4% EY 18,343 80,868
Tax recoverable ] i [ 6 TE 48 _
317,336 150,325
Current liabilities TiE) A
Accruals JERT 2 10,950 3,284
Contingent consideration payables AR EAT A 59,169 =
Promissory notes payable JREASS 7R 5B % 1,491 -
Amount due to a subsidiary JREASE B o 2 ) I 320 10
Tax payable JEASBLIE - 287
71,930 3,581
Non-current liabilities e B A K
Contingent consideration payables SRS 118,350 -
Promissory notes payable JREASS 7R 50 SR % 9,087 -
Other borrowings HoAt A 3K 5,500 -
Convertible bonds REddres 310,510 =
443,447 -
Net assets B e 106,726 185,353
EQUITY B2
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 72\ 7] B AMEAL 1 45
Share capital B A 29(b) 5,308 5,286
Reserves fit it 29(a) 101,418 180,067
TOTAL EQUITY Rl A 106,726 185,353

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 27 June

MERGR _F—/FEARNA L HAUE

2018. RAZHRESEA -
Chan Yan Tak Lai Wei Lam, William
Bl IEHYTN
Director Director
FH HF
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. NON-ADJUSTING EVENTS AFTER THE

REPORTING PERIOD

Grant of share options

On 20 April 2018 and 26 April 2018, the Company announced to grant
13,000,000 options and 37,000,000 options to certain eligible participants
respectively. The share options granted subsequent to the reporting
period will entitle the eligible participants to subscribe for up to a total
of 50,000,000 new shares of HK$1.15 each in the share capital of the
Company, representing approximately 2.36% of all the shares in issue of the

Company as at the date of issue of these financial statements.

COMPARATIVE FIGURES

Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current

year’s presentation.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY
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RESULTS E 3

2014 2015 2016 2017 2018
SER-E ZR-RE DR NE DB ZFNF
HK$000 ~ HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
Tt Tt Tt R F#T

Revenue & 169,684 227,677 189,958 220,853 264,451
Profit/(loss) before taxation MBI (1) 447 39,915 14,735 15,640 (142,056)
Taxation B (6,180) (8,394) (4,314) (3,817) (2,692)
(Loss)/profit for the year RN (BG1R) i F (5,733) 31,521 10,421 11,823 (144,748)

Profit/(loss) for the year attributable to AN\ Gl #EA AJELS

owners of the Company EREEF (EEE) (5,733) 31,521 10,421 12,746 (139,217)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES & kAR
2014 2015 2016 2017 2018

SER-E ZR-RE DR NE DB 2R\
HK$°000  HK$'000 ~ HK$000  HK$000  HK$’000
Tt Tt Tt R F#x

Total assets A E 186,589 209,743 234,460 266,084 769,778
Total liabilities e (18,458)  (28,830)  (55.080)  (52,460)  (603,043)
Total equity 125 50 168,131 180,913 179380 213,624 166,735
Equity attributable to owners of AN FHER N

the Company HEAHE S 168,131 180,913 179380 212,044 114,791
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